

UNIVERSITY OF IOANNINA SCHOOL OF HEALTH SCIENCES FACULTY OF MEDICINE

SECTOR OF INTERNAL MEDICINE 2ND DEPARTMENT OF CARDIOLOGY

NEWER MARKERS OF METABOLIC AND CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

ELENI DOMOUZOGLOU PAEDIATRICIAN

> DOCTORAL THESIS IOANNINA 2019



ΠΑΝΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΙΟ ΙΩΑΝΝΙΝΩΝ ΣΧΟΛΗ ΕΠΙΣΤΗΜΩΝ ΥΓΕΙΑΣ ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗ ΣΧΟΛΗ

ΠΑΘΟΛΟΓΙΚΟΣ ΤΟΜΕΑΣ Β ΚΑΡΔΙΟΛΟΓΙΚΗ ΚΛΙΝΙΚΗ

ΝΕΟΤΕΡΟΙ ΔΕΙΚΤΕΣ ΜΕΤΑΒΟΛΙΚΩΝ ΚΑΙ ΚΑΡΔΙΑΓΓΕΙΑΚΩΝ ΝΟΣΩΝ

ΕΛΕΝΗ ΔΟΜΟΥΖΟΓΛΟΥ ΠΑΙΔΙΑΤΡΟΣ

ΔΙΔΑΚΤΟΡΙΚΗ ΔΙΑΤΡΙΒΗ ΙΩΑΝΝΙΝΑ 2019

«Η έγκριση της διδακτορικής διατριβής από το Τμήμα Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων δεν υποδηλώνει αποδοχή των γνωμών του συγγραφέα Ν. 5343/32, άρθρο 202, παράγραφος 2 (νομική κατοχύρωση του Ιατρικού Τμήματος) ».

Ημερομηνία αίτησης της κ. Δομουζόγλου Ελένης: 14-12-2011

Ημερομηνία ορισμού Τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής Επιτροπής: 733α/3-4-2012

Μέλη Τριμελούς Συμβουλευτικής Επιτροπής:

Επιβλέπουσα

Νάκα Αικατερίνη, Επίκουρη Καθηγήτρια Καρδιολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων <u>Μέλη</u>

Τσατσούλης Αγαθοκλής, Καθηγητής Παθολογίας-Ενδοκρινολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

Βλάχος Αντώνιος, Λέκτορας Παιδοκαρδιολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων

Ημερομηνία ορισμού θέματος: 15-6-2012

«Νεότεροι δείκτες μεταβολικών και καρδιαγγειακών νόσων»

ΟΡΙΣΜΟΣ ΕΠΤΑΜΕΛΟΥΣ ΕΞΕΤΑΣΤΙΚΗΣ ΕΠΙΤΡΟΠΗΣ 904^α/1-10-2019

Μιχάλης Λάμπρος	Καθηγητής Καρδιολογίας του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του	
anto Sel atar de Constator de Casta	Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	
Τσατσούλης Αγαθοκλής	ομότιμος Καθηγητή Παθολογίας-Ενδοκρινολογίας του	
	Τμήματος Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	
Βλάχος Αντώνιος Κατσούρας Χρήστος Νάκα Αικατερίνη Σιώμου Αικατερίνη	Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής Παιδοκαρδιολογίας του Τμήματος	
	Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	
	Αναπληρωτής Καθηγητής Καρδιολογίας του Τμήματος	
	Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	
	Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια Καρδιολογίας του Τμήματος	
	Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	
	Αναπληρώτρια Καθηγήτρια Παιδιατρικής με έμφαση στην	
	Παιδιατρική Νεφρολογία του Τμήματος Ιατρικής του	
Τίγκας Στυλιανός	Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	
	Επίκουρος Καθηγητής Ενδοκρινολογίας του Τμήματος	
	Ιατρικής του Πανεπιστημίου Ιωαννίνων	

Έγκριση Διδακτορικής Διατριβής με βαθμό «ΑΡΙΣΤΑ» στις 14-10-2019

Ιωάννινα 22-10-2019 ΠΡΟΕΔΡΟΣ ΤΟΥ ΤΜΗΜΑΤΟΣ ΙΑΤΡΙΚΗΣ Άννα Μπατιστάτου Καθηγήτρια Παθολογικής Ανατομίας

NEILITAL Γραμματέας του Τμήματος 101 ΜΑΡΙΑ ΚΑΠΙΤΟΠΟΥΛΟΥ -#78 -

Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents my husband and my two children.

For their lifelong devotion, support, selfless and unlimited presence throughout the duration of my study, training and career accomplishment I need to thank my beloved parents. My husband represented the pioneer of my development after Medical School and for this I am expressing my deepest respect and admiration and my sincere thankfulness. My two children stepped through a process of gaining gradually consciousness on how profoundly they have supported their mother in being a Paediatrician and a PhD. Always patient and thoughtful I owe them the biggest thank of all.

Acknowledgements

I would like to cordially thank my supervisor Professor Katerina K. Naka, 2nd Department of Cardiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ioannina for her support and her mentorship as well as for the financial support in obtaining the materials needed for my Thesis. I would also like to sincerely thank the members of my advisory committee Professor Antonios Vlahos, Department of Paediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ioannina and Professor Agathocles Tsatsoulis, Department of Endocrinology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Ioannina, for their guidance and continuous support. Moreover, I would like to express my acknowledgments to Professor Lampros Michalis, Director of the 2nd Department of Cardiology and Professor Nikolaos Chaliasos, Director of the Department of Paediatrics for the excellent collaboration.

Sincere acknowledgements to Professor Anna Challa, Child Health Laboratory, Faculty of Medicine, for her inspiration, and support and we thank Ms Afroditi Papaghianni for her technical assistance. Dr. Papafaklis Michail has significantly contributed overall in the research and especially with ultrasound techniques training, and for the statistical analysis of the data collected. Acknowledgments to Dr. Aris Bechlioulis and Vasilis Argiris for their contribution in my training and practice acquisition of ultrasound and vascular techniques, flow mediated dilation (FMD), carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT), Pulse Wave Velocity and Arterial Stiffness. I would also like to warmly thank all the Physicians, my colleagues and friends from the Paediatric Department and the colleagues from the Laboratories of the University Hospital of Ioannina and also special thanks to Dr. Chrysoula Kosmeri for her excellent collaboration. Finally, special and sincere acknowledgments to Professor Eleftheria Maratos-Flier, who introduced me to the molecule FGF21 through the exciting experience of working in her laboratory as a research fellow in the Department of Endocrinology at Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center, Harvard Medical School, from 2009 until 2012.

The research was supported by a scholarship to Eleni Domouzoglou from the Onassis Foundation.

Preface

The present research is structured to detect metabolic disorders and cardiovascular risk early in life, specifically in the children. More and more evidence is showing how crucial is the development of new tools in the disposition of scientists and medical practitioners that would enable them to prevent the progress of these disorders and predict their presentation from their initial stages. The aim of the study was to identify molecules that could be easily quantified in the serum of paediatric population, and that meet the criteria for constituting biomarkers of early cardiovascular signs. These signs were explored in our study, by non-invasive methods, using ultrasound techniques, easily applied to a routine visit at the medical practitioner's office. We have shown for the first time, to our knowledge, that there are such molecules and they could be used for population screening and eventually for follow up, starting early in life, in childhood.



Table of Contents

PART ONE – BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW	7
Chapter 1: Obesity in Childhood	7
1.1. Definition	7
1.2. Epidemiology of Obesity	11
1.3. Health impact of Obesity	14
Chapter 2: Metabolic Syndrome in Childhood	17
2.1. Definition of the Metabolic Syndrome in Childhood	17
2.2. Epidemiological Data	21
2.3. Known Health Implications of the MS	23
Chapter 3: Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)	27
3.1. Definition of Cardiovascular Disease	27
3.2. Epidemiology of CVD	29
3.3. Prevention Strategies	30
Chapter 4: Newer Biomarkers of Metabolic Disorders	31
4.1. Leptin	31
4.2. Adiponectin	32
4.3. Insulin-like Growth Factor-binding Protein 1 (IGFBP1)	34
Chapter 5: Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 (FGF21)	35
5.1. FGF21 Expression	35
5.2. FGF21 Regulation	37
5.2.1. Regulation of FGF21 by Nutrition State	37
5.2.1.1. Food Deprivation	37
5.2.1.2. Body Mass Index (BMI) States - Nutritional State and Diets	38
5.2.2. Regulation of FGF21 in Different Metabolic Disorders	43
5.2.2.1. Metabolic Syndrome	43
5.2.2.2. Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) and Non-alcoholic	
Steatohepatitis (NASH)	43
5.2.2.3. Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)	44
5.2.3. Other Conditions that Regulate the Expression of FGF21	45
5.2.3.1. Regulation of FGF21 in States of Stress	45

5.2.3.2. Regulation of FGF21 in Diseases 4	47
5.2.3. Regulation of FGF21 in Children 4	49
5.3. FGF21 Actions 5	51
5.3.1. Effects on Glucose and Lipid Homeostasis in Humans and in Mice 5	51
5.3.2. Obesity Reversal in Animals and Humans by FGF215	53
5.3.3. Endothelial Protection by FGF215	54
5.3.4. Effects of FGF21 on Central Nervous System- Brain	55
5.3.5. Effects of FGF21 on Bone Metabolism5	55
5.4. Possible Administration in Humans- Clinical Trials	57
Chapter 6: Markers of Endothelial Dysfunction Applied in the Diagnosis of CVD	59
6.1. Flow-mediated Dilation (FMD)5	59
6.1.1. FMD Definition and Regulation in Adults' Metabolic and CVD 5	59
6.1.2. FMD in children	61
6.2. Carotid Intima-media Thickness (cIMT)6	63
6.3. Other Markers of Endothelial Dysfunction6	64
6.3.1. Pulse Wave Velocity (PWV)6	64
6.3.2. Augmentation Index	55
PART TWO – ORIGINAL RESEARCH 6	67
Chapter 7: Aim of the Study	67
Chapter 8: Population and Methods	69
8.1. Population and Study Protocol	69
8.2. Methods and Statistical Analysis	70
8.3. Results	74
8.3.1. Descriptives	74
8.3.2. Glucose and Lipid Profile	75
8.3.3. Biochemical Function and Serum Biomarkers	76
Chapter 9: Gender Differences	79
9.1. Descriptives by Gender	79
9.2. Assessment of BMI Category by Gender	80
9.3. BMI by Age and Gender	81

9.4. Obesity by Gender	82
Chapter 10: BMI Differences: Obese/overweight vs. Normal BMI Children	83
10.1. Assessment of Paediatric Population Based on BMI	83
10.2 Endothelial Function in Obese/overweight vs. Normal BMI Children	90
Chapter 11: Metabolic Health Assessment	91
11.1. Definition and Descriptives	91
11.2. Results	93
Chapter 12: Metabolic Syndrome in Children	105
12.1 Definition	105
12.2. Results	106
Chapter 13: Correlations Among Biomarkers and FMD	111
13.1. Definitions	111
13.2. Results	112
Chapter 14: Diagnostic Value of FGF21 and Leptin for Metabolic Syndrome	115
Chapter 15: Discussion	117
15.1. Discussion on Population Descriptives and Gender Differences	117
15.2. Discussion on Obesity Assessment	118
15.3. Discussion on the Metabolic Health Assessment	120
15.3.1. Normal BMI Population; Metabolically Healthy and Unhealthy	120
15.3.2. Obese Population; Metabolically Healthy and Unhealthy	121
15.3.3. Normal BMI Metabolically Healthy (NMH) Compared to Obese	
Metabolically Unhealthy (OMU)	122
15.3.4. Normal BMI Metabolically Healthy (NMH) Compared to Obese	
Metabolically Healthy (OMH)	123
15.3.5. Normal BMI Metabolically Unhealthy (NMU) Compared to Obese	
Metabolically Unhealthy (OMU)	123
15.3.6. Normal BMI Metabolically Unhealthy (NMU) Compared To Obese	
Metabolically Healhty (OMH)	124
15.4. Discussion on the Classification Based on Metabolic Syndrome Results	124
Chapter 16: Limitations	129
Chapter 17: Conclusions	131

Abstract in English Language	133
Abstract in Greek Language	137
List of Abbreviations	141
References	145

PART ONE – BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Chapter 1.Obesity in Childhood

1.1 Definition

Obesity is defined as abnormal or excessive fat accumulation that may impair health state. Its aetiopathogenesis resides in various factors such as the demographic parameters, lifestyle and dietary routine (1). Higher parental education and socioeconomic position of the family are protective factors (2, 3). Maternal age and parental body mass index (BMI), when not optimal, have increased probabilities to negatively influence the offspring (2, 4, 5). Body fat deposition and distribution is also genetically determined. This is outlined in studies of twins indicating a potential relationship between genetic determinants and dietary choices as well as energy expenditure (6). Genome association studies have provided evidence of existing singlenucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) associated with body fat distribution and possibly interfere with satiety responsiveness in childhood (7-9). Lifestyle is highly influencing energy expenditure; this results in being depressed in children who occupy most daily time in sedentary activities, such as television watching, personal computer and electronic game playing, leading to increased body weight. This is not only related to lower activity but also related to increased food consuming during these activities (10, 11). Dietary routine is important in shaping a growing organism. Specifically, it has been shown that lack of daily breakfast consuming may lead to increased body weight in childhood. Cereal consuming as a breakfast meal is related to lower possibilities to increased weight (12, 13). Healthier food consuming has a clear positive effect on child growth and determines body parameters; in most cases it is related to daily family habits and participation in creating and maintaining a healthy family diet.

Internationally acceptable definition for child overweight and obesity has been a durative process, requiring the definition of normal-healthy weight and the creation of growth charts, multiple times revised in order to apply to paediatric populations worldwide.

In 1977 the National Center for Health Statistics (NCHS) released reference charts that were revised by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) in 2000 and the World Health Organization (WHO in 2006 (14-16). Rigorously standardized methods were designed, especially for newborns and infants with detailed information on meals, and regular weighing processes. WHO used data from Multicentre Growth Reference Study (MRGS) to follow different ages of childhood and used an exclusively breast-fed population in early infancy. CDC included data partially from infants that were exclusively breast-fed and only for a few months, while infants that were partially breast-fed were also included. Consequently, charts for older children, school aged and adolescents were released by the international organisms, focusing on methods that would apply to a broader population around the world and including data from different countries (17).

To establish standard definition for child overweight and obesity, an international survey of six cross-sectional growth studies was developed in May 2000 with participation from the International Obesity Task Force, the National Center for Health Statistics in London and the CDC (18). In this study, a total of 97,876 males and 94,851 females participated from birth to 25 years of age, with different nationality coming from Brazil, Great Britain, Hong Kong, the Netherlands, Singapore, and the United States. BMI was found to be the most appropriate index to define age and sex specific cut off points for overweight and obese children at ages 2 to 18 years old. To achieve this definition, centile curves for age specific body mass index were constructed using the LMS method and these curves were designed, based on the adult cut off limits for overweight and obese, to pass respectively through BMI of 25 and 30kg/m² at age 18 (18, 19). The cut off limits were chosen based on the related knowledge on morbidity in adults and the corresponding morbidity in earlier stages of life and in childhood (20, 21).

BMI is not a direct measure of body fat, but it is a valid screening tool for a growing organism, as a child, due to the modality of its calculation through a ratio expressed by the consequent formula (22-24):

$$BMI = \frac{(weight in kilograms)}{height in meters^2}$$

The centile curves offer the possibility to register the BMI in specific age and sex related charts comparable within a similar population. The centile curves are defined by the consequent formula:

$$M(1+LSz)^{1/L}$$

L, M and S are values of the curves at each age and z indicates the z score for each specific centile (25).

The body mass index can be converted to z score from the L, M, S values at a specific age with the consequent formula:

$$Z = \frac{\left[\frac{BMI}{M}\right]^L - 1}{LS}$$

The Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline was published in January 2017 were specific instructions were included for diagnosing overweight and obese in childhood (26). The use BMI and the CDC normative BMI percentiles to diagnose overweight or obesity in children and adolescents above 2 years of age have been recommended (26). Child or adolescent above 2 years of age should be diagnosed as overweight if the BMI is \geq 85th but <95th percentile for age and sex, should be diagnosed as obese if the BMI is \geq 95th percentile, and as extremely obese if the BMI is \geq 120% of the 95th percentile or \geq 35 kg/m². Calculating, plotting, and reviewing a child's and an adolescent's BMI

percentile at least annually during well-child and/or sick-child visits was suggested (26). Children <2 years of age have been suggested to be diagnosed as obese if the sex-specific weight for recumbent length is $\geq 97.7^{\text{th}}$ percentile on the WHO charts, and the US and international pediatric groups accept this method as valid for this specific age group of children (26).

However, national data best reflect the local population and in our country, the Greek paediatric population is expressed through growth charts released by the 1st Department of Paediatrics of the University of Athens, in 2003. Five thousand boys and 5,000 girls, from birth to 18 years old, were recruited from the broader Attica area (27).

1.2 Epidemiology of Obesity

In the last fifty years, childhood obesity has increased dramatically, mostly in economically developed countries. Available information from worldwide research confirms the ongoing epidemic of obesity as well as the harming effects on health and development (28).

The latest update is provided by the Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) on 2017, with descriptive charts from national health surveys, from participating countries all around the world, offering a global view of the ongoing epidemic of obesity in adult and paediatric population. Nearly, 1 in 6 children is overweight-obese based on the reported data.



Figure 1 Self-reported overweight (including obesity) in children aged 15 years. Reproduced from (29).

It is notable that up to 2014, Greece was positioned very high in this chart, showing a 21.5% of self-reported overweight (including obesity) children aged 15 years, ranking in the third position following the United States of America and Canada (**Figure 1**). These results are consistent during the last decade as it can be noticed that Greece is proportionally high and overall in the third

position. There is an approximate 5% increase in the documented data for Greece during the last decade; this also stands out in the highest rates reported in comparison to the rest of the countries participating. Denmark stands in the lowest position in this chart.

Apparently, sex difference in obesity is inverted in childhood in comparison to adulthood and it can be noticed that boys tend to show higher rates of overweight-obese than girls, while this trend is inversed in adulthood, with women showing higher weight rates in comparison to men (**Figure 2**). This difference in adulthood is proposed to be related to the educational level (**Figure 3**) (29).



Figure 2 Obesity in children aged 3-17 years from 1999 to 2015. Reproduced from (29).



Figure 3. Education-related inequality in overweight. Reproduced from (29).

In 2018 the European Commission of OECD published the State of Health in the EU Cycle where the preliminary data by WHO is included. This data shows that nearly one in eight children aged 7-8 years are obese in EU countries (30). Within the most afflicted countries is Greece, ranking on top of the classification, side by side with Cyprus, Italy, Malta and Spain. Lowest rates of obesity in Europe in children aged 7-8 are reported for Czech Republic, Denmark, France, Ireland and Latvia. Notably, the rates of obesity among children of this age are lower in comparison to earlier years in Greece and other countries such as Italy and Portugal, but they are remaining at the top end of the classification charts. Consistently, boys are showing higher rates of obesity in comparison to girls and specifically for age 7-8 years old, 14% of the male population is obese while 10% of the same age female population is obese (30, 31).

1.3 Health Impact of Obesity

Overweight and obesity in childhood is associated with several comorbidities (32). Children with obesity have increased risk in developing hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance and Type II diabetes mellitus (T2DM) (33). Adolescents who present T2DM are more likely to proceed in early adulthood in dyslipidemia, hypertension and cardiovascular disease (34-37). There is strong evidence that non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is associated with obesity in childhood (38). In studies of children with NAFLD diagnosed by biochemical or imaging indicators, when dietary and lifestyle measures were applied for a year they were proved to be efficacious and lead to valid remission of findings related to the disease (39). A recent study has shown that children and adolescents with biopsy proven NAFLD present higher prevalence of pre-diabetes or T2DM (40).

Respiratory tissue may also be affected by obesity in childhood with presence of obstructive sleep apnea episodes (OSA). The prevalence of OSA increases proportionally with increase in BMI (41, 42). Asthma is also shown to be frequently associated with increased BMI while lifestyle interventions applied to decrease body weight and diminish BMI result to be protective in terms of developing asthma in childhood (43).

In females, obesity may be associated with earlier skeletal maturation with greater risk in developing hyperandrogenism and polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) (44-46). Increased body weight is also associated with musculoskeletal disorders, including increased risk for fractures involving the physis, joint pain, slipped capital femoral epiphysis and Blount's disease (47). Some malignancies, endometrial, ovarian, breast, prostate, liver, gallbladder, kidney and colon, are also shown to be related to obesity and they could present in earlier stages of life and in adolescence. In a recent study, it was shown that physical activity, that also aims to an optimal weight control, when initiated in early stages of childhood and continued throughout lifetime, may lower the risk of developing breast, colon and endometrial cancer (48, 49). Psychosocial distress, due to impaired quality of life, is frequently observed in children with obesity (1, 50-52). This disorder includes poor self-esteem (53), increased risk of depression and anxiety and higher-than-average risk of eating disorders and substance abuse (54-56). There is evidence that children who are heavier than their same age children have more probabilities in being teased and bullied in comparison to their thinner peers (57).



Figure 4. Comorbidities observed in children and adolescents with obesity. Reproduced from (32) with permissions from John Wiley and Sons.



Chapter 2. Metabolic Syndrome in childhood

2.1 Definition of the Metabolic Syndrome in Childhood

The metabolic syndrome (MS) is a constellation of different components participating in the development of cardiovascular disease. Historically, Gerald Reaven in 1988 was the first to define the increased risk in developing diabetes and cardiovascular disease in the presence of increased serum insulin and insulin resistance by assigning the name of Syndrome X (58-60). Later on, more risk factors were included in a revised definition, with central obesity, microalbuminuria, altered fibrinolysis and inflammation, in an effort to better describe cardiovascular risk and the syndrome was renamed as the MS (61-63). Revisions and many series of studies on the MS led the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) and the Adult Treatment Panel III (ATP III) in 2001, to release guidelines in which it was specified that MS should include 5 risk factors and if anyone presented at least 3 out of those 5, would be at an increased risk for developing (64-66). 5 risk factors cardiovascular disease The were hyperglycemia, hypertriglyceridemia, central adiposity, elevated blood pressure, and low high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

In children, there is no consistency in the definition of the MS as 3 different definitions have been proposed in the past and it is has not yet been agreed whether one of them is superior from the other in better providing risk prediction. In adults, it has been shown that when MS criteria are met, the hazard ratio for coronary heart disease mortality is 2.87 without presence of diabetes mellitus and 5.02 when diabetes mellitus is also present (67). In 2008, data from the Princeton Prevalence Study (1973-1976) and the Princeton Follow-up Study (2000-2004) were assessed and the results indicated that the pediatric population including children aged 5 to 19 years old may be screened for MS and family history for (T2DM) and identify those with increased risk of adult MS, T2DM and cardiovascular disease (68, 69). In 2003, the ATP III criteria for the pediatric MS defined MS as a constellation of metabolic derangements associated with obesity, and were published by modifying the adult criteria to the closest representative

values obtainable from pediatric reference values from the NCEP, the American Diabetes Association statement on T2DM in children and adolescents, and the Task Force report on the diagnosis and management of hypertension in childhood as well as ATP III (70). Due to lack of normal values for waist circumference, available values for waist circumference from the included population were assessed and classified. A waist circumference at or above the 90th percentile for age and sex would determine the classification of abdominal obesity. The results from this study also underlined that there may be children and adolescents that would not be obese but overweight and yet meet criteria for the MS which would be further alarming as for the importance of detecting more a cluster of risk factors more or less independent from each other and from obesity, that would underline the increased danger for cardiovascular risk (70).

In 2004, the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES III) released criteria for the definition of the pediatric MS by using risk factors analogous to ATP III definition for MS for adults based on data from US children from 12 to 19 years old (71). For waist circumference, percentiles comparable to the adult male cut-off point of the 70th percentile were used, and Blood Institute's recommended cut-off point of >90th percentile for age, gender, and height for the definition of normal pediatric blood pressure was also included (72, 73). The cut-off point criteria were chosen based on the ATP III adult MS definition with the perspective to be more inclusive and representative for the adolescent population (71).

There is clear preference in the usage of central obesity for the definition of the MS rather than the calculation of overweight/obese by BMI. This is based on the pathophysiology underlying MS although it is not completely understood whether obesity or insulin resistance appears first. However, it is clear that the MS describes a cluster of parameters with insulin resistance and "adiposopathy", adipose tissue dysfunction, as hallmarks that consequently trigger inflammation and cardiovascular tissue damage (74). Central obesity expresses the increased accumulation of visceral fat and it differentiates from the subcutaneous fat, as described in the broad obesity definition. In visceral obesity, there is hypertrophy of visceral tissue that becomes less responsive to insulin with inability of lipolysis suppression and this creates a viscous cycle (75). Waist circumference (WC) is a validated measurement of adult and child

central obesity (76, 77). There is evidence that in children, WC is an independent predictor of insulin resistance, lipid levels and blood pressure and that WC better predicts cardiovascular disease risk factors as compared to BMI (78-80).

There are several concerns on the presence of instability of the MS throughout childhood and especially for the adolescents who represent a highly heterogeneous group with multiple hormonal and growth parameters acting during this specific age window. By studying pre-pubertal and pubertal children via hyperinsulinemiceuglycemic clamp, decreased insulin sensitivity has been shown during puberty (81). Accordingly in 2007, the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) released a definition for the MS that requires central obesity plus at least two of the other listed abnormalities and recommends that this definition is applied to children from 10 to 16 years old, excluding from the definition those less than 10 years of age in whom MS could not be defined, and the adolescents (82). IDF confirms and underlines the lack of consistency in the available data regarding the cut-off points for the various MS components in childhood. IDF supports the promotion of research in the field focusing on developing ethnic-specific centiles for WC, initiate multicenter long-term studies that would follow child cohorts into adulthood in order to understand the persistence of MS throughout the aging process and determine the effectiveness of interventions. IDF supports also the design of studies that may detect MS predictors (82).

In 2017 the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) suggests shifting the concern from defining the MS in children to identifying a cluster of risk factors that predict increased cardiovascular risk as early as in childhood, allowing thus early detection of high risk population and early intervention (74). For that purpose, a series of recommendations for screening are suggested, including annual screen for obesity, glucose disorders, increased blood pressure, and dyslipidemia as well as augmenting awareness of comorbidities such as NAFLD, mental health disorders, PCOS, and OSA (74). Recommendations to treat obesity were also made based on the consensus of American Heart Association and the American Diabetes Association and on an annual screen basis. When children present a BMI greater than 95th percentile, they should be referred to a comprehensive weight-management program (83, 84). Similarly, all children should be screened annually for elevated blood pressure and children aged 9 to 11 years should

be tested for lipid profile, specifically to identify metabolic disorders of genetically determined dyslipidemias (83). Table 1 resumes the three definitions of MS for children (74).

Pediatric Definitions of MS					
	Cook et al (70)	De Ferranti et al	Zimmet et al (82) (IDF		
		(71)	Definition Ages 10-16)		
Defining Criterion	≥3 criteria	≥3 criteria	Central obesity and at least 2		
			of remaining 4 criteria		
Central Obesity	WC≥90 th percentile	WC>75 th percentile	WC≥90 th percentile or adult		
	(age and sex specific.		cut off if lower		
	NHANES III)				
Glucose intolerance	Fasting glucose	Fasting glucose \geq	Fasting glucose \geq 100mg/dl		
	$\geq 110 mg/dl$	110mg/dl	or known type 2 diabetes		
			mellitus		
Dyslipidemia (TRGL)	$TRGL \ge \!\! 110mg\!/dl$	TRGL≥100mg/dl	TRGL≥150mg/dl		
Dyslipidemia (HDL-C)	HDL-C≤40mg/dl (all	HDL-C≤50mg/dl	HDL-C<40 g/dl		
	age and sexes NCEP)				
High BP	BP ≥ 90 th percentile	BP>90 th percentile	Systolic BP>130mmHg or		
	(age, sex and height		diastolic BP>85mmHg or		
	specific)		treatment of previously		
			diagnosed hypertension		

Table 1. Comparison of key published MS definitions for paediatric populations

MS, metabolic syndrome; WC, waist circumference; TRGL, triglycerides; HDL-C, highdensity l lipoprotein cholesterol; BP, blood pressure

2.2 Epidemiological Data

Due to the lack of unanimous MS definition especially for childhood, there is variability on the reporting prevalence based on the specific criteria used. Using the definitions for MS from the NCEP ATPIII and WHO in a school based cross-sectional study of 1,513 adolescents, the prevalence of MS defined by NCEP was 4.2% and the prevalence defined by WHO 8.4%. In this study, MS was almost exclusively diagnosed among the obese children and within the obese population of this study the prevalence of MS was 19.5% for the NCEP definition and 38.9% for the WHO definition of MS. Therefore, obesity was described as a powerful risk for MS. Using the WHO definition criteria the girls are found more commonly with MS (85).

In 2004, the Yale University School of Medicine examined the effect of varying degrees of obesity on the prevalence of the MS and its relation to insulin resistance. In this study, it was reported that the prevalence of the MS increased with the severity of obesity, reaching 50% at severe obesity levels (BMI 40.6 kg/m²) and with increasing insulin resistance. It was also reported that at this age various biomarkers of increased cardiovascular risk were also present, such as high levels of C reactive protein (CRP) and low levels of adiponectin (86).

Although both obesity and insulin resistance are factors included in the definition criteria, it is not defined whether they are independently necessary for the definition of the MS. The most accepted mechanism underlying the pathogenesis of the MS is built on insulin resistance. However, it is also known that not all individuals with insulin resistance develop MS, and non all individuals with insulin resistance are obese. Therefore it is under specific circumstances and in specific conditions such as the presence of cofactors that the MS is developed (87-89).

Available cross-sectional data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (1988-1994) in a population of 12 to 19 years old were analyzed using the NCEP (ATPIII) definition criteria modified for age for the MS. Based on this analysis in 2003, it was reported that the overall prevalence of the MS among adolescents was 4.2%. Specific for gender prevalence for MS was measured and found to be 6.1% for males and 2.1% for females. Based on BMI percentiles, it was found that

for BMI greater or equal to 95^{th} percentile the MS was present in a percentage of 28.7, whereas in children with BMI corresponding to a percentile between the 85^{th} and the 97^{th} the percentage of children with MS was 6.8 and lastly for BMI percentile below the 85^{th} the percentage of MS was as low as 0.1 % (70). Data from the NHANES 1999-2000 using 4 different definitions of the MS on adolescents 12 to 19 years old, showed that the prevalence of MS varied from just >9% to as low as 2% of adolescents overall. Different definitions of MS generated prevalence rates in obese adolescents that varied widely from 12% to 44% (90). However, regardless of the definition used, the prevalence of the MS is higher in older compared with younger children (83, 90).

In adults, a representation of the prevalence worldwide is shown in Figure 5 (87, 91).



Figure 5. Prevalence of the MS. Reproduced from (87) with permissions from Elsevier.
2.3 Known Health Implications of the MS

The MS is more a tool to identify increased cardiovascular risk than a direct cause of disease. However, several known health conditions are linked to it. The major two health disorders related to MS are T2DM and cardiovascular disease (CVD).

In adults, a study from Finland in 2002, reported the association of the MS with cardiovascular and overall mortality. They showed that CVD and all-cause mortality are increased in men with the MS, even in the absence of baseline cardiovascular disease and diabetes (92). In 2003, a different study in U.S adults, over 50 years old, the NCEP criteria for MS were used to categorize by presence of MS in adults with or without diabetes. The prevalence of CVD markedly increased with the presence of MS. People with both diabetes and MS had the greatest prevalence of cardiovascular disease. People with diabetes had very high prevalence of MS (93). Further confirmation of the association of MS with cardiovascular disease, and specifically with myocardial infarction and stroke, in both male and female gender, is added by a study in 2004, by applying the NCEP-ATP III criteria at NHANES III subjects and a recent study adds the increased risk for cardiovascular disease mortality (94, 95). Diabetes is the other entity closely linked to MS and a recent study in Singapore has developed a MS severity score to detect individuals at high risk of diabetes (96).

Even though the available knowledge of the impact of childhood MS on CVD is limited, great effort has been made in determining and exploring better this relation. In 2011, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute (NHLBI) and its expert panel published the integrated guidelines for cardiovascular health and risk reduction in children and adolescents where MS constitutes one of the evaluated risk factors (83). It is stated by the NHLBI that atherosclerosis begins in youth and it is consolidated by the presence of, and action of the known risk factors namely, family history, nutrition/diet, physical inactivity, tobacco exposure, blood pressure, lipid levels, overweight/obesity, diabetes mellitus and the MS.

Big studies of child autopsy offer evidence that there is early in life risk for atherosclerosis. The Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) study examined 2,876 subjects from 15 to 43 years old who died of external causes and undergone autopsy. In this study it is reported that intimal lesions, fatty streaks and

clinically significant raised lesions, begin in youth (97). The Bogalusa Heart Study reports on autopsies made on 204 young persons aged from 2 to 39 years who had died from various causes, principally trauma, and includes analysis on existing ante-mortem risk factors in 93 of them. Consistently with the PDAY study, the Bogalusa Heart Study confirms existence of asymptomatic coronary and aortic atherosclerosis in young people and further on specifies that as the number of cardiovascular risk factors increases, so does the severity of atherosclerotic lesions (98). Data from the NHLBI Lipid Research Clinics Princeton Prevalence Study (1973-1976) and the Princeton Follow-up Study (2000-2004) were used to assess the association of MS in childhood with adult CVD 25 years later. In this study, it was reported that pediatric MS and age at follow-up assessment were significant predictors of CVD (69). Further on, using the same data resource it was shown that pediatric MS, age at follow-up, black race, and parental diabetes were significant predictors of T2DM (68). Using data from the NHANES 1999-2002, in adolescents and adults, it was shown that low cardiorespiratory fitness, a possible precursor of CVD, is associated with all the factors of the MS (99). All of this knowledge led the NHLBI to release specific timetable for assessing each cardiovascular risk factor in childhood, all definition criteria of the MS are included in the health schedule (83).

In a Hispanic population, MS was defined using the NHANES III protocol in 126 overweight children 8 to 13 years old, with family history of T2DM. Oral glucose tolerance tests were performed to evaluate the presence of insulin resistance. In this population, increased risk for CVD and T2DM was reported, due to the presence of insulin insensitivity. Importantly, it was also shown that insulin sensitivity significantly decreased (P < 0.001) as the number of features of the MS increased (100).

Other conditions such as PCOS and OSA may relate to MS indirectly through their connection to obesity however, more studies need to be performed in order to prove whether direct connection of these conditions with MS exists.

The AAP in the 2017 statement, supports that the mechanism underlying the MS is insulin resistance that in turn relates to obesity (74). A schematic proposed mechanism is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6. Proposed mechanism for the clustering of MS traits and the increased risk of T2DM in CVD. Reproduced from (74) with permissions from the American Academy of Pediatrics.

CRP, C-reactive protein; FFA, free fatty acids; IL-6, interleukin 6; LDL-C, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol; PAI-1, plasminogen activator inhibitor 1; TNF α , tumor necrosis factor α .

In normal conditions, insulin secretion begins at the level of pancreatic β cell; the hepatic insulin receptor is reached by the portal system where insulin induces two main gene transcriptions. The first action promoted by insulin in the liver is the phosphorylation of forkhead box protein O1 (FoxO1), which prevents it from entering the nucleus and thus diminishes the expression of genes required for gluconeogenesis leading to decreased glucose production (101). The other insulin action at the hepatic level is the activation of the transcription factor sterol regulatory element- binding protein (SREBP)-1c, which leads to fatty acid and triglyceride (TRG) biosynthesis and de novo lipogenesis (102). The triglycerides produced by this process are incorporated to apo-lipoprotein B (apoB) into very low-density lipoproteins (VLDL) and they are transported to peripheral tissues, endothelial cells, adipose or muscle tissues (103, 104). In the resistant state, insulin hepatic action is shifted from glucose suppression to increased free fatty acid (FFA) production. The increased production of FFA leads to dyslipidemia and ectopic adipose deposition from which the rest of the MS factors derive (74, 75).

Chapter 3: Cardiovascular Disease (CVD)

3.1 Definition of Cardiovascular Disease

CVD is the most common cause of mortality worldwide and not only in the rich countries, as evidenced recently by a rising incidence of CVD in the low-resource countries as well (105-107). The term CVD includes different conditions affecting the heart and blood vessels. The hallmark of these conditions is atherosclerosis, the build-up of fatty deposits inside the arteries, accompanied by increased inflammation and risk of blood clots (108). CVD includes damage to arteries and organs such as the brain, the heart, the kidneys and the eyes. The four main different clinical manifestations of CVD are coronary heart disease, strokes and transient ischaemic attack (TIAs), peripheral arterial disease and aortic disease.

Coronary heart disease occurs when the flow of oxygen-rich blood to the heart muscle is blocked or reduced. This condition increases the heart work and the strain effort and can lead to chest pain caused by restricted blood flow to the heart muscle (angina), or sudden block to the heart muscle blood flow (myocardial infarction or heart attack) and finally heart failure when the heart is not able to pump blood to the body in terms of maintaining normal vital organ function (108).

Strokes and TIAs represent a category of disorders where brain blood supply is permanently or transiently compromised, respectively (108).

Peripheral arterial disease is the blood flow compromise in the arteries that supply the limbs, more frequently the lower limbs (108).

Aortic disease afflicts the largest blood vessel in the human body, aorta, which supplies with blood the whole body and can be life threatening with uncontrolled bleeding in cases of ruptured or dissected aortic aneurysms (108).

The causes of CVD are multiple and include high blood pressure, high cholesterol, diabetes mellitus, overweight/obesity state, family history of CVD, ethnicity, lifestyle and mainly smoking, increased alcohol intake, unhealthy diet habits, physical inactivity, age over 50 and male gender.

Coronary heart disease is a chronic disease that indeed starts in childhood, even if the symptoms first occur in the middle age. Obesity is both an independent risk factor for CVD but is also closely related to several other risk factors.

3.2 Epidemiology of CVD

The global number of deaths from CVD has increased during the past decade by 12.5%; this may partially be explained by the increase of aging populations mostly in South and East Asia (109). CVD is responsible for approximately one third of all deaths worldwide. Importantly, age-specific death rates have actually fallen by 15.6% between 2005 and 2015 although recent data suggest that this rate of decline has been slowing and occurring most frequently in the higher income countries (110, 111).

A detailed analysis of the 10 predominant risk factors for myocardial infarction and stroke, that account for the 90% of the population attributable risk, is shown in Table 2.

	Myocardial Infarction			Stroke		
	Rank	Odds Ratio	PAR	Rank	Odds Ratio	PAR
ApoB/ApoA1 ratio	1	3.25	49.2	3	1.84	26.8
Smoking	2	2.87	35.7	7	1.67	12.4
Psychosocial factors*	3	2.67	32.5	6	2.20	17.4
Abdominal obesity	4	1.62	20.1	5	1.44	18.6
Self-report of hypertension	5	1.91	17.9	1	2.98	47.9
Healthy diet†	6	0.70	13.7	4	0.60	23.2
Physical activity	7	0.86	12.2	2	0.60	35.8
Self-report of diabetes mellitus	8	2.37	9.9	10	1.16	3.9
Regular alcohol consumption	9	0.91	6.7	9	2.09	5.8
Cardiac causes	NA	NA	NA	8	3.17	9.9

Table 2. Predominant Risk Factors for Myocardial Infarction and Stroke Based on the INTERHEART and INTERSTROKE Studies. Reproduced from (112) with permissions from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.

Apo indicates apolipoprotein; NA, not applicable; and PAR, population attributable risk.

*Only partly confirmed in prospective studies.

†Dietary measure in INTERHEART was daily fruit and vegetable consumption and in INTERSTROKE was measured using the modified Alternative Healthy Eating Index.

3.3 Prevention Strategies

The global action plan encompasses 9 global targets aimed at non-communicable diseases and risk factor control (112). The prevention and reduction of CVD burden is a primary target for the future worldwide. The 9 global targets are the following:

- 1. 25% relative reduction in the overall mortality from CVD, cancer, diabetes mellitus, or chronic respiratory diseases
- 2. At least 10% relative reduction in the harmful use of alcohol, as appropriate, within the national context
- 3. A 10% relative reduction in prevalence of insufficient physical activity
- 4. A 30% relative reduction in mean population intake of salt/sodium
- A 30% relative reduction in prevalence of current tobacco use in persons aged 15+ y
- 6. A 25% relative reduction in the prevalence of raised blood pressure or contain the prevalence of raised blood pressure, according to national circumstances
- 7. Halt the rise in diabetes mellitus and obesity
- 8. Receive drug therapy and counseling (including glycemic control) to prevent heart attacks and strokes
- 9. An 80% availability of the affordable basic technologies and essential medicines in both public and private facilities.

The 9 global targets as released by the Global Action Plan clearly state the necessity of halting obesity and also address the consideration of acting in early ages and in adolescents.

Chapter 4: Newer Biomarkers of Metabolic Disorders

4.1 Leptin

Satiety and appetite are mainly regulated by the two hormones leptin and ghrelin (113). Ghrelin is a 28-amino acid lipophilic peptide initially found to be expressed in specialized enterochromaffin cells located in the mucosa of the stomach fundus (114). Ghrelin in an orexigenic hormone, secreted by the stomach, stimulates hunger, and also promotes carbohydrate metabolism while decreases lipid metabolism. This molecule also increases gastric secretion and it is shown in humans to reach peak levels before each meal and fall to lower levels immediately after meal consumption (114-116). Leptin is a 146 amino acids glycosylated protein produced predominantly by adipose tissue, although low levels of expression were also detected in the hypothalamus, pituitary, placenta, skeletal muscle, and gastric and mammary epithelia (117, 118). Conversely to ghrelin, leptin is anorexigenic, thus responsible for the regulation and modulation of satiety (119). Leptin levels in the circulation are increased proportionally to fat mass, and represents a mediator of signals from periphery to the hypothalamus regarding the amount of energy stored in adipose tissue, suppressing appetite and affecting energy expenditure (119). However, even though leptin was shown to be effective in decreasing weight end restoring energy homeostasis when administered in leptin deficient obese children, it failed to reproduce these effects and this is possibly explained by an existing phenomenon of resistance to this hormone (120-123).

Leptin shares common actions with insulin through signaling in the arcuate nucleus of hypothalamus promoting reduction of food intake and decrease in body weight (124, 125). The two hormones differentiate at level of secreting source, pancreas secrets insulin and adipose tissue secrets leptin. The two hormones link central regulation to different periphery signals. Due to this different producing source, insulin receives stimuli directly from meals that promote its secretion whereas leptin is not directly regulated by food intake, however persistent hyperinsulinemia may up-regulate leptin circulating levels.

4.2 Adiponectin

Adiponectin is a 244-amino acid protein expressed and secreted from white adipose tissue and it is an insulin-sensitizing hormone acting by increasing tissue fat oxidation which in turn reduces circulating fatty acid levels and intracellular triglyceride contents in liver and muscle (126). The circulating blood levels of adiponectin have been reported to be negatively regulated in states of obesity and T2DM (126). Adiponectin also acts on vascular endothelial cells by down-regulating the expression of adhesion molecules and cytokine production from macrophages, thus inhibiting the inflammatory processes that occur during the early phases of atherosclerosis (127). In adults, adiponectin was shown to be negatively correlated with body weight, body fat mass and insulin levels and it was proposed to be a marker of MS and cardiovascular risk as assessed by cIMT in young adults (127, 128).

In childhood obesity, the serum levels of adiponectin are only slightly down-regulated, with significant decrease described only in extreme obesity for this age group (129). In children, adiponectin serum levels have also been reported to be inversely correlated with anthropometric parameters of obesity and insulin resistance and positively correlated with HDL cholesterol levels. In the same study, signs for early endothelial damages were assessed by FMD and cIMT and no relationship was found between those vascular indices and adiponectin (130).

Figure 7 describes the known neurohormonal mechanisms that mediate cross-talk between brain and periphery in order to control food intake (131). The role of adiponectine and leptin mediating signals from periphery in to the central nervous system may be observed. Other molecules described in this Figure do not constitute the object of this thesis.



Figure 7. The link between the periphery and the brain: endocrine and neuronal interaction in the regulation of energy homeostasis and appetite. Reproduced from (131) with permissions from Oxford University Press.

Insulin-like growth factor binding proteins (IGFBPs) comprise a family of proteins that bind to insulin growth factors and modulate their bioactivity (132). IGFBP1 is a 30 kDa circulating protein expressed predominantly in the liver that has been implicated in reproductive physiology and metabolic homeostasis (133, 134). Increased IGFBP1 is seen in the serum of patients with T1DM and it was suggested that this can be attributed to insulin deficiency. In contrast, patients with T2DM express low levels of this protein (135). Studies of adults and children have shown that circulating IGFBP1 concentrations positively correlate with insulin sensitivity (136-139). It has been also suggested, as observed in longitudinal studies, that low circulating IGFBP1 concentrations predict the development of glucose intolerance and diabetes (140, 141). The concentrations of IGFBP1 are also inversely associated with cardiovascular risk, increased cIMT indicating thickening of carotid wall in T2DM (142). Low levels of circulating IGFBP1 are closely related with macrovascular disease and hypertension, both risk factors for diabetes while high circulating concentrations of highly phosphorylated IGFBP-1 may protect against the development of hypertension and CVD by reducing the mitogenic potential of IGFs on the vasculature (136, 143).

Chapter 5: Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 (FGF21)

5.1 FGF21 Expression

FGF21 is a protein, identified in 2000 in mouse embryos and in human cDNA, member of the vast family of 22 fibroblast growth factors, specifically assigned to the sub-family 19 comprised by fibroblast growth factor 19, 21 and 23 in humans (144, 145). The members of this sub-family have endocrine action as they are secreted in the peripheral blood circulation contrary to what happens to the rest of the fibroblast growth factors which have paracrine action (144). FGF21 is principally expressed in pancreas, testis, liver, brown and white adipose tissue and in lower amounts in other tissues including the aorta, it is released in the circulation mainly by the liver and acts through FGF receptors (FGFR) 1c and 3c and the cofactor β Klotho in target tissues such as the liver, pancreas, adipose tissue and endothelial cells (144, 146). This molecule is shown to follow a circadian secretion pattern with peak circulating levels at 2:30a.m. and nadir circulating levels at 8:30 a.m. (147). FGF21 has extended actions at tissue level and its role has been explored by multiple in vitro and in vivo studies. Figure 8 describes major anatomical expression sites of FGF21 in mice and humans (148).



Figure 8. Comparison of major anatomical expression sites of FGF21 in mice and humans. The most prominent expression sites are highlighted by using bold fonts. The intensity of expression is indicated by font/image size. Note that skeletal muscle FGF21 expression signals were found in mice already in the basal state, in humans only upon hyperinsulinemia. Reproduced from (148) with permissions from Oxford University Press.

5.2 FGF21 Regulation

5.2.1 Regulation of FGF21 by Nutrition State

5.2.1.1 Food Deprivation

Initially it was shown that the expression of FGF21 in hepatic tissue is up-regulated after prolonged fasting in animal models, and that this action is mediated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPAR α) and by cyclic AMP responsive elementbinding protein H (CREBH) (149-152). In fasting states, there is increased level of circulating free fatty acids (FFA) that are shown in mice to induce PPAR α and in turn lead to augmented expression of FGF21 in the liver (150, 151). On the contrary, in humans, FFAs do not lead to increased FGF21 levels but acutely diminish the circulating levels of this molecule when performing oral lipid load tests (153, 154). As shown in humans, prolonged fasting or starvation also lead to increased FGF21 circulating levels as an adaptive response (155, 156).

In pancreatic tissue, fasting induces down-regulation of FGF21 as demonstrated in mouse models. However, the expression of FGF21 in pancreatic tissue does not influence circulating levels of FGF21 as this form derives mainly from hepatic release (157). In pancreatic tissue, FGF21 is expressed mainly at the acinar part and less in the islets, and acts with paracrine manner protecting pancreas from hyperplasia and inflammation, as shown in FGF21 knock-out animal studies (157, 158).

In mouse models, FGF21 expression is also shown to be up-regulated in adipose tissue and in skeletal muscle by fasting, while it is also up-regulated in adipose tissue in the obese state (159-161). The increased expression of FGF21 in adipose tissue in the obese state is also confirmed in humans (162).

5.2.1.2. Body Mass Index (BMI) States -Nutritional State and Diets

In states of increased BMI, in genetically and diet induced obesity mouse models, FGF21 was found to be increased in peripheral blood, accompanied by respective increase in hepatic and adipose gene expression (161). In humans, obesity is linked to an increase in circulating serum levels of FGF21. In 2008, in a study of 232 Chinese subjects, it was shown that FGF21 serum levels were increased in the overweight/obese in comparison to the lean individuals and that were positively correlated to adiposity, fasting insulin, and triglycerides but negatively with HDL cholesterol, after adjusting for age and BMI (163).

It has also been demonstrated that FGF21 hepatic expression is induced through PPAR α induction in newborns as a response to milk intake, further contributing to thermogenic activation of BAT (164). Consequently, it was observed that FGF21 expression was also induced when ketogenic or amino-acid deficient and low protein diets were administered in mice and this induction was also PPARa dependent (149, 165). When FGF21 was disrupted in mouse models, the response in ketogenic diet (KD) was also impaired indicating the significance of the presence of this molecule (166). KD studies in humans failed to prove agreement with mouse experimental studies and led to the conclusion that in humans, KD does not influence FGF21 expression. In a study in 76 healthy individuals, ketosis was induced by a 2-day fast or feeding a KD and this did not influence FGF21 levels (155). Importantly, when the same individuals were put on 7-day fasting, a 74% increase in the FGF21 levels occurred (155). In another study in normal and overweight obese humans, KD was consumed for 12 days and neither this nor a short fasting period altered their circulating FGF21 levels (167). When obese individuals undertook a KD for a longer period, i.e. 3 months, a decrease in FGF21 blood levels was observed (168). It is proposed that the discrepancy between mouse and human studies of the KD regulatory effect on FGF21 may in part be explained by the large variability in KD diets in humans while the murine diets are laboratory made and better controlled at the material and molecular level (148).

Hepatic FGF21 expression was further shown to be regulated in mouse and human models when fructose was administered (169, 170). Specifically, in murine knock-out models it was shown that disruption of the transcription factor carbohydrate responsiveelement binding protein (ChREBP) led to inability of FGF21 regulation after fructose gavage, intact in the wild type animals, indicating a signaling axis implementing these molecules (170). In humans, a fructose load of 75gr was administered following baseline blood examinations and expression of FGF21 was monitored following a curve similar to an oral glucose tolerance test. A robust increase in FGF21 serum levels was reported in this study, following a pattern consistent to a hormonal response suggesting that it may play an important role in fructose metabolism (169). This was further confirmed in humans consuming diets with excessive content of carbohydrates, but not fat (171).

When 40 healthy sedentary individuals were put on a high fat overfeeding diet regimen for 28 days, it was shown that FGF21 and adiponectin, both considered protective hepatokines, were increased in the serum (172). Specifically FGF21 and adiponectin serum levels were increased on the 3rd day of the diet, while adiponectin levels were also found increased on the 28th day of the diet (172). The authors speculated that these findings reflect a possible role of these molecules in maintaining glucose homeostasis in a state of nutritional excess (172). In a 7-week, double-blind study of 39 healthy, lean individuals of a mean age of 27 years, 750 kcal/day were added to their habitual diets, (either containing polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) or saturated fatty acids (SFA)) (173). Circulating FGF21 was found to be increased coupled to the modest weight gain and the increased markers of endothelial dysfunction and insulin resistance observed in these individuals (**Figure 9**) (173). In this study, no relevant relation was shown between FGF21 levels and the qualitatively different fatty acid consumed.



Figure 9. Relative changes during weight gain in the whole study sample (n39). A, Lipid metabolism. B, Glucose and insulin. C, Endothelial function and coagulation. Calculated as change/baseline value x 100. Boxes denote median and IQR, whiskers denote highest/lowest value within 1.5 IQR from upper/lower quartile. * P<0.05, ** P<0.01, *** $P\leq0.001$ in paired-sample t test or Wilcoxon signed-rank test. ApoB indicates apolipoprotein B; FGF21, fibroblast growth factor 21; HDL, high-density lipoprotein; HOMA-IR, homeostasis model assessment of insulin resistance; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; IQR, interquartile range; LDL, low-density lipoprotein; NEFA, nonesterified fatty acids; PCSK9, proprotein convertase subtiliisin/kexin type 9; VCAM-1, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1. Reproduced from (173) under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License by publisher Wiley Blackwell

The Geometric Framework for Nutrition (GFN) is an integrating framework for taming the complexity of nutrition. It can be successfully applied to quantify simultaneous impacts of different macronutrients on energy expenditure and other vital activities of the living organisms consuming them (174). FGF21 is shown to be paradoxically regulated by various nutritional states. The expression of this molecule is up-regulated in conditions of starvation, in KD and in protein/amino acid restriction regimens while unexpectedly is also up-regulated in states of overfeeding and in obesity. In 2016, a study in Australia used the GFN to determine the role of different macronutrients and energy intake on FGF21 expression in animal models. In this study, it was demonstrated that FGF21 expression and circulation were increased in low protein diets and maximal when low protein was coupled with high carbohydrate intakes (175). By phenotypic determination of animals expressing high levels of FGF21, the presence of two contrasting phenotypes was detected. The one phenotype was hyperphagic on low protein diets showing compensatory overfeeding that led the animals to increase their body fat, remaining however insulin sensitive, while the other phenotype was lean, energy restricted, and insulin sensitive. These results led to the suggestion that up-regulation of FGF21 may occur by both starvation and overfeeding and this may be mainly dependent on nutrient content linked to low protein intake and to a lesser extent to low protein high-carbohydrate intake ratio (**Figure 10**) (175).



Figure 10. Elevated Circulating FGF21 Levels Are Associated with Various Metabolic Phenotypes

FGF21 levels were robustly elevated by low-protein diets, but the nutritional context in which this occurred resulted in different metabolic phenotypes. (A) Two contrasting phenotypes are superimposed onto a response surface for circulating FGF21 levels. These metabolic outcomes were previously published in Solon-Biet et al (2014). Phenotypes 1 and 2 both have high FGF21 levels, are protein deprived, and are insulin sensitive. However, phenotype 1 is hyperphagic due to compensatory for protein, resulting obesity. Phenotype 2 is calorie restricted and lean.

(B) The effects of protein and carbohydrate intakes on (B) body mass (g). (C) percent body fat. (D) systolic blood pressure (mmHg). (E) diastolic blood pressure (mmHg). (F) area under the curve from glucose tolerance test. (G) HDL (mmol/L). (H) insulin (ng/ml). And (I) bone mineral density (g/cml^2) . It is clear that the two high-FGF21 phenotypic conditions are different in their metabolic profiles. Adapted from Solon-Biet et al (2014). Reproduced from (175) with permissions from Elsevier.

In the complex regulatory pathway between nutrient intake and regulation of energy homeostasis, FGF21 regulation has been proposed to drive negative signals in a feedback pathway to the brain. Liver may regulate sugar consumption through FGF21 expression and secretion, involved in this feedback pathway that in turn signals negatively for the further sugar consumption in conditions of high intake. This pathway is proposed to be located in hypothalamus (**Figure 11**) (176).



Figure 11. FGF21 mediates endocrine control of sugar intake by the liver. Reproduced from (176) with permissions from Elsevier.

This regulatory pathway extends to the adipose tissue by activation of adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and sirtuin 1 gene (SIRT1) promoted by FGF21 (177). AMPK and SIRT1 constitute two out the four known nutrient related pathways controlling energy homeostasis together with mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) and insulin/IGF1 (175).

5.2.2 Regulation of FGF21 in Different Metabolic Disorders

5.2.2.1 Metabolic Syndrome

The expression of FGF21 is described to be increased in various metabolic disorders in adults. MS is independently associated with FGF21 serum levels (163, 178). The Metabolic Syndrome Berlin Potsdam (MeSyBePo) study in 2013, recruited 440 Caucasian individuals who were evaluated both at the beginning of the study and at a follow-up evaluation 5 years later. FGF21 was shown to be an independent predictor of the MS and T2DM in apparently healthy adults (179).

5.2.2.2 Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease (NAFLD) and Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis (NASH)

Positive correlation between FGF21 serum levels and obesity was also described in obese individuals with NAFLD or NASH (167). In this study, both FGF21 serum levels and hepatic mRNA expression were positively correlated with NAFLD (167). When obese humans were further discriminated into metabolically healthy (MHO) and metabolically unhealthy (MUO), based on the absence or presence respectively of concomitant insulin resistance, central obesity and hepatic steatosis, it was demonstrated that FGF21 was higher in the MUO group (180, 181).

5.2.2.3 Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM)

In states of insulin resistance and T2DM FGF21 is up-regulated.

In a study of obese people, obese with T2DM and healthy people it was shown that baseline FGF21 serum levels were increased in obese and obese with T2DM individuals in comparison to healthy individuals while no significant difference was shown between the obese and obese with T2DM groups (162). When the peroxisome proliferator activated receptor alpha (PPAR α) agonist, fenofibrate, was administered for 3 months, or a very low calorie diet was applied for 3 consecutive weeks the levels of FGF21 in serum, increased indicating that it may promote the actions of these interventions (162). Six fold higher circulating serum FGF21 levels were observed in Japanese subjects with T2DM treated with fenofibrates (182). In contrast, when thiazolidinediones were administered, these did not affect FGF21 serum levels while they up-regulated adiponectin serum levels (182). In a different study, subjects were divided in newly diagnosed T2DM (NDDM) and with long duration of T2DM (LDDM) and in comparison to the controls, they had higher serum levels of FGF21 independent of disease duration (183). Analysis of data from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging with 700 adults of a mean age of 63.3 years participating, showed that higher serum FGF21 concentrations were associated with abnormal glucose metabolism and insulin resistance (184).

5.2.3 Other Conditions that Regulate the Expression of FGF21

5.2.3.1 Regulation of FGF21 in States of Stress

Cold and exercise are conditions in which FGF21 expression has been studied and is described to be up-regulated but in different ways and in different tissues in each condition.

With physical exercise, hepatic FGF21 gene expression is increased and the mechanism by which this is mediated may be linked to increased hepatic PPAR α and activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4) expression which implies an indirect mechanism through lipolysis activation pathway and FFA release at the adipose tissue level (185). Further studies in humans aimed to elucidate the mechanism by which exercise regulates FGF21 expression and it was shown that during exercise, there is a dynamic glucagon to insulin ratio which inhibits FGF21 secretion when it is low and promotes FGF21 secretion when it is increased (186). This scheme is consistent with the concept that during exercise the body undergoes acute energy deprivation and under such conditions circulating glucagon is increased while insulin secretion is inhibited to maintain glucose homeostasis (187).

In cold exposure, FGF21 expression is up-regulated in humans and in mice at the level of the adipose tissue and not in the liver as it happens during exercise (188). On the basis of this evidence, FGF21 is proposed to participate to the thermogenic pathway in which within BAT mechanisms are activated after cold exposure. This is a cAMP-mediated beta-adrenergic pathway where protein kinase A and p38 MAPK, induces FGF21 gene transcription in BAT (189). In turn, FGF21 up-regulates brown and white adipose tissue expression of uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) promoting thermogenesis by a mechanism of shifting white to brown adipose tissue in mouse experiments (188).

Figure 12 reviews the regulation of FGF21 in hepatic tissue as described in mice and human studies (148).



Figure 12: Regulation of hepatic FGF21 production in mice and humans.

Stimulatory effects are indicated by plus signs (+), the inhibitory effects by minus signs (-). Stimuli/mediators in mice and humans are indicated in blue, stimuli/mediators that are different between mice and humans are indicated in red, and stimuli/mediators with only mice data available are indicated in black. Reproduced from (148) with permissions from Oxford University Press.

5.2.3.2 Regulation of FGF21 in Diseases

FGF21 is a molecule, as mentioned, expressed in various tissues and consequently it has been studied in respect to various tissues and organs conditions. Such studies on muscle tissue in mice indicate the influence on this molecule regulation during mitochondrial myopathy and during heart muscle damage after fasting and endoplasmic reticulum stress with accompanied increased expression of FGF21 in the skeletal muscle (190, 191). The underlying mechanism may be linked to defective lipolysis with FGF21 overexpression indicating the effort to increase energy homeostasis (191). Similarly, in human myopathies associated to enzyme cofactor deficiencies such as iron–sulfur cluster scaffold homolog (ISCU) myopathy, by global changes in gene expression, microarray analysis from muscle biopsies, an overexpression of FGF21 gene was shown, interestingly accompanied to increased circulating levels of this molecule. Concomitant increase of the ketogenic enzyme 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase 2 (HMGCS2) indicates activation of a pathway possibly leading to an effort to restore capacity of channeling debris of mitochondrial dysfunction. This pathway is closely linked to conditions such as starvation (192).

Mechanistic insight came recently from a study showing that the increase in FGF21 leads to beneficial effects by enhancing mitochondrial function through an mTOR-Yin Yang 1 (YY1)-peroxisome proliferator activated receptor coactivator 1alpha (PGC1alpha-dependent pathway in skeletal muscle (193). Further human studies on mitochondrial disorders confirmed the usefulness of this molecule as it consistently shows an up-regulation possibly indicating that FGF21 may constitute a new biomarker in adults and children in the screening process for muscle biopsy in addition to other classical serum indicators such as creatine kinase, lactate, pyruvate, and the lactate to pyruvate ratio (194, 195).

Figure 13 reviews the regulation of FGF21 in extra-hepatic tissues as described in mice and human studies (148).



Figure 13. Regulation of extrahepatic production and circulating FGF21 in mice and humans. Stimulatory effects are indicated by plus signs (+), the inhibitory effects by a minus sign (-). Stimuli rendering extrahepatic tissues as a source of circulating FGF21 levels are indicated in blue. Reproduced from (148) with permissions form Oxford University Press.

5.2.3 Regulation of FGF21 in Children

FGF21 has multiple metabolic actions and it has been intensively studied in adults. However, there are not many studies describing the role of this molecule in children. In 2012, 60 obese and 40 lean children of the same age, gender, and pubertal stage were enrolled in a 1-year interventional study (196). The study included assessment of body weight and fat mass, lipid profile, insulin homeostasis, and FGF21 and leptin serum levels. For a year they followed a program based on exercise, behavior and nutrition therapy. In this study, FGF21 was shown to be increased in the serum of obese children accompanied by increased leptin and HOMA levels and it was further shown that FGF21 serum levels correlated with BMI, free fatty acids and leptin levels in both cross sectional and longitudinal analysis. In this study, there was no difference in FGF21 levels between children with MS (defined by the IDF criteria) or with NAFLD in comparison to the controls. Importantly, a decrease in BMI in the interventional study was accompanied with a significant decrease in serum FGF21 levels (196). The BCAMS study in Chinese children, reported an association of FGF21 with obesity with an unexpected decrease in FGF21 circulating levels in the obese group when compared to lean children (197). In this study, a strong association between circulating FGF21 levels, insulin resistance and MS was observed (197). The authors stated in the limitations of the study that the kit used for the quantification of FGF21 serum levels was different from the one used by the other published studies. Further information on FGF21 in paediatric MS was provided in 2014, in a study of 9-year old children. In this study, the paediatric MS was defined by the National Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III criteria and no significant association were noted between FGF21 and any defining parameters of the MS (198).

In a different study in 2016, obese adolescents with and without T2DM were recruited and it was reported that in the absence of difference in BMI between the two groups there was significant increase in FGF21 serum levels in the obese group with T2DM (199). In this study, FGF21 correlated to hs-CRP and leptin with TNF- α . Interestingly, leptin levels were shown to be decreased in the obese adolescents with T2DM. The authors of these studies have suggested that T2DM is a resistance state for FGF21 and they also have argued against leptin resistance in T2DM since the levels of this molecule were decreased in their group of adolescents (200, 201). They agreed on the fact that both FGF21 and leptin are protective in terms of insulin resistance since they improve it (200). They also reported on the role of adiponectin in T2DM and supported that it is not related to T2DM in obese adolescents since the circulating levels of this molecule are not different in these children when compared to obese adolescents without T2DM indicating a strong link to the BMI state (201).

In 2014, based on data from the Copenhagen Puberty Study, the relation of oral glucose tolerance, insulin, FGF21, adiponectin, and leptin to body fat percentage as measured by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scans was explored (202). The results of this study showed that girls had a significantly higher level of FGF21 compared with boys. The baseline levels of FGF21 positively correlated with TRG, but not with the BMI, fat percentage, LDL, HDL or total cholesterol, leptin, or adiponectin. There was no correlation between the baseline FGF21 levels and dynamic changes in glucose and insulin resulted by the glucose tolerance test. The authors concluded that FGF21 is independent of adiposity in children and its metabolic effect seems to be limited to pathological conditions associated with insulin resistance (202). In contrast to this study, in 2013 in obese adolescents it was shown that the increase in circulating FGF21 levels positively correlated to hepatic fat content and markers of hepatic apoptosis (203). In 2018, the BCAMS study in Chinese obese children has shown that the metabolic health is related to circulating adipokine profile and thus circulating osteonectin, leptin, FGF21, adiponectin, resistin and retinol binding protein 4 (204). The metabolic health was defined as the absence of insulin resistance and/or any metabolic syndrome components (204).

5.3 FGF21 actions

FGF21 is expressed by different tissues in different conditions mostly linked by energy homeostasis and stress. This expression is not only a passive phenomenon, but FGF21 has been shown to have potentials in promoting other gene expressions and initiating metabolic pathways in order to maintain energy balance. The most important known effects of FGF21 have been described on metabolic pathways of glucose homeostasis and lipid balance through hepatic, adipose and pancreatic actions, but it is also described to have limited actions in brain and bone tissue. FGF21 appears as a prominent thermogenic, anti-hyperglycemic and anti-hyperlipidemic factor (205).

5.3.1 Effects on Glucose and Lipid Homeostasis in Humans and in Mice

Initially loss and gain action experiments were designed to explore the effects of FGF21. When FGF21 was genetically deprived in FGF21 knockout animal models with concomitant daily administration of KD, the induction of glucose intolerance and the increase in body weight combined to histologically proved hepatic steatosis was observed (166).

Administration of FGF21 was initially designed in-vitro to 3T3-L1 and primary human adipocytes, and it was described to have effects on glucose molecule by inducing increased glucose uptake (206). Loss of FGF21 action experiments and exogenous administration of FGF21 in in-vitro studies have shown a specific action of FGF21 versus stimulation of hepatic fatty acid oxidation and ketogenesis in the fasting state, with suppression of hepatic de novo lipogenesis (150, 166). These actions were described to be possibly mediated by (SREBP1c) in human liver-derived HepG2 cells (207).

In vivo experiments of FGF21 administration in leptin deficient (db/db) and genetically induced obese (ob/ob) mice, both models of diabetes, have shown that FGF21 acts as a metabolic regulator reducing plasma glucose and triglycerides to near normal levels, while transgenic animals overexpressing FGF21 were similar to the control animals

(206). Furthermore, in two different models of insulin resistance, genetically determined obese ob/ob mice and diet induced obese (DIO) mice, FGF21 acute administration declined blood glucose levels and immediately improved insulin sensitivity (208). These effects were mediated in liver and adipose tissue by inhibiting glucose release from liver and stimulating glucose uptake in adipose tissue (208). The effects of FGF21 in adipose tissue are, at least partially, extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) and serum response factor (SRF)/Elk1-mediated; this specific pathway has been shown to be impaired in DIO mouse models suggesting the strong interaction with the diet (209). As expected, when FGF21 was chronically administered in high fat diet mice, the hepatic and the peripheral insulin sensitivity improved (210). The actions of FGF21 on hepatic tissue are not clear. However, there is evidence that FGF21 cholesterol lowering effect is via a direct action on hepatic tissue through β Klotho and FGFR2, which is the second most expressed FGFR in the liver (211, 212).

To test whether adipose tissue mediates the effects of FGF21, this was administered to mice with reduced body fat in a lipodystrophy model; mice were found to be refractory to the beneficial effects of this molecule as compared to the control animals. To further assess the importance of adipose tissue in mediating the beneficial effects of exogenously administered FGF21, white adipose tissue was transplanted to the lipodystrophic mice and a complete restoration of the effects was recorded in these animals (213). There is conflicting data on how FGF21 may act on adipose tissue and lipid metabolism. There is possibly conditioning based on the tissue expansion, body weight as well as the duration of FGF21 administration. Obesity is a state where circulating FGF21 is found to be increased, although there is evidence that this elevation is incapable to promote weight lowering or improve lipid and glucose homeostasis. In DIO mice, acute administration of low dose FGF21 could not induce metabolic response confirmed also by reduced ERK1/2 phosphorylation in both liver and adipose tissue. This condition was described as a state of resistance (161).

In terms of lipid regulation, FGF21 administration both in vitro and in vivo, acutely reduces levels of circulating FFA consistently and dose dependently to a reduction of glucose circulating levels and inhibits adipocyte lipolysis possibly through lipase

inhibition (214). Chronic administration in human adipocytes and in experiments including transgenic mouse models and exogenous administration of FGF21 in mice, have shown an induction of a lipolytic effect possibly by promoting pancreatic lipases in the liver evidenced by microarray analysis of hepatic tissue (150, 215). These lipases are normally expressed in very low levels in the liver and this finding was linked to an overall increased ketogenic effect of FGF21 observed in these experiments (150).

5.3.2 Obesity Reversal in Animals and Humans by FGF21

When FGF21 was administered for two weeks in genetically induced (ob/ob) obese and diabetic mice, it managed to reduce their adiposity and overall body weight by 20%. These effects were linked to increased energy expenditure with no observed increased activity of the animals and concomitant amelioration of insulin sensitivity and lipid profile (216). Further research in diet-induced models of mouse obesity and administration of FGF21 confirmed the observations mentioned above, while an influence of FGF21 on increased physical activity was also observed (217).

In humans, the most prominent effect produced by FGF21 analog (LY2405319) administration was a significant improvement of dyslipidemia, including a decrease in LDL cholesterol and TRG and an increase in HDL cholesterol accompanied by a less atherogenic apolipoprotein concentration profile (218). Improved body weight with increased insulin sensitivity was also observed in this clinical trial although the glucose lowering effect was hardly detectable (218). Administration of a different FGF21 analogue (PF-05231023) in overweight/obese patients with T2DM led to a consequent significant decrease in body weight, improved plasma lipoprotein profile, and increased adiponectin levels (219). However, when the same analogue was administered in obese patients with and without T2DM, treated with atorvastatin for increased TRG, showed beneficial effects on lowering TRG but no effects were observed on body weight or glucose homeostasis (220).

5.3.3 Endothelial Protection by FGF21

In a study in a Chinese population, 253 patients were screened by coronary angiography for coronary artery disease, and by ultrasonography for NAFLD. The study showed that FGF21 serum levels were higher in patients with NAFLD and with coronary artery disease regardless of NAFLD state, and levels correlated with increased total cholesterol and TRG (221). Another study in China provided further insight showing that high levels of circulating FGF21 are associated with adverse lipid profiles in people with coronary artery disease and this may represent a compensatory response or resistance to FGF21 (222). To explore whether increased FGF21 serum levels are independently associated with atherosclerotic disease further studies were designed. A study in 670 Chinese subjects, assessing carotid atherosclerosis by ultrasonography carotid intima media thickness (cIMT) showed that FGF21 serum levels are associated with carotid atherosclerosis independent of established risk factors such as adverse lipid profiles and CRP (223). An effort to explore whether the association of FGF21 with atherosclerosis may involve a protective role or the opposite, studies on cultured cardiac microvascular endothelial cells (CMECs) were designed adding oxidized low density lipoprotein (ox-LDL). In this study, addition of ox-LDL induced apoptosis of CMECs and FGF21 mRNA and protein expression was increased in a dose-dependent injury-related manner (224). When bezafibrate was added to the culture, it further increased FGF21 expression and this in turn protected CMECS from apoptosis (224).

The protective effects of FGF21 on cardiac cell apoptosis were also shown in vivo, in a mouse model of diabetes where FGF21 prevented palmitate-induced cardiac apoptosis via up-regulating the ERK1/2-dependent p38 MAPK-AMPK signaling pathway (225). In the same study, it was shown that FGF21 knockout mice were more susceptible to diabetes-induced cardiac apoptosis, while the administration of FGF21 could prevent it (225). In streptozotocin-induced diabetes in FGF21 knockout mice, it was shown that FGF21 is protective with regards to cardiac lipid accumulation and diabetic cardiomyopathy (226). Furthermore, in an ex vivo Langendorff isolated heart perfusion system, it was shown that FGF21-induced cardiac protection and restoration of cardiac function involving autocrine-paracrine pathways (227). This effect was reduced in obesity. (227).

5.3.4 Effects of FGF21 on Central Nervous System - Brain

A role of FGF21 has been described in the central nervous system. Firstly, FGF21 has been shown to be able to pass through the murine blood-brain barrier and this has been described in the human cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) in both studies of serum and CSF of adults, where FGF21 in both biological liquids increased with the rising of fat mass and BMI (228, 229). In the murine brain, there are regions including substantia nigra, striatum and cerebellar neurons that express FGF21 (230, 231). Importantly, the brain expresses also receptors for FGF21, specifically FGFR1 and FGFR3 as well as the β -klotho cofactor expressed in the hypothalamus. These receptors and the cofactor permit FGF21 to act centrally by increasing systemic glucocorticoid levels, suppressing physical activity and altering circadian behavior, which are all features of the adaptive starvation response (232).

In 2014, by intra-cerebroventricular injection of FGF21 in mice, it was shown that FGF21 maintains glucose homeostasis by mediating the cross talk between liver and brain during prolonged fasting (233). Two years later, proof for further action of FGF21 in the brain was provided by a study in mice, where a liver-to-brain hormonal axis was described regulating micronutrient intake through FGF21. Specifically, a negative feedback to reduce sweet-seeking behavior is transmitted from the liver to the hypothalamus by expressing and secreting FGF21 (**Figure 11**) (176).

5.3.5 Effects of FGF21 on Bone metabolism

FGF21 is described to interfere with bone metabolism by decreasing bone mass, inhibiting osteoblastogenesis and stimulating adipogenesis in bone marrow–derived mesenchymal stem cells. This is possible as bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells may differentiate either to osteoblasts or to adipocytes (234). FGF21 is also described to indirectly enhance bone resorption. This function of FGF21 is mediated through stimulating IGFBP1 release from the liver, and by promoting IGFBP1 stimulation of

bone resorption in vivo (235). No direct effect of FGF21 on osteoclasts has been described.

Figure 14 reviews the multiple effects of FGF21 on various tissues (236).



Figure 14. The relationship and the multiple effects of FGF21 on different organs and tissues. Abbreviations: FGF21, fibroblast growth factor 21; FGFR, fibroblast growth factor receptor; KLB, β -klotho; , white adipose tissue; BAT, brown adipose tissue; UCP1, uncoupling protein-1; CVD, cardiovascular disease; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; TG, triglyceride; VLDL, very low density lipoprotein; GLUT-1, glucose transporter-1; NEFA, non-esterified fatty acids. Reproduced from (236) with permissions from Elsevier.

5.4 Possible Administration in Humans - Clinical Trials

The pharmacological effects of recombinant FGF21 were widely tested in animal models; recombinant FGF21 was clearly shown to be a potent metabolic regulator with beneficial effects on body weight lowering, glucose homeostasis and lipid profile improving. In the recent years, research is focusing in improving the properties of human FGF21 protein to a more suitable drug for use in humans. This improvement concerns its bioavailability (half-life, renal clearance) stability (rapid proteolysis of FGF21 human protein has been described), and immunogenicity.

At least nine FGF21-class molecules have been tested in humans, and several are still active in different stages of clinical development as a T2DM or NASH therapeutic. Namely, the FGF21 molecules used sofar are LY2405319, LY3025876, LY3084077, BMS986036, BMS986171, PF05231023, AMG876, BFKB8488A and NGM313 (218, 219, 237). Although more studies have to be performed, the results have been promising sofar. Further to that, combination therapies are also proposed using fibrate and fibroblast activation protein (FAP) inhibitor which may produce a busting effect on FGF21 action (238, 239).


Chapter 6: Markers of Endothelial Dysfunction Applied in the Diagnosis of CVD

6.1 Flow-mediated Dilation (FMD)

6.1.1 FMD definition and regulation in adults' metabolic and CV disease

Arterial function and elasticity requires a balance between vasodilation and vasoconstriction. This function is regulated by the release of substances acting on the vessel wall at the endothelial cells (240). FMD is an ultrasound-based technique, introduced in 1992, as a method of non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction, and it is the most well established method in assessing the brachial reactivity in adults (241). FMD assessed with this technique measures the nitric oxide–mediated vasodilation produced as a response to increased flow after a period of ischemia applied to the brachial artery. Briefly, FMD technique examines, by ultrasound, the changes in brachial artery diameter in response to ischemia induced by inflating a blood pressure cuff distal to the imaged artery, around the forearm, to supra-systolic level (**Figure 15**) (241). When there is endothelial damage, the vessel loses the ability to dilate and thus FMD is decreased. Non–endothelium-dependent dilation (NEDD) measures the arterial changes induced by administration of a sublingual dose of nitroglycerin, which reflects predominantly the smooth muscle response (242).



Figure 15 This image demonstrates the typical image of the brachial artery obtained at baseline. The double-layered appearance of the vessel wall can be appreciated and the vessel lumen easily measured. Reproduced from (242) with permissions from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc. FMD is affected by cardiovascular risk factors, has been related to the presence of coronary artery disease (CAD) and endothelial function and independently predicts CVD outcomes (243). FMD has been reported to be associated with cIMT progression in a population free of CVD (244). Despite concerns about its reproducibility, the available evidence shows that this method is reliable when the operator is well trained and follows standardized protocols (243). Several studies and meta-analyses have explored and confirmed, the prognostic value of brachial FMD for cardiovascular events (245-248). From these meta-analyses, a significantly lower risk of cardiovascular events (by 8-13%) has been reported for every percent point increase in brachial artery FMD (243).

In patients with CAD, FMD was shown to be an independent predictor of coronary events. (249, 250). Both FMD and LDL levels have been observed to be significantly improved after 6 months of cardiovascular risk factor management. In healthy adults, low FMD is correlated with HDL cholesterol and blood pressure and when resistance exercise was applied to healthy young adults, peripheral arterial remodeling occurred as indicated by an increase in mean brachial artery diameter post-occlusion (251, 252). Hormonal influence also may dysregulate endothelial function and this may be assessed by FMD as shown in a study of postmenopausal women (253).

In interventional studies in patients with impaired endothelial function, FMD shows relative modification with treatment. In patients with T1DM without overt angiopathy, bicycle exercise training was initiated and an amelioration of FMD was observed, accompanied with increased peak oxygen uptake (254). When obese subjects with insulin resistance were put on a program of a 6-month physical training and weight reduction, improvement of endothelial function was observed using FMD evaluation (255).

Dietary interventions and their effect on endothelial function have also been investigated. In subjects with T2DM, a beneficial effect on insulin resistance and endothelial function was observed using FMD, by modifying diet from polyunsaturated to monounsaturated fat (256). When patients with ischemic heart disease and increased cholesterol where put on Mediterranean diet plus initiated statin treatment, a greater

improvement in FMD was observed compared to the treatment with statin alone (257). These results indicate the valuable information provided by the FMD technique on the effect of different interventions in various CVD conditions, indicating the great value of the method.

6.1.2 FMD in Children

In children, there is less information on FMD as compared to adults, although the available data confirm the validity of this method in detecting early endothelial dysfunction in this age group. FMD has been independently associated with BMI and it has been negatively correlated with fasting insulin and apolipoprotein A-I (258-260). In contrast, a recent observational study in obese children explored the relation of FMD with excess weight and traditional cardiovascular risk factors including anthropometric features and blood pressure and no association was found (261). In another study in children with increased BMI (\geq 85th percentile), a higher risk of hypertension and left ventricular hypertrophy was reported with decreased FMD (262). When FMD was evaluated in 35 obese children of a mean age of 9 years, no relation was found to any clinical and biochemical characteristics in contrast to another study in 252 children aged 9 to 18 years in whom FMD was positively associated with high adiposity (263, 264). It has been described that fasting glucose and BMI are independent predictive variables of decreased FMD (265).

It has been speculated that conflicting data may result from unhomogeneous conditions applied to the studies and mainly sample size, as well as to some extent from the variation of FMD results among the different age groups. Table 3 summarizes the studies, published until 2012, that have investigated the effects of obesity on vascular structure and function in children and adolescents. FMD is the most used method followed by cIMT, while other methods have only been sporadically applied (266).

Table 3. Studies investigating the effects of obesity on vascular structure and function in children and adolescents. Reproduced from (266) with permissions from Elsevier.

		Obese			Control										
First Author, Year (Ref. #)	n	Female	Age (yrs)	n	Female	Age (yrs)	Tanner*	FMD	CIMT	AC	CAC	CAS	AS	PWVc	PWVp
Tounian, 2001 (59)	48	58%	12.6	27	41%	12.0	Yes	Ļ	↔		1	1			
lannuzzi, 2004 (53)	100	39%	10.0	47	21%	10.0	No		Ť			1			
Woo, 2004 (55)	36	58%	10.3	36	58%	10.3	Yes	Ļ	t						
Zhu, 2005 (56)	43	46%	12.0	28	40%	12.0	No	1	Ť						
Kapiotis, 2006 (54)	145	48%	12.0	54	44%	12.0	No	1	t						
Meyer, 2006 (50)	32	53%	13.7	20	60%	14.7	Yes	Ļ	Ť						
Meyer, 2006b (91)	96	51%	14.2	35	51%	14.7	Yes	Ļ							
Pena, 2006 (95)	58	48%	13.3	53	55%	14.1	No	Ļ							
Reinehr, 2006 (57)	96	54%	11.0	25	56%	11.0	Yes		Ť						
Lee, 2007 (75)	126	0%	14.6	130	0%	14.9	No							t.	
Aggoun, 2008 (58)	48	67%	8.9	23	69%	8.3	Yes	1	\leftrightarrow						
Dangardt, 2008 (80)	33	61%	13.9	18	61%	14.3	No								Ļ
Karpoff, 2009 (51)	12	0%	11.6	13	0%	11.6	No	Ļ	Ť		\leftrightarrow				
Mahmud, 2009 (94)	26	39%	13.4	51	41%	14.0	Yes	1							
Sakuragi, 2009 (76)	191	49%	10.1	0			Yes†							t	
Bhattacharjee, 2010 (93)	55	51%	8.6	50	40%	8.0	No	Ļ							
Pac, 2010 (77)	37	41%	13.9	30	43%	13.1	No						t		
Urbina, 2010 (74)	234	70%	18.1	241	61%	17.8	No							t	\leftrightarrow
Yilmazer, 2010 (52)	77	47%	11.5	40	43%	9.8	Yest	1	t		Ļ				
Chalmers, 2011 (81)	34	53%	13.6	33	39%	13.2	Yes†			1					
Ciccone, 2011 (92)	93	47%	10.9				No	1							
Harris, 2012 (17)	61	44%	13.8	55	60%	13.8	No						1		
Koopman, 2012 (13)	21	19%	14.2	27	19%	13.9	No	\leftrightarrow	Ť					t	
Lurbe, 2012 (79)	284	44%	12.0	79	56%	13.4	No							1	
Mahfouz, 2012 (36)	56	30%	13.8	40	38%	13.4	No						t		
Ozcetin, 2012 (18)	42	57%	10.1	36	61%	9.8	No		t			Ť			
Tryggestad, 2012 (82)	63	52%	13.9	61	49%	13.3	Yes†	↔		1					

LVd=left ventricular dimension; LVt=left ventricular function; LVM= left ventricular mass; NR= not reported; \uparrow =greater compared to control; \downarrow = lower compared to control; \leftrightarrow = no difference between control and obese.

Obesity is a main field of application of FMD although however other metabolic conditions are potentially linked to early endothelial damage such as diabetes, where FMD was found to be decreased as expected (267). Early endothelial dysfunction was found in adolescents with a positive family history of cardiovascular events with further reduction seen in children with familial hypercholesterolemia and also in familial combined hypercholesterolemia (268-270).

FMD in childhood has been explored under different conditions and found to be impaired in peadiatric patients with human immunodeficiency virus, Kawasaki disease, juvenile idiopathic arthritis and systemic inflammation, leading to the hypothesis that CRP may be involved in the pathogenesis of early atherosclerosis (271-274). Chronic renal failure is also described as a state associated with impaired FMD both before and after renal transplantation due to alterations in the arterial wall (275, 276). Interestingly, in a large study with 402 children aged 11 years, reduced FMD was shown in children with elevated serum levels of cotinine as a result of exposure to passive smoking (277).

6.2 Carotid Intima-media Thickness (cIMT)

Introduced in the early 90s, cIMT is a method based on ultrasound, quantifying the part of the carotid wall constituted by the intima and the media tunic (**Figure 16**). This thickness is shown to be increased in processes of vascular damage, plaque formation and atherosclerosis (278, 279).



Figure 16 Image taken from the distal common carotid artery demonstrating the intimal-medial complex (between arrows). The intimal-medial thickness is measured from the border between the echolucent vessel lumen and the echogenic intima (white arrow) and the border between the echolucent media and echogenic adventitia (black arrow). Reproduced from (242) with permissions from Wolters Kluwer Health, Inc.

In adults, cIMT is shown to be associated with cardiovascular risk factors such as age, race, total, LDL or HDL cholesterol, higher systolic blood pressure, and smoking (280, 281). Increased cIMT is associated with CAD and is predictive for future cardiovascular

events (282-284). In patients with CVD treated with anti-hypertensive and lipid lowering medications, an amelioration of cIMThas been consistently reported (285).

In children, cIMT has been demonstrated to be increased in the presence of familial hypercholesterolemia, hypertension, obesity and T1DM (286-289). Various diseases, Kawasaki disease, renal disease and renal transplantation and systemic lupus erythematosus have been shown to influence the thickness of the carotid wall, and in these diseases, cIMT has also been applied for treatment monitoring (290-293).

In children, IMT has also been applied to the aorta (aIMT) especially in neonates and young children. Increased aIMT has been associated with low birth weight, intrauterine growth restriction, maternal smoking and familial hypercholesterolemia (286, 294-296).

6.3 Other markers of Endothelial Dysfunction

6.3.1 Pulse Wave Velocity (PWV)

In 1922, the recognition of PWV in men was first described by Bramwell and Hill (297). PWV is a measure of arterial stiffness and is based on the principle that the pressure pulse, generated by the left ventricular ejection, is propagated along the arterial tree at a speed determined by the geometric and elastic properties of the arterial wall (298). PWV is defined by the Moens-Korteweg equation as follows:

$$PWV = \sqrt{(Eh/2\rho R)}$$

where E is Young's modulus of the arterial wall, h is wall thickness, ρ is blood density, and R is arterial radius at the end of diastole (242, 298).

The arterial pulse wave is measured at both a proximal and a distal artery, such as the common carotid and femoral arteries respectively. The pulse waveform is recorded at each site, and the time delay between the arrival of a predefined point on the waveform (typically the "foot") at the 2 sites is obtained by gating to the peak of the R wave on the ECG. Measurement of distances on the body surface, a practice somewhat dependent on the body habitus, allows an estimate of the distance traveled. PWV is then calculated as distance/time (m/s) (242).

In adults, PWV is increased in the presence of arterial stiffness and vascular damage and is strongly associated with the presence and extent of atherosclerosis (299, 300). PWV is also found to be increased in conditions associated with increased cardiovascular risk such as diabetes, hypertension, end-stage renal disease, hyperlipidemia, increasing age, and sedentary lifestyle (301-304).

In paediatric populations, PWV has been previously described to be increased in diseases such as T1DM, Kawasaki disease (305-307).

6.3.2 Augmentation Index

Augmentation index represents another method used to assess arterial stiffness and is one of the parameters that have also been tested in paediatric populations. This parameter is derived from the pulse contour analysis, and has been found to be elevated indicating increased stiffness in children with conditions that predispose to CVD, such as diabetes, as compared to healthy control subjects (308).



Part Two - Original Research

Chapter 7: Aim of the Study

In 2013, WHO published the Global Action Plan where it is very clear how important the decrease of mortality from non-communicable diseases such as CVD and diabetes may be, as well as how crucial the halting of diabetes and obesity is (112). Monitoring the worldwide prevalence of obesity has shown the increasingly high rates in adults but also in the paediatric population (29). The MS is also another grey area especially in children as it constitutes a clear indicator of cardiovascular risk in adults, while concerns arise when applied to younger adults and children. Questions have been raised towards the applicability of MS in children and the alternative use of MS criteria as clustering components to indicate increased cardiovascular risk (74). There is a definite lack of biomarkers that could easily and accurately detect cardiovascular risk and metabolic disorders especially early in life and in childhood.

The aim of our study was to focus on detecting new molecules that could be used as biomarkers of such disorders in childhood. Thus, we explored the association of FGF21, a new protein with hormonal and regulatory effects on metabolism, as well as leptin and adiponectin that have been only partially studied sofar, with indices of vascular structure and function in order to investigate whether these molecules could represent potential biomarkers of MS and other disorders in childhood. IGFBP1 was also investigated in our research as this has been shown to be involved in metabolic pathways and have protective role on vascular tissue. We aimed to use non-invasive techniques to assess arterial structure and function in our research, as these methods can be easily applied at an outpatient environment in paediatric populations. With the current research, we aim to better understand metabolic disorders and the potentially associated cardiovascular insult in childhood. We also hope that the results of this research could provide a useful matrix on which to build tools for timely and successful prevention of the progression of metabolic disorders and their effects on the vasculature, as early as in a paediatric population.



Chapter 8: Population and Methods

8.1 Population and Study Protocol

One hundred children consented to participate in our protocol, 9% waived participation, while 22 were excluded due to incomplete and/or unavailable data series. Our study population finally consisted of 78 children, from northwestern Greece, aged 7 to 16 years, boys and girls that visited the Pediatric Department for a check-up prior to initiation of sport activities. Children were generally healthy, had no fever or signs of illness, had not undertaken any therapy, while they had not been ill for the last 3 months.

The study was conducted according to the Declaration of Helsinki and each participant's guardian provided written informed consent. The study protocol was approved by the Medical Ethics Committee of the University Hospital of Ioannina.

On the morning of the study, the personal and family health history were recorded, demographic and anthropometric data were assessed and blood sampling was performed at 8:00am after an overnight fast.

Standing height was measured to the nearest 0.1cm on a wall-mounted stadiometer. Body weight was measured in the morning, with light clothing and no shoes on, on an electronic scale. Waist circumference was measured in a horizontal plane, midway between the inferior margin of the ribs and the superior border of the iliac crest, based on guidelines in the IDF definition for MS for adults and for children (82, 309). The BMI was calculated as weight/height² (kg/m²) and z-scores were derived using the National Greek growth charts. Systolic blood pressure (SBP), diastolic blood pressure (DBP) and heart rate (HR) were assessed with electronic sphygmomanometer at a basal state before any further procedures were initiated, in the morning after overnight fasting and in a calm and quiet environment.

8.2 Methods and Statistical analysis

Serum Analysis

Serum samples were collected after a standard centrifuge procedure and they were either directly assessed or stored at -80 degrees laboratory freezer until their assaying.

The lipid profile analysis included total cholesterol (T Chol), triglycerides (TRG) and high density lipoprotein (HDL) analysis on the analyzer Beckman Coulter AU5800 Clinical Chemistry and low density lipoprotein (LDL) was derived from the Friedewald formula. It included also Apolipoprotein A (apoA), apolipoprotein B (apoB), lipoprotein A [Lp(a)] analysis on the nephelometer Siemens BM ProSpec.

The thyroid function was assessed by determination of free thyroxin (fT4) and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH), 3rd generation (HYPERsensitive hTSH) by ACCESS IMMUNOASSAYS on Beckman Coulter Dx1800 analyzer. The liver function was assessed by the transaminases aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT) on the Beckman Coulter AU5800 Clinical Chemistry analyzer.

Glucose homeostasis was assessed by HOMA-IR as defined by the ratio fasting blood glucose (mg/dl) x fasting blood insulin (μ U/mL)) /405 and the glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) (310, 311). Glucose was analyzed on Beckman Coulter AU5800 Clinical Chemistry analyzer, insulin was measured by ACCESS IMMUNOASSAYS on Beckman Coulter Dx1800 analyzer and HbA1c was measured on Biorad Variant II, HPLC analyzer.

Inflammation was assessed by C reactive protein (CRP) using turbidimetry, IMMAGE Immunochemistry Systems and Calibrator 5 Plus, Bechman Coulter.

The measurement of the biomarkers FGF21, adiponectin, leptin and IGFBP1 was carried out by enzyme-linked immune-assays (ELISA). The commercial kit used for FGF21 was purchased from R&D Systems, MN, USA (Human FGF21 Quantikine ELISA kit). The sensitivity of the method was 4.67 pg/ml and the CVs were 3.9% and 10.9% for intra and inter assays respectively. For adiponectin (Human adiponectin

ELISA) was used the kit by Biovendor (Research and Diagnostic Products, Brno Czech Republic). The sensitivity of the method was 26 ng/ml and the respective CVs were 5.9% and 6.3%. For leptin (Leptin Sandwich ELISA) the kit used was by DRG Instrs GmbH, Germany). The sensitivity of the method was 1.0 ng/ml and the CVs 6% and 9% respectively. IGFBP1 was measured by using the kit by DIA Source, (IGFBP-1 ELISA KARME 01, Belgium) respectively. The sensitivity of the method was 0.02 ng/ml and the respective CVs 5.2% and 5.9%.

Ultrasound studies

All studies were performed with the participants fasted for at least 6 hours and all measurements were taken in the supine position in a quiet environment, and in a temperature controlled room (~22°C). An Echo-Doppler ultrasound (Ultrasound ATL, HDI 5000, Bothell, WA, USA) and a 5-12 MHz transducer was used for optimal imaging of the brachial and common carotid arteries.

FMD Protocol: Endothelial function was assessed in all participants by measurement of endothelium-dependent vasodilation in the right brachial artery in response to hand hyperemia, based on previously described methodology according to recently published recommendations in children and adolescents (242, 274). Images were acquired at baseline and every 30 seconds, from the first to the third minute after deflation of a wrist cuff inflated to 250 mmHg for 4 min for measurement of FMD. Brachial artery blood flow was measured by continuous wave Doppler at baseline and 15 seconds after cuff release. FMD was calculated as the maximum percent increase in arterial diameter during the first 3 minutes of hyperemia compared with the diameter at rest.

Carotid artery protocol: Common carotid artery (CCA) IMT measurement was performed in all participants using a standardized protocol published previously based on recently published recommendations in children and adolescents (242, 274). Three consecutive longitudinal images of each CCA 1–2 cm proximal to the bifurcation were acquired. Measurements were always made at the far wall of the artery. The mean value of IMT for right and left CCA was obtained by averaging the three measurements at

each artery. Finally, the mean carotid IMT of the CCAs was determined. Off-line analysis and measurement of brachial artery end-diastolic diameter and IMT were performed by another blinded operator by means of the software QLAB (Philips Ultrasound, Bothell, WA, USA) with manual and automatic (for brachial and carotid artery respectively) determination of the relative vascular wall margins. Measurements were made at end-diastole coincident with the R-wave on electrocardiogram. In studies performed on two separate days (7-10 days apart) in 10 subjects by a single operator, the within-subject coefficient of variation of FMD and IMT were 6.9% and 1.5% respectively.

Shear stimulus and normalised FMD

Shear rate is an estimate of shear stress without viscosity and was used to quantify the stimulus for FMD. Shear rate was calculated as mean blood flow velocity/vessel diameter. The peak of the shear stress stimulus created with reactive hyperemia occurs within the first seconds post cuff-release, and thus, the brachial artery mean blood flow velocity at 15 sec post cuff-release was used for calculating the peak shear rate (312).

The magnitude of imposed shear stress stimulus has great importance on influencing the magnitude of FMD (313, 314). Thus, to compare the FMD response between subjects and groups taking into account any variations in the magnitude of the shear stress stimulus, the FMD response was normalized to the magnitude of the shear stimulus (315). For that purpose, peak %FMD during the first 90 sec (i.e. within the time that the peak vessel diameter adaptation is typically observed) was divided by the peak shear rate computed a few seconds post cuff-release as described above.

Statistical analysis

The normality of the data was tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and most variables of interest (including FGF21, leptin, HOMA-IR, IGFBP1 and normalized FMD) were found to deviate significantly from the normal distribution. Accordingly, continuous variables are presented as median [interquartile range (IQR)]. Non-parametric analysis with the Mann-Whitney test was employed for comparing

continuous variables between two groups. The correlation between continuous variables was studied using the Spearman's rho (ρ) correlation coefficient. Receiver-operating curve analysis was performed to identify the best cut-offs (Youden index: max [Sensitivity and Specificity]) of biomarkers (FGF21 and leptin) for the diagnosis of MS. Univariable and multivariable logistic regression analysis was performed to investigate the association of biomarkers (FGF21 and leptin) with MS as well as the independent predictive value of the biomarkers for the presence of MS. The level of significance was set at p<0.05. The SPSS statistical software package (version 17.0 for Windows, SPSS Inc., USA) was used for the analysis.

8.3 Results

8.3.1 Descriptives

Seventy eight children, mean age 12.4 (IQR 10.3-14.9) years were included in the study. The weight median was 54.3 (IQR 40.1-70.3) kg and the height median was 157.0 (IQR 142.0-166.2) cm. The WC was calculated in our children with a median value 75.0 (IQR 65.7-88.3) cm and the median value for the BMI was 23.0 (IQR 18.1-27.7) kg/m² (**Table 4**).

Table 4. Population Demographics

VARIBALE	
TOTAL NUMBER	78
AGE (years)	12.4 (10.3-14.9)
WEIGHT (kilograms)	54.3 (40.1-70.3)
HEIGHT (cm)	157.0 (142.0-166.2)
WAIST CIRC (cm)	75.0 (65.7-88.3)
BMI (kg/m ²)	23.0 (18.1-27.7)

8.3.2. Glucose and Lipid Profile

From the serum analysis in our population, an overall normal lipid profile was observed with a possible presence of insulin resistance within the population as the median values for HbA1c/Hb (x100) %, insulin and HOMA-IR were increased.

Lipid profile: T Chol 162.2 (Interquartile range (IQR) 136.5-193.5) mg/dl, TRG 68.0 (IQR 45.6-127.5) mg/dl, HDL 46.0 (IQR 38.5-55.5) mg/dl, LDL 99.0 (IQR77.7-125.0) mg/dl, Lp(a) 7.4 (IQR 4.2-21.2) mg/dl, ApoA 139.0 (IQR 127.0-151.2) mg/dl, ApoB 71.7 (IQR 55.5-89.7) mg/dl.

<u>Glucose metabolism:</u> Glu 85.0 (IQR 79.0-92.0) mg/dl, HbA1c/Hb (x100) 5.4 (IQR 5.0-5.5)%, Insulin 9.0 (IQR 5.4-18.3)µU/ml, HOMA-IR 2.0 (IQR 1.1-3.9) (**Table 5**).

Variable	Median	Interquartile range
T Chol (mg/dl)	162.2	136.5-193.5
TRG (mg/dl)	68.0	46.5-127.5
HDL (mg/dl)	46.0	38.5-55.5
LDL (mg/dl)	99.0	77.7-125.0
Lp(a) (mg/dl)	7.4	4.2- 1.2
ApoA (mg/dl)	139.0	127.0-151.2
ApoB (mg/dl)	71.7	55.5-89.7
АроВ/АроА	0.55	0.39-0.65
Glu (mg/dl)	85.0	79.0-92.0
HbA1c/Hb (x100) %	5.4	5.0-5.5
Insulin (µU/ml)	9.0	5.4-18.3
HOMA-IR	2.0	1.1-3.9

8.3.3 Biochemical Function and Serum Biomarkers

To assure the hepatic and thyroid intact function, we measured serum transaminases ALT, AST, T4 and TSH level in all our children and verified they were normal. To assess for inflammation, serum CRP was determined and was found within the normal range. Median values for these parameters were as follows: AST 21.0 (IQR 18.0-28.5) IU/l, ALT 16.0 (IQR 12.0-22.0) IU/l, TSH 2.0 (IQR 1.5-2.6) µIU/ml, fT4 0.8 (IQR 0.8-0.9) ng/dl, CRP 2 (IQR 1.8-5.0) mg/l (**Table 5**).

Furthermore, serum biomarkers of metabolic relevance were assessed: FGF21, leptin, adiponectin and IGFBP1. For leptin, increased overall levels were observed 9.4 (IQR 2.4-18.0) ng/ml, based on expected normal values suggested by the kit provider (males 3.84 ± 1.79 and females 7.36 ± 3.73 ng/mL). However, higher levels (3.3 up to 18.3 ng/mL) have been described elsewhere as normally expected for females, while pediatric reference values are not specified (316). IGFBP1 values measured in the serum of our population were within the normal expected levels 2.1 (IQR 1.3-5.2) ng/ml, described by the kit provider (males 0.42-17.94 and females 0.23-16.7 ng/ml). As with leptin, no specified pediatric reference values are reported.

The range of normal values for adiponectin, varies depending on the BMI. The levels found in our population, 8.3 (IQR 6.4-9.2) μ g/ml, were within the normal low male reference range for all BMI categories, as suggested by the provider of the kit. These levels were lower than expected for the healthy BMI (<25 kg/m²) female category. Interestingly, the levels of adiponectin observed in our population were within the normal range for the overweight female BMI category, while they were borderline low for the obese female BMI category, based on the reference values provided by the kit manufacturer. However, elsewhere defined reference ranges position the overall levels circulating adiponectin in our population within the normal for gender and BMI category (**Table 6**) (316).

Variable	BMI (kg/m ²)	n	Mean (µg/ml)	SD (µg/ml)
Men	<25	41	10.9	4.0
	25-30	52	8.8	4.0
	>30	23	8.3	2.8
	Total	115	9.5	3.9
Women	<25	92	13.6	5.4
	25-30	56	13.9	8.6
	>30	57	11.4	3.8
	Total	220	13.2	6.1

 Table 6. Adiponectin Reference Range Values (Reproduced from reference 316)

FGF21 circulating levels, 72.5 (IQR 27.4-114.3) pg/ml, were within the expected detectable levels suggested by the manufacturer of the kit, however there is little information on normal range and much less on relation to gender or age (199, 317). Human studies suggest that FGF21 levels have small diurnal variation (155). It is suggested that in healthy humans, FGF21 serum concentrations show marked inter-individual variation (148, 155).

The ratios between leptin and adiponectin and between FGF21 and adiponectin were calculated. We sought these on the insight that the ratio leptin / adiponectin has been suggested in healthy subjects and in patients with T2DM, as a clinical biomarker of atherosclerosis assessed by PWV and/or cIMT (318, 319). Leptin levels are increased in the serum of obese people and correlate strongly to BMI and fat tissue (123). Increased serum levels of leptin have been proposed as a CVD risk factor (320). On the other hand, adiponectin serum levels are low in obese people and have been shown to be associated with increased risk for CVD (321-323). We further speculated that there may be a similar ratio between FGF21 and adiponectin, since FGF21 is a potent lipid and glucose regulator similar to leptin, albeit secreted from liver as opposed to leptin which is an adipokine. FGF21 is shown to be increased in the serum of obese people and the aim of our study was to explore the possible role of this molecule as a biomarker of

atherosclerosis. In our population, the ratios in the overall population studied were for leptin/adiponectin 1.34 and for FGF21/adiponectin 8.0.

The results are shown in Table 7.

Table 7. Biomarkers and hormones in the study population.

Variable	Median	Interquartile Range
AST (IU/I)	21.0	18.0-28.5
ALT (IU/I)	16.0	12.0-22.0
CRP (mg/L)	2.0	1.8-5.0
fT4 (ng/dl)	0.8	0.8-0.9
TSH (μIU/ml)	1.9	1.5-2.6
FGF21 (pg/ml)	72.5	27.4-114.3
Leptin (ng/ml)	9.4	2.4-18.0
Leptin/Adiponectin	1.3	0.3-2.4
FGF21/Adiponectin	8.0	3-17
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.3	6.4-9.2
IGFBP1 (ng/ml)	2.1	1.3-5.2

Chapter 9: Gender differences

9.1 Descriptives by Gender

The population included 42 boys and 36 girls, and the mean age was calculated to be 11.9 (9.8-14.2) years for boys and 13.4 (11.2-15.3) years for girls. The females showed a tendency for higher mean weight values and higher BMI in comparison to the boys (**Table 8**).

Table 8. Descriptives by gender

Variable	BOYS (n=42)	GIRLS (n=36)
AGE (years)	11.9 (9.8-14.2)	13.4 (11.2-15.3)
WEIGHT	51 (36.1-62.2)	61.5 (44.7-74.0)
(kilograms)		
HEIGHT (cm)	153.5 (136.6-168.0)	158.0 (150.5-164.7)
WAIST CIRC	74.0 (63.0-87.6)	75.5 (70.0-90.7)
(cm)		
BMI (kg/m^2)	20.2 (17.1-25.6)	24.4 (20.2-29.2)

9.2 Assessment of BMI Category by Gender

For the 2 genders, the normal BMI, overweight and obese subjects are shown in Figure 17. The male population included 23 normal BMI, 8 overweight and 11 obese boys. The female population consisted of 15 normal BMI, 5 overweight and 16 obese girls (**Figure 17**).



Figure 17. Normal BMI, overweight and obese children in the two genders.

9.3 BMI by Age and Gender

The two genders were enrolled in our protocol in a random fashion. Therefore, their weight was assessed separately for age by year and a consistently higher weight was observed in the females. Exemption to this was evidenced for the age of 12 years for which males were found to have a higher weight compared to females (**Figure 18**).



Figure 18. BMI by age and gender

9.4 Obesity by Gender

When the obesity rate, based on age and gender specific BMI percentiles, was assessed, the following were observed: the overweight/obesity rate was 45% of the male group and 58.3% of the female group. The overweight/obesity rate in the total population (both genders included) was 24.35% for the boys and 26.9% for the girls and the overall overweight/obesity rate in our population independently of gender was 51.3% (**Figure 19**).



Figure 19. Obesity rate by gender.

Chapter 10: BMI differences: Obese/overweight vs. Normal BMI children.

10.1 Assessment of Paediatric Population Based on BMI

Our population was divided in groups based on the BMI category. Percentile curves specific for age and gender were used to define the normal BMI, the overweight and the obese children. We then analyzed the data collected based on the BMI category. The two groups will be described as normal BMI group and high BMI group (overweight/obese group).

There was no difference in age [normal BMI 13.1 (IQR 10.4-15.3) years vs. high BMI 12.3 (10.2-14.3) years, p=0.5] or in height [normal BMI 155.0 (138.0-165.5) cm vs. 158.0 (145.5-167.0) cm, p=0.39] between the two groups.

The liver function [AST: normal BMI 21.5 (17.5-28.5) IU/l vs. high BMI 21.0 (18.0-28.5) IU/l, p=0.9 and ALT: normal BMI 14.5 (11.0-18.0) IU/l vs. high BMI 17.0 (12.0-27.0) IU/l, p=0.08] and the thyroid function (fT4: normal BMI 0.8 (0.8-1.0) ng/dl vs. high BMI 0.8 (0.7-0.9) ng/dl, p=0.15 and TSH: normal BMI 1.8 (1.5-2.6) μ IU/ml vs. high BMI 2.0 (1.5-2.6) μ IU/ml, p=0.99] were normal in both groups. However, ALT levels ahowed a trend to be higher in the high BMI group remaining although within normal limits. CRP was significantly higher in the high BMI group [normal BMI 2.0 (1.0-2.8) mg/l vs. high BMI 3.5 (2.0-7.0) mg/l, p<0.001], consistent with an expected degree of subclinical inflammation in this group. However, CRP values did not exceed the higher normal limits. Results are shown in Table 9.

Variable	Normal BMI (n=37)	High BMI (n=41)	P value			
DESCRIPTIVES						
Age (years)	13.1 (10.4-15.3)	12.3 (10.2-14.3)	0.5			
Weight (kg)	41.0 (31.0-57.5)	68.0 (52.0-86.0)	< 0.001			
Height (cm)	155.0 (138.0-165.5)	158.0 (145.5-167.0)	0.39			
BMI (kg/m ²)	18.0 (16.6-20.3)	27.4 (23.9-29.9)	< 0.001			
WC (cm)	67.0 (59.5-72.5)	88.0 (78.3-95.5)	< 0.001			
LIVER FUNCTION TESTS						
AST (IU/l)	21.5 (17.5-28.5)	21.0 (18.0-28.5)	0.9			
ALT (IU/l)	14.5 (11.0-18.0)	17.0 (12.0-27.0)	0.08			
	INFLAMMATION MARKER					
CRP (mg/l)	2.0 (1.0-2.8)	3.5 (2.0-7.0)	< 0.001			
THYROID FUNCTION TESTS						
fT4 (ng/dl)	0.8 (0.8-1.0)	0.8 (0.7-0.9)	0.15			
TSH µIU/ml)	1.8 (1.5-2.6)	2.0 (1.5-2.6)	0.99			

Table 9. Anthropometrics, liver and thyroid function tests and CRP in the 2 BMI subgroups of our study population.

Regarding glucose homeostasis, the following were observed (results also shown in **Table 10**).

Glucose serum levels did not differ between normal BMI and high BMI groups (normal BMI 84.0 (81.0-93.0)mg/dl vs. high BMI 87.0 (79.0-90.5)mg/dl, p=0.88). Insulin levels were significantly higher in the high BMI group (normal BMI 6.4 (4.6-9.2) μ U/ml vs. high BMI 16.3 (7.6-27.7) μ U/ml, p<0.001). Consistently with insulin levels HOMAIR was also significantly increased in the high BMI group (normal BMI 1.3 (0.9-2.1) vs. high BMI 3.1 (1.7-6.2), p<0.001). HbA1c/Hb(x100)% did not differ between the two groups (normal BMI 5.3 (4.9-5.4) vs. high BMI 5.3 (5.0-5.5), p=0.5) (**Figure 20**).

Variable	Normal BMI (n=37)	High BMI (n=41)	P value			
GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS						
Glucose (mg/dl)	84.0 (81.0-93.0)	87.0 (79.0-90.5)	0.88			
Insulin (µU/ml)	6.4 (4.6-9.2)	16.3 (7.6-27.7)	< 0.001			
HOMAIR	1.3 (0.9-2.1)	3.1 (1.7-6.2)	< 0.001			
HbA1c/Hb(x100)%	5.3 (4.9-5.4)	5.3 (50-5.5)	0.5			
LIPID PROFILE						
T Chol (mg/dl)	162.0 (134.2-193.0)	164.0 (138.5-201.0)	0.8			
TRG (mg/dl)	58.0 (41.3-73.3)	117.0 (62.6-154.0)	< 0.001			
HDL (mg/dl)	51.5 (44.3-57.0)	41.0 (36.0-49.5)	< 0.001			
LDL (mg/dl)	97.0 (77.5-120.0)	97.0 (74.5-130.5)	0.7			
Lp(a) (mg/dl)	9.3 (4.8-25.4)	5.9 (2.6-15.3)	0.09			
ApoA (mg/dl)	145.0 (134.0-155.0)	130.0 (123.0-143.2)	0.006			
ApoB (mg/dl)	71.0 (52.9-81.1)	71.7 (58.3-96.1)	0.1			
ApoB/ApoA	0.47 (0.37-0.60)	0.59 (0.46-0.74)	0.01			

Table 10. Glucose homeostasis and lipid profile in the 2 BMI subgroups of our study population.



Regarding the lipid profile in our population, the following were observed (results also shown in **Table 10**).

T Chol did not differ between the two groups [normal BMI 162.0 (134.2-193.0) mg/dl vs. high BMI 164.0 (138.5-201.0) mg/dl, p=0.8]. Serum TRG were significantly higher in the high BMI compared to the normal BMI group [normal BMI 58.0 (41.3-73.3) mg/dl vs. high BMI 117.0 (62.6-154.0) mg/dl, p<0.001] accompanied by a significant decrease in HDL cholesterol in the high BMI compared to the normal BMI group [normal BMI 51.5 (44.3-57.0) mg/dl vs. high BMI 41.0 (36.0-49.5) mg/dl, p<0.001]. The LDL serum levels did not differ between the two groups [normal BMI 97.0 (77.5-120.0) mg/dl vs. high BMI 97.0 (74.5-130.5) mg/dl, p=0.07]. Serum lipoprotein levels shifted to a more atherogenic profile with a trend to decrease in Lp(a) and a trend to increase in ApoB in the high BMI group [Lp(a): normal BMI 91.0 (52.9-81.1) mg/dl vs. high BMI 71.7 (58.3-96.1) mg/dl, p=0.1]. ApoA showed a significant decrease and ApoB/ApoA ratio showed a significant increase in the high BMI 130.0

(123.0-143.2), p=0.006 and ApoB/ApoA: normal BMI 0.47 (0.37-0.60) vs. high BMI 0.59 (0.46-0.74), p=0.01] (**Figure 21**).





Variable	Normal BMI (n=37)	High BMI (n=41)	P value
I	NEWER METABOLI	C MARKERS	
FGF21 (pg/ml)	30.4 (13.8-92.6)	73.6 (41.6-127.8)	0.02
Leptin (ng/ml)	2.8 (1.1-8.7)	16.8 (9.6-30.4)	< 0.001
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.5 (6.8-9.6)	7.6 (5.9-8.9)	0.16
IGFBP1 (ng/ml)	2.8 (1.8-7.9)	1.8 (1.1-3.0)	0.002
Leptin/Adiponectin	0.37 (0.13-1.43)	2.21 (1.1-4.1)	< 0.001
FGF21/Adiponectin	4.5 (1.6-12.0)	11.1 (5.2-26.5)	0.006

Table 11. Newer metabolic biomarkers in the 2 BMI subgroups of our study population

FGF21 serum levels were significantly increased in the high BMI compared to the normal BMI group [normal BMI 30.4 (13.8-92.6) pg/ml vs. high BMI 73.6 (41.6-127.8) pg/ml, p=0.02]. Leptin serum levels were significantly increased in the high BMI compared to the normal BMI group [normal BMI 2.8 (1.1-8.7) ng/ml vs. high BMI 16.8 (9.6-30.4) ng/ml, p<0.001]. Adiponectin serum levels show a weak trend to decrease in the high BMI group compared to the normal BMI group [normal BMI group [normal BMI 8.5 (6.8-9.6) μ g/ml vs. high BMI 7.6 (5.9-8.9) μ g/ml, p=0.16]. IGFBP1 serum levels significantly decreased in the high BMI versus the normal BMI group [normal BMI 2.8 (1.8-7.9) ng/ml vs. high BMI 1.8 (1.1-3.0) ng/ml, p=0.002]. Both leptin / adiponectin and FGF21 / adiponectin ratios showed a significant increase in the high BMI versus the normal BMI 0.37 (0.13-1.43) vs. high BMI 2.21 (1.1-4.1), p<0.001 and FGF21/adiponectin: normal BMI 4.5 (1.6-12.0) vs. high BMI 11.1 (5.2-26.5), p=0.006] (**Figure 22**).



Figure 22. Leptin, adiponectin, IGFBP1, FGF21 levels and leptin/adiponectin and FGF21/adiponectin ratios in the normal BMI versus the high BMI group.

To assess the endothelial function in our pediatric population, we used FMD and cIMT. We observed a significant decrease of normalized FMD in the high BMI group [0.09 (0.04-0.12) vs. 0.06 (0.04-0.09), p=0.04] indicating early signs of endothelial damage in obese/overweight children. cIMT was not significantly different between the two groups (**Figure 23**).



Figure 23. Endothelial function in obese/overweight versus normal BMI children. Panel A: FMD in normal BMI vs. High BMI children (0.09 vs. 0.06), p=0.04. Panel B: cIMT in normal BMI vs. High BMI children (0.45mm vs. 0.46mm), p=0.26.

Chapter 11: Metabolic Health Assessment

11.1 Definition and Descriptives

Even though obesity is linked to adverse metabolic consequences for the living organism, a benign type of obesity has been described in adults which differentiates from the malignant obesity in lacking adverse metabolic effects (324, 325). Metabolically benign obesity is not accompanied by insulin resistance and early atherosclerosis as assessed by cIMT in adults (180). This type of obesity may represent as much as 20% of the obese population (326-328). Furthermore, in the differentiation of this phenotype of obesity, ectopic fat in the liver may be more important than visceral fat.

We based our definition of metabolically unhealthy on the following criteria (204):

- HOMAIR ≥ 3
- TRG ≥ 110 mg/dl
- HDL ≤40mg/dl
- fasting blood glucose ≥ 100 mg/dl
- SBP \geq 130mmHg and
- DBP ≥85 mmHg

In our population 4 groups were formed based on BMI and presence of criteria for metabolically unhealthy status as follows (**Figure 24**):

- 1. Children with normal weight without any of the criteria therefore metabolically healthy (NMH)
- 2. Children with normal weight with at least one of the criteria therefore metabolically unhealthy (NMU)
- 3. Children with obesity without any criteria (OMH)
- 4. Children with obesity with at least one of the criteria (OMU)



Figure 24. Subgroups in our population based on BMI and presence of criteria for metabolically unhealthy status.

11.2 Results

Comparison within the formed groups of all available data indicated the following (Tables 12 - 17).

Table 12. Laboratory investigations in the children with normal weight considered to be metabolically healthy (NMH) and children with normal weight considered to be metabolically unhealthy (NMU).

Variable*	NMH (n=26)	NMU (n=11)	p VALUE			
GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS						
Glucose (mg/dl)	84.0 (78.091.0)	90.0 (83.0-99.0)	p=0.06			
Insulin (µU/ml)	5.8 (4.3-7.4)	9.5 (5.6-18.5)	p=0.03			
HOMAIR	1.27 (0.89-1.6)	2.22 (1.14-4.10)	p=0.04			
	THYROID FUNCT	FION TESTS				
TSH (µIU/ml)	1.6 (1.4-2.4)	2.5 (1.8-2.7)	p=0.03			
fT4 (ng/dl)	0.88 (0.81-1.0)	0.80 (0.75-0.93)	p=0.07			
	LIPID PRO	FILE				
$Lp(\alpha)$ (mg/dl)	11.0 (4.6-24.1)	8.1 (5.3-37.4)	p=1.0			
ApoA (mg/dl)	145.0 (137.0-155.5)	136.0 (118.0-157.7)	p=0.2			
ApoB (mg/dl)	67.4 (51.7-78.5)	79.8 (57.8-92.7)	p=0.1			
ApoB/ApoA	0.44 (0.35-0.56)	0.54 (0.46-0.63)	p=0.04			
TRGL (mg/dl)	55.0 (39.5-67.5)	71.0 (44.0-112.0)	p=0.09			
HDL (mg/dl)	53.0 (47.5-57.5)	45.0 (39-57)	p=0.08			
	NEWER METABOL	IC MARKERS				
FGF21 (pg/ml)	28.7 (11.0-91.0)	86.2 (28.2-107.9)	p=0.07			
Leptin (ng/ml)	2.8 (1.0-9.9)	3.9 (2.2-8.1)	p=0.7			
IGFBP1 (ng/ml)	3.0 (1.8-7.2)	2.3 (1.5-9.9)	p=0.8			
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.5 (7.0-9.5)	8.0 (5.5-9.8)	p=0.6			
FGF21/Adiponectin	3.1 (1.5-10.3)	8.3 (3.7-13.3)	p=0.05			

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

When **NMU** children were compared to **NMH**, significant differences were observed with an increase in serum insulin [9.5 (5.6-18.5) vs. 5.8 (4.3-7.4) μ U/ml, p=0.03], in HOMAIR [2.22 (1.14-4.10) vs. 1.27 (0.89-1.6), p=0.04] and surprisingly also in TSH [2.5 (1.8-2.7) vs. 1.6 (1.4-2.4) μ IU/ml, p=0.03] with a concomitant trend to decrease in fT4 [0.80 (0.75-0.93) vs. 0.88 (0.81-1.0) ng/dl, p=0.07] in NMU vs NMH respectively. A trend for an increase was also found for serum Glu [90.0 (83.0-99.0) vs. 84.0 (78.0-91.0) mg/dl, p=0.06], TRG [71 (44.0-112.0) vs. 55 (39.5-67.5) mg/dl, p=0.09], and FGF21 [86.2 (28.2-107.9) vs. 28.7 (11.0-91.0) pg/ml, p=0.07] in NMU vs NMH respectively. A trend for a decrease was observed for HDL [45.0 (39.0-57.0) vs. 53.0 (47.5-57.5) mg/dl, p=0.08], while ApoB/ApoA ratio was increased [0.54 (0.46-0.63) vs. 0.44 (0.35-0.56), p=0.04] in NMU vs. NMH respectively. FGF21/adiponectin ratio was increased [8.3 (3.7-13.3) vs. 3.1 (1.5-10.3), p=0.05] in NMU vs. NMH respectively (**Figure 25**).No differences were found in vascular indices between the 2 groups, FMD in NMU vs. NMH [0.09 (0.04-0.21) vs. 0.07 (0.04-0.12), p=0.66] and cIMT [0.43 (0.38-0.48) vs. 0.45 (0.42-0.48)mm, p=0.38] respectively.


Table 13. Laboratory investigations in the children with obesity considered to be metabolically healthy (OMH) and children with obesity considered to be metabolically unhealthy (OMU). No differences were found in FGF21, adiponectin and IGFBP1 or the other serum analysis between the 2 groups.

Variable*	OMH (n=7)	OMU (n=34)	p VALUE		
Age	9.9 (9.5-13.8)	12.4 (11.4-14.6)	p=0.05		
	GLUCOSE HO	OMEOSTASIS			
Insulin (µU/ml)	5.2 (3.9-9.2)	17.7 (10.4-28.3)	p=0.002		
HOMAIR	1.1 (0.8-2.0)	3.7 (2.1-6.5)	P=0.002		
LIPID PROFILE					
TRG (mg/dl)	53.0 (43.0-94.0)	130.0 (69.5-157.7)	p=0.007		
ApoA (mg/dl)	142 (129.0-155.0)	129 (114.0-141.0)	p=0.1		
HDL (mg/dl)	48 (42.0-58.0)	38.5 (34.7-49.0)	p=0.02		
NEWER METABOLIC MARKERS					
Leptin (ng/ml)	10.3 (5.8-13.8)	18.1 (10.7-31.5)	p=0.09		
FGF21 (pg/ml)	97.7 (8.1-120.0)	73.55 (48.7-136.6)	p=0.7		
IGFBP1 (ng/ml)	2.6 (1.0-5.0)	1.5 (1.1-2.9)	p=0.4		
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.5 (3.5-11.0)	7.3 (5.9-8.9)	p=0.7		

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

Within the obese groups, a difference was observed in age with **OMU** being older in comparison to the **OMH** children [12.4 (11.4-14.6) vs. 9.9 (9.5-13.8) years, p=0.05]. In the OMU compared to OMH, an increase of serum insulin [17.7 (10.4-28.3) vs. 5.2 (3.9-9.2) μ U/ml, p=0.002], TRG [130.0 (69.5-157.7) vs. 53.0 (43.0-94.0) mg/dl, p=0.007], HOMAIR [3.7 (2.1-6.5) vs. 1.1 (0.8-2.0), p=0.002] and a trend for an increase in serum leptin concentrations [18.1 (10.7-31.5) vs. 10.3 (5.8-13.8) ng/ml,

p=0.09] was observed. A significant decrease in serum HDL [38.5 (34.7-49.0) vs. 48 (42.0-58.0) mg/dl, p=0.02] and a trend for a decrease in serum ApoA [129 (114.0-141.0) vs. 142 (129.0-155.0) mg/dl, p=0.1] was observed in OMU vs OMH respectively (**Figure 26**). No differences were found in vascular indices between the 2 groups. FMD in OMU compared to OMH [0.05 (0.03-0.08) vs. 0.06 (0.05-0.10), p=0.4] and cIMT [0.46 (0.43-0.49) vs. 0.48 (0.46-0.49)mm, p=0.2], respectively.



Figure 26. Biochemical profile in obese children based on their metabolic health status. Panel A: Glucose homeostasis with significantly increased insulin and HOMAIR in the OMU vs. the OMH group. Panel B: Lipid profile with significant increase of TRG and decrease of HDL and trending decrease ApoA in the OMU vs. the OMH group. Panel C: Leptin serum levels trending higher in the OMU vs. the OMH group

Finally, a comparison between the **NMH** and **OMU** groups resulted as the most meaningful comparison between the 2 far ends of the whole obesity-metabolic health spectrum (results are shown in **Table 14**). This comparison showed that except for the difference in various metabolic markers, there was a trend towards reduced FMD [0.06 (0.04-0.09) vs. 0.07 (0.04-0.12), p=0.09] and thus early endothelial dysfunction, while cIMT did not differ significantly between the 2 groups.

A significant increase was observed when OMU was compared to NMH in CRP [3 (2-7) vs. 2 (1-2) mg/dl, p=0.001)] insulin [17.7 (10.4-28.3) vs. 5.8 (4.3-7.3) μ U/ml, p<0.001], ApoB/ApoA ratio [0.60 (0.40-0.75) vs. 0.44 (0.35-0.57). p=0.005], TRG [130.0 (69.5-157.7) vs. 55.0 (39.5-67.5) mg/dl, p<0.001], WC [87.7 (57.2-72.2) vs. 65.5 (78.8-98.8 cm), p<0.001], HOMAIR [3.7 (2.1-6.5) vs. 1.3 (0.9-1.6), p<0.001], leptin [18.1 (10.7-31.5) vs. 2.8 (1.0-10.0) ng/ml, p<0.001], FGF21 [73.5 (48.7-136.6) vs. 28.7 (11.0-91.0) pg/ml, p=0.003], and a trend towards increase in ApoB [71.7 (57.8-96.1) vs. 67.4 (51.7-78.4) mg/dl, p=0.07] and ALT [17.5 (12.7-28.2) vs. 14.0 (10.5-18.5) IU/l, p=0.06). A decrease was observed for serum fT4 [0.80 (0.75-0.90) vs. 0.88 (0.82-1.0) ng/dl, p=0.03], ApoA [129.0 (114.0-141.0) vs. 145.0 (137.0-145.5) mg/dl, p=0.001], HDL [38.5 (34.7-49.0) vs. 53.0 (47.5-57.5) mg/dl, p<0.001], IGFBP1 [1.5 (1.1-2.8) vs. 3.0 (1.8-7.2) ng/ml, p=0.08] (Figures 27 and 28).

Table 14. Laboratory and vascular investigations in children with normal BMI considered to be metabolically healthy (NMH) and children with obesity considered to be metabolically unhealthy (OMU).

Variables*	NMH (n=26)	OMU (n=34)	p VALUE			
WC (cm)	65.5 (78.8-98.8)	87.7 (57.2-72.2)	p<0.001			
GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS						
Insulin (µU/ml)	5.8 (4.3-7.3)	17.7 (10.4-28.3)	p<0.001			
HOMAIR	1.3 (0.9-1.6)	3.7 (2.1-6.5)	p<0.001			
	LIPID PROF	ILE				
TRG (mg/dl)	55.0 (39.5-67.5)	130.0 (69.5-157.7)	p<0.001			
HDL (mg/dl)	53.0 (47.5-57.5)	38.5 (34.7-49.0)	p<0.001			
ApoA (mg/dl)	145.0 (137.0-	129.0 (114.0-141.0)	p=0.001			
	145.5)					
ApoB (mg/dl)	67.4 (51.7-78.4)	71.7 (57.8-96.1)	p=0.07			
ApoB/ApoA ratio	0.44 (0.35-0.57)	0.60 (0.40-0.75)	p=0.005			
LIVER FUNCTION TESTS						
ALT (IU/I)	14.0 (10.5-18.5)	17.5 (12.7-28.2)	p=0.06			
THYROID FUNCTION TESTS						
fT4 (ng/dl)	0.88 (0.82-1.0)	0.80 (0.75-0.90)	p=0.03			
NEWER METABOLIC MARKERS						
CRP (mg/dl)	2 (1-2)	3 (2-7)	p=0.001			
FGF21 (pg/ml)	28.7 (11.0-91.0)	73.5 (48.7-136.6)	p=0.003			
Leptin (ng/ml)	2.8 (1.0-10.0)	18.1 (10.7-31.5)	p<0.001			
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.5 (7.0-9.5)	7.3 (5.9-8.8)	p=0.08			
IGFBP1(ng/ml)	3.0 (1.8-7.2)	1.5 (1.1-2.8)	p=0.002			
ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION						
FMD	0.07 (0.04-0.12)	0.06 (0.04-0.09)	p=0.09			
cIMT (mm)	0.45 (0.43-0.48)	0.46 (0.43-0.49)	p=0.77			

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)



Figure 27. Biochemical profile in normal BMI metabolically healthy (NMH) children compared to obese children metabolically unhealthy (OMU). Panel A: Glucose homeostasis with significant increase in insulin and HOMAIR levels in OMU vs. NMH group. Panel B: Lipid profile with significant increase in serum TRG and a trend towards an increase in serum ApoB, significant decrease in serum HDL and ApoA in OMU vs. NMH group. Panel C: significant increase in serum IGFBP1 levels and a trend towards a decrease in serum adiponectin levels in the OMU vs. the NMH group.



Furthermore, we evaluated the remaining comparisons between the NMU and the OMH between the NMU and the OMU and finally between the NMU and the OMH. Results are shown in **Tables 15-17**.

Table 15. Laboratory investigations in the children with normal BMI considered to be metabolically healthy (NMH) and children with obesity considered to be metabolically healthy (OMH).

Variable*	NMH (n=26)	OMH (n=7)	p VALUE			
WC (cm)	65.5 (57.3-72.3)	88.8 (68.0-95.0)	p=0.01			
NEWER METABOLIC MARKERS						
Leptin (ng/ml)	2.8 (1.0-10.0)	10.3 (5.8-13.8)	p=0.09			
Leptin/Adiponectin	0.36 (0.1-1.4)	2.0 (0.65-3.5)	p=0.04			
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.5 (7.0-9.5)	8.5 (3.5-11.0)	p=0.85			

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

Between NMH and OMH there was a difference in WC [65.5 (57.3-72.3) vs. 88.8 (68.0-95.0) cm, p=0.01] and there was really not much other difference in any of the parameters studied except for a weak trend for increased leptin and a significant increase in the ratio leptin/adiponectin in the obese group [2.8 (1.0-10.0) vs. 10.3 (5.8-13.8)ng/ml, p=0.09 for leptin and 0.36 (0.1-1.4) vs. 2.0 (0.65-3.5), p=0.04] for leptin/adiponectin respectively). Vascular indices did not differ significantly between the two groups (data not shown).

Table 16. Laboratory investigations in the children with normal BMI considered to be metabolically unhealthy (NMU) and children with obesity considered to be metabolically unhealthy (OMU).

Variable*	NMU (n=11)	OMU (n=34)	p VALUE		
WC (cm)	70.0 (65.0-73.0)	87.7 (78.8-96.8)	p<0.001		
	GLUCOSE HOME	COSTASIS			
Insulin (µU/ml)	9.5 (5.6-18.5)	17.7 (10.4-28.3)	p=0.06		
	LIPID PROF	ILE			
TRG (mg/dl)	71.0 (44.0-112.0)	130.0 (69.5-157.7)	p=0.02		
NEWER METABOLIC MARKERS					
CRP (mg/dl)	2 (1.0-3.0)	3 (2.0-7.0)	p=0.03		
Leptin (ng/ml)	3.9 (2.2-8.1)	18.1 (10.7-31.5)	p<0.001		
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.0 (5.5-9.8)	7.3 (5.9-8.8)	p=0.6		
Leptin/Adiponectin	0.37 (0.27-1.5)	2.4 (1.2-4.5)	p<0.001		
IGFBP1(ng/ml)	2.3 (1.5-10.0)	1.5 (1.1-2.8)	p=0.03		
ENDOTHELIAL FUNCTION					
FMD	0.09 (0.04-0.21)	0.06 (0.04-0.09)	p=0.05		
cIMT (mm)	0.43 (0.38-0.49)	0.46 (0.43-0.49)	p=0.42		

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

The metabolically unhealthy normal weight and obese groups showed significant difference in WC [70.0 (65.0-73.0) vs. 87.7 (78.8-96.8) cm, p<0.001]. Insulin serum level was higher in the OMU vs. NMU [17.7 (10.4-28.3) vs. 9.5 (5.6-18.5) μ U/ml, p=0.06]. Serum TRG levels were higher in the OMU, remaining however within the normal limits, when compared to NMU [130.0 (69.5-157.7) vs. 71.0 (44.0-112.0) mg/dl, p=0.02]. CRP was higher in the OMU vs. NMU [3 (2.0-7.0) vs. 2 (1.0-3.0) mg/dl, p=0.03]. From the biomarkers studied, leptin as well as leptin/adiponectin ratio were significantly increased in the OMU vs. the NMU group [18.1 (10.7-31.5) vs. 3.9 (2.2-8.1) ng/ml, p<0.001 and 2.4 (1.2-4.5) vs. 0.37 (0.27-1.5), p<0.001] respectively. IGFBP1 was significantly decreased in the OMU vs. the NMU [1.5 (1.1-2.8) vs. 2.3 (1.5-10.0) ng/ml, p=0.03]. FMD was decreased in the OMU vs. the NMU group [0.06 (0.04-0.09) vs. 0.09 (0.04-0.21), p=0.05] (results shown in **Table 16).**

Table 17. Laboratory investigations in the children with normal BMI considered to be

 metabolically unhealthy (NMU) and children with obesity considered to be

 metabolically healthy (OMH).

Variable*	NMU (n=11)	OMH (n=7)	p VALUE			
Age (years)	13.1 (10.8-15.1)	9.8 (9.4-13.8)	p=0.05			
GLUCOSE HOMEOSTASIS						
Glucose (mg/dl)	90.0 (83.0-99.0)	81.0 (74.0-88.0)	p=0.03			
NEWER METABOLIC MARKERS						
Leptin (ng/ml)	3.9 (2.2-8.1)	10.3 (5.8-13.8)	p=0.08			
Adiponectin (µg/ml)	8.0 (5.5-9.8)	8.5 (3.5-11.0)	p=0.96			
Leptin/Adiponectin	0.37 (0.3-1.5)	2.0 (0.6-3.5)	p=0.06			

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

Between NMU and OMH children, it was observed that the NMU were significantly older in comparison to the OMH children [13.1 (10.8-15.1) vs. 9.8 (9.4-13.8) years, p=0.05]. Glucose serum levels were significantly higher in the NMU vs. the OMH group [90.0 (83.0-99.0) vs. 81.0 (74.0-88.0) mg/dl, p=0.03]. Serum leptin and leptin/adiponectin ratio showed a trend towards an increase in the OMH group compared to the NMU group [10.3 (5.8-13.8) vs. 3.9 (2.2-8.1) ng/ml, p=0.08 and 2.0 (0.6-3.5) vs. 0.37 (0.3-1.5], p=0.06 respectively) (results shown in **Table 17**).

Chapter 12: Metabolic Syndrome in Children

12.1 Definition

The IDF definition criteria were used to determine the diagnosis of Metabolic Syndrome MS) in our population. Children aged 10-16 years were diagnosed with MS if they had a $WC \ge 90^{th}$ percentile, AND ≥ 2 from the listed criteria:

- serum TRG \geq 150mg/dl,
- HDL <40mg/dl,
- fasting blood glucose ≥ 100 mg/dl or known T2DM,
- SBP ≥130mmHg or DBP ≥85mmHg or treatment of previously diagnosed hypertension (82).

12.2 Results

In our population, 12 out of 78 children were diagnosed with MS; they represent 15.4% of the population studied (**Figure 29**).



Figure 29. Twelve children from our population were diagnosed as having MS. Children without MS (nonMS) were further categorized into children with normal BMI (nonMS-N) and with increased BMI (nonMS-O).

Importantly, all of the children diagnosed with MS were obese as described elsewhere (85).

Comparisons were made in respect to the classification in four groups as follows:

- 1. Children with MS (MS; in our population 100% obese children)
- 2. Children without MS independent of BMI category (nonMS)
- 3. Children without MS with normal BMI, (nonMS-N)
- 4. Children without MS with increased BMI-Overweight/obese, (nonMS-O)

This classification was made with the specific aim to differentiate the effect of general obesity to that of central obesity as included in the definition criteria in the general population. The results are reported in Tables 18 and 19 (p values are expressed for each group in comparison to the MS group).

Table 18. Laboratory investigations in the children with MS, without MS independent of BMI (nonMS), without MS and normal BMI (nonMS-N) and without MS but overweight/obese (nonMS-O).

Variable*	MS	nonMS	nonMS-N	nonMS-O
	(n=12)	(n=66)	(n=37)	(n=29)
Age (years)	12	13	13.1	12.4
	(11.9-13.4)	(10.2-15.0)	(10.4-15.3)	(9.8-14.6)
		p=0.9	p=0.8	p=1.0
		GLUCOSE HOME	OSTASIS	
Insulin	7.4	23.0	6.4	10.2
(µU/ml)	(5.2-16.0)	(15.6-46.3)	(4.6-9.2)	(5.9-23.8)
		p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.003
HOMAIR	4.7	1.6	1.3	2.1
	(3.3-12.0)	(1.0-2.9)	(0.9-2.1)	(1.2-5.4)
		p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.002
		LIPID PROFI	LE	
T Chol	188.0	161.0	162.0	154.0
(mg/dl)	(154.0-217.0)	(134.5-163.0)	(134.2-193.0)	(132.0-195.5)
		p=0.09	p=0.1	p=0.1
	119.0	97.0	100.5	95.0
(mg/dl)	(92.0-146.7)	(77.5-1260)	(78.0-127.0)	(69.5-124.0)
	100.0	p=0.1	p=0.2	p=0.1
АроА	130.0	140.0	145.0	130.0
(mg/dl)	(112.0-139.0)	(127.7-152.5)	(134.0-155.0)	(126.0-134.0)
	0.4.4	p=0.04	p=0.007	p=0.2
АроВ	96.1	70.5	/1.0	68.8
(mg/dl)	(74.7-112.0)	(52.9-81.7)	(52.0-81.1)	(55.4-89.1)
		p=0.002	p=0.001	p=0.008
ApoB/	0.75	0.49	0.47	0.51
АроА	(0.65-0.87)	(0.38-0.62)	(0.37-0.60)	(0.38-0.68)
- / \		p<0.001	p<0.001	p=0.002
Lp(a)	2.5	8.4	9.3	6.8
(mg/dl)	(2.5-16.5)	(4.7-21.6)	(4.8-25.4)	(4.8-15-9)
		p=0.04	p=0.02	p=0.1
	22.5	LIVER FUNCTION	NTESTS	160
ALT (IU/I)	23.5	15.0	14.5	16.0
	(16.2-48.7)	(11.0-19.0)	(11.0-18.0)	(12.0-23.0)
		p=0.009	p=0.005	p=0.05

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

Blood biochemistry showed a dysregulation of glucose homeostasis in MS compared to the other three groups. HOMAIR in the children with MS vs. the children without MS was found to be 4.7 (3.3-12.0) vs. 1.6 (1.0-2.9) respectively, p<0.001 (**Figure 30**). A dysregulation in the lipid profile was also observed with lipoproteins being more affected. A significant increase was observed in ApoB and ApoB/ApoA ratio in the MS compared to the nonMS group [ApoB 96.1 (74.7-112.0) vs. 70.5 (52.9-81.7) mg/dl, p<0.001 and ApoB/ApoA ratio 0.75 (0.65-0.87) vs. 0.49 (0.38-0.62), p<0.001]. Liver assessment showed an increase in serum ALT in the MS vs. nonMS group [23.5 (16.2-48.7) vs. 15.0 (11.0-19.0) IU/l, p=0.009] (**Table 18**). All other comparisons between parameters analyzed were not statistically significant neither presented a trend (data not shown)

Table 18. Newer metabolic markers in the children, with MS, without MS independent of BMI (nonMS), without MS with normal BMI (nonMS-N), and without MS but overweight/obese (nonMS-O).

Variable*	MS	nonMS	nonMS-N	nonMS-O		
	(n=12)	(n=66)	(n=37)	(n=29)		
NEWER METABOLIC MARKERS						
FGF21 (pg/ml)	127.7(75.9-188.5)	60.1 (20.0-97.6)	30.4 (13.9-92.6)	72.3 (29.3-115.2)		
		p=0.003	p=0.002	p=0.02		
Leptin (ng/ml)	18.1 (11.0-34.8)	7.5 (1.8-16.5)	2.8 (1.1-8.8)	16.4 (8.1-27.6)		
		p=0.003	p<0.001	p=0.3		
Adiponectin	6.4 (5.5-8.7)	8.4 (6.5-9.3)	8.5 (6.8-9.6)	8.0 (6.0-9.1)		
(µg/ml)		p=0.2	p=0.1	p=0.4		
Leptin/	3 2 (1.2-6.0)	1.0 (0.2-2.2)	0.4 (0.1-1.4)	2.2 (1.0-3.5)		
Adiponectin		p=0.005	p<0.001	p=0.3		
FGF21/	18.5 (8.0-33.5)	6.8 (2.2-14.2)	4.5 (1.6-12.0)	8.2 (4.1-20.8)		
Adiponectin		p=0.007	p=0.003	p=0.06		
IGFBP1 (ng/ml)	1.5 (1.2-2.0)	2.3 (1.5-6.0)	2.8 (1.8-7.9)	2.0 (1.1-3.6)		
		p=0.03	p=0.004	p=0.3		

*Comparisons for all other variables did not show statistical significance or trend (data not shown)

Assessment of newer metabolic markers in the serum of MS vs. nonMS group showed an increase in FGF21 and leptin levels [FGF21; 127.7 (75.9-188.5) vs. 60.1 (20.0-97.6) pg/ml, p=0.003 and leptin; 18.1 (11.0-34.8) vs. 7.5 (1.8-16.5) ng/ml, p=0.003]. Adiponectin levels showed a trend to decrease (6.4 (5.5-8.7) vs. 8.5 (6.5-9.3) μ g/ml, p=0.2), while IGFBP1 was found to be significantly decreased in the MS group in comparison to the nonMS group [1.5 (1.2-2.0) vs. 2.3 (1.5-6.0) ng/ml, p=0.03] (**Table 19** and **Figure 30**).



Figure 30. Serum biomarkers and HOMAIR in the MS compared to nonMS, nonMS-N and nonMS-O groups. Panel A: FGF21 is significantly increased in the MS group. Panel B: Leptin is significantly increased in the MS group. Panel C: Adiponectin shows a trend to decrease in the MS group. Panel D: IGFBP1 is decreased in the MS group. Panel E: HOMAIR is significantly increased in the MS group.

FMD was decreased in children with MS in comparison to the nonMS group [0.06 (0.03-0.07) vs. 0.07 (0.04-0.1), p=0.06]. cIMT did not show any difference between the groups. cIMT in MS vs. nonMS [0.46 (0.43-0.51) vs. 0.45 (0.42-0.48), p=0.5] (Figure 31).



Chapter 13: Correlations Among Biomarkers and FMD

13.1 Definitions

To assess the strength of the relationship between our measured serum markers, endothelial function and known metabolic parameters we created scattered plots and Spearman's rho correlation coefficient was employed for this purpose.

It was proposed that MS as a dichotomous designation is not a reliable predictor of adults' MS. A cluster score was suggested to be a more powerful predictor of cardiovascular risk (329-332). Based on this cluster score it is possible to assess the MS at any age as follows (333):

1/5*((WC-77.7)/11.4 - (HDL-T.Chol-44.6)/10.2 + (TRGL-90.5)/52.9 + (SBP-107.6)/9.2 + (Glu-88.2)/7.4)

13.2 Results

In our population there was a correlation between the following parameters.

Normalized FMD

Normalized FMD negatively correlated with FGF21 (corr. Coef. 0.2, p<0.03), leptin (corr. Coef. 0.3, p=0.002) and with HOMAIR (corr. Coef. 0.3, p<0.001) (**Figure 32**).



Figure 32 Correlations of normalized FMD with studied parameters. Panel A, B and C negative correlations of normalized FMD with FGF21, leptin and HOMAIR respectively

MS Cluster Score

MS cluster score positively correlated with FGF21 (corr. Coef. 0.3, p=0.01), with leptin (corr. Coef. 0.3, p=0.02) and with HOMAIR (corr. Coef. 0.5, p<0.001) (**Figure 33**).



Serum biomarkers

FGF21 correlated positively with leptin (corr. Coef. 0.3, p=0.006), with HOMAIR (corr. Coef. 0.4, p<0.001), and negatively with IGFBP1 (corr. Coef. 0.3 p=0.01) (**Figure 34**).



Leptin except for its positive correlation with FGF21 correlated also positively with HOMAIR (corr. Coef. 0.5, p<0.001) and negatively with adiponectin (corr. Coef. 0.3 p=0.01) and with IGFBP1 (corr. Coef. 0.6 p<0.001), adiponectin (corr. Coef. 0.3 p=0.01) and with normalized FMD (corr. Coef. 0.3 p=0.002) (**Figure 35**).



IGFBP1 also negatively correlated with HOMAIR (corr. Coef. 0.4, p<0.001) (Figure 36).



Of note, cIMT did not correlate with any of the parameters studied.

Chapter 14. Diagnostic Value of FGF21 and Leptin for Metabolic Syndrome

FGF21 and leptin both correlated with FMD and MS factors. To further explore the diagnostic value of FGF21 and leptin we applied multivariate regression analysis.

We investigated the diagnostic performance of FGF21 and of leptin. ROC analysis for FGF21 and leptin is demonstrated in Figure 37. The area under the curve (AUC) was 0.775 (p value= 0.003).



We identified the best cut-off value [Youden index: max (sensitivity + specificity)] of FGF21 and leptin to diagnose MS. In our population, the logistic regression analysis indicated that FGF21 levels above 121.3ng/L significantly predicted MS with sensitivity 58.3% and specificity 86.4%. Moreover, we determined that for every 10ng/L increase of FGF21 serum levels, the odds of MS increased by 12% (p= 0.006, OR 95% C.I. (1.03-1.22).

For leptin, the logistic regression analysis indicated that serum levels above 5.85 mg/L significantly predicted MS with sensitivity 100% and specificity 47% and that for every 10 mg/L increase of leptin serum levels, the odds of MS increased by 79% (p< 0.001, OR 95% C.I. (1.12-2.88).

After adjusting for BMI, age and gender, we observed that only FGF21 significantly correlated with MS while leptin was no longer correlated to MS after such adjustment. Specifically for FGF21, after adjustment for BMI, age and gender, for every 10ng/L increase in serum levels, the odds of MS increased by 10% (p=0.04, OR 95% C.I. 1.0-1.2).

Chapter15. Discussion

15.1 Discussion on Population Descriptives and Gender Differences

To summarize, we evaluated 78 children, 37 with normal weight and 41 overweight/obese, from northwestern Greece, aged 7 to 16 years. We further classified them into groups based on the presence or absence of MS and the state of their metabolic health.

In the whole population, we observed a possible presence of insulin resistance as the median values for HbA1c/Hb (x100)%, insulin and HOMAIR were at the highest end of normal. However, none of our children had diabetes mellitus or any other known related condition and these results could be attributed to a subtle disorder of glucose metabolism. We aimed to identify molecules that could detect even subtle metabolic disorders in healthy obese participants but also in normal weight subjects with potential underlying insulin resistance or early endothelial damage. Healthy non obese subjects may present insulin resistance associated with slight increases in glucose, insulin and triglyceride levels while increased BMI may better correlate to lipid disorders (334). The two states, insulin resistance and increased BMI, both contribute to increased risk for CVD but are not synonymous and while BMI increases are easily detectable, subtle insulin resistance states may act chronically under-detected leading thus to vascular damage.

Since the two genders were recruited in a random fashion in our population, we assessed any differences that may occur. First, the females showed a tendency for higher mean weight values and higher BMI in comparison to the boys. The female population included more obese subjects than the male population at every single year of age examined from 7 to 16, except for 12 year old males who exceeded in BMI the females. The obesity rate within gender, was higher for the females than for the males (58.3% vs. 45.0%) and the female obesity rate in the overall population was higher than the male obesity rate in the overall population (26.9 vs. 24.4%). In our population, higher rates of obesity were observed in the female gender which is the opposite of what

is usually described at a national level (31). However, evidence from regional differences in prevalence of obesity among adolescents in Greece report the boys in Epirus as having the highest rates of underweight compared to the rest of the nine geographical regions studies in 2016 (335). This is further resulting in girls exceeding boys in terms of obesity rates as well.

15.2 Discussion on Obesity Assessment

Interestingly, in our population it was observed that children with high BMI (overweight/obese) had also higher central obesity. Central obesity, as stated earlier, is known to relate to insulin resistance, lipid levels and increased blood pressure, while WC predicts CVD risk factors better than BMI (78-80). Importantly, this result indicates that obesity in childhood is linked to a pathogenic distribution of adipose tissue and constitutes a significant risk factor for metabolic and CVD.

In our obesity study, we observed a shift of glucose homeostasis towards insulin resistance in the high BMI group compared to the normal BMI group, as indicated by the increased insulin levels and the increased HOMAIR. Serum lipids turned into a more atherogenic profile with increased TRG levels and ApoB/ApoA ratio and a decrease in HDL and ApoA levels (336, 337). As expected, the inflammation marker CRP was also significantly higher in the high BMI group compared to the normal BMI group. The newer metabolic markers studied showed an interesting pattern of regulation in the high BMI group consistent to what was expected based on the literature. Our results indicate that childhood obesity is a condition in which tissues involved in major metabolic functions, liver, adipose, pancreas, are insulted. Herein we prove that in a pediatric obese population there are circulating biomarkers of tissue specific disorders involved in this condition.

Firstly, the adipose secreted hormones leptin and adiponectin were assessed. Leptin, the anorexigenic hormone, showed an up-regulation in the high BMI group in comparison to the healthy BMI group while adiponectin, the insulin sensitizing hormone, showed a trend toward lower levels as expected due to the described phenomenon of resistance

(119, 126). Secondly, IGFBP1, mainly expressed in the liver, was found to be decreased in our pediatric population with high BMI. This molecule is described to be inversely correlated to insulin resistance and to represent a possible predictor for cardiovascular damage, thus reinforcing our hypothesis that these children may have early signs of endothelial dysfunction. Furthermore, the newly discovered protein FGF21, secreted mostly by the liver, was found to be increased in the serum of the high BMI population, as expected. Interestingly, the two ratios of leptin/adiponectin and FGF21/adiponectin were significantly different in the two groups of normal BMI and high BMI. Even though adiponectin showed only a small difference between the two groups, its association with either leptin or FGF21 may provide important information on the metabolic status of the person. This confirms our hypothesis that FGF21 may be a potent biomarker and in relation to other biomarkers may constitute a diagnostic tool for

the detection of early atherosclerosis.

Importantly, the obesity status in our population was related to a significant endothelial dysregulation indicating early and asymptomatic presence of cardiovascular risk factors. FMD was correlated with FGF21, leptin levels and HOMAIR and this confirms our hypothesis that FGF21, the newer metabolic regulator, accompanied by leptin and HOMAIR may represent a biomarker for early atherosclerosis in the serum of obese children.

15.3 Discussion on the Metabolic Health Assessment

In our obese population, there was a prominent presence of insulin resistance and persistent insulin resistance is known to lead to atherosclerosis. To further discriminate between obesity and insulin resistance, we adopted the metabolic health model. Indeed, in our obese population, we identified a 9% (17% of the total population studied) of children free of signs of insulin resistance and lipid imbalance. On the other hand, we also identified a 6.5% of our normal BMI population (14% of the total population studied) with signs of insulin resistance and lipid dysregulation.

15.3.1 Normal BMI Population; Metabolically Healthy and Unhealthy

Normal weight may not always represent a normal metabolism and other factors may contribute which are important to detect and evaluate. In our normal weight population, the metabolically unhealthy group showed predominant glucose homeostasis dysregulation with increased serum insulin levels and presence of insulin resistance as assessed by HOMAIR, while their lipid profile showed a trend towards imbalance with an increase in ApoB/ApoA ratio. Hormonal influence was present in this group as shown by the increase in TSH and decrease in fT4, although we were not able to further investigate it here. However, it could be part of an underlying general energy homeostasis imbalance in this group. As we have shown in mouse experiments, FGF21 and thyroid hormones show mutual regulatory dependency but have independent actions overall, thus we could hypothesize in this case that an early effect of energy imbalance through FGF21 on thyroid axis may exist (338). From the biomarkers studied in the normal BMI metabolically unhealthy children (FGF21, leptin, adiponectin and IGFBP1), only FGF21 showed a trend towards higher circulating levels. However, in this group studied, the FGF21/adiponectin ratio was significantly up-regulated and together with insulin resistance and ApoB/ApoA, these defined this specific metabolic state. Based on these results, we may speculate that the ratio FGF21/adiponectin constitutes a useful tool in detecting very early subtle metabolic dysregulations defined by imbalance in circulating biomarkers in asymptomatic normal BMI children. We may also speculate that in the absence of increased BMI, leptin, IGFBP1 and adiponectin unchanged levels may reflect the direct connection of these molecules with the state of obesity in contrast with FGF21 that was influenced by a state of insulin resistance alone. This is further confirmed in our multivariable analysis, which showed that FGF21 is independently associated with MS (i.e. a metabolic dysregulation state), after adjusting for BMI, age and gender. In 2014 Ko et al, studied the relation of circulating levels of FGF21 to the MS in 9-year-old children. They initially showed a correlation of FGF21 with WC, triglyceride levels and HOMAIR that however was not further confirmed when data were controlled for the confounders of the MS (198). Compared to this previous study, our study enrolled different age groups and this may explain the difference in the results. This underlines the importance of appropriately evaluating the differences among age groups in childhood.

At such early stages of dysregulation we could not detect any endothelial damage as assessed by FMD and cIMT.

15.3.2 Obese Population Metabolically Healthy and Unhealthy

Obesity is a state that has been shown to have overt adverse metabolic effects and increased risk for CVD. However, not all obesity states are the same. There has been described a group of obese people who are less prone to the associated metabolic disturbances of obesity. In our study, we confirmed the existence of this differentiation in children. We observed a higher prevalence of metabolically unhealthy obesity in older children and in this group the dysregulation involved both glucose and lipid pathways. Serum biomarkers were equally dysregulated in the obese groups and did not differ between them. Only leptin showed a trend to increase in the obese metabolically unhealthy children. This result underlines firstly that different growth stages in childhood may respond differently to obesity, with older children being more prone to develop insulin resistance and lipid imbalance. Secondly, biomarkers are unable to discriminate between healthy and unhealthy obesity although to this end leptin seems to be more sensitive to TRG and HDL changes. This is further confirmed in our correlation study were leptin is shown to be positively correlated to TRG and negatively correlated to HDL levels. Based on our observations, TRGL and HDL were part of the main differences between the normal BMI and the obese condition. Specifically, in the

normal BMI unhealthy children there was a shift in the apo-lipoprotein profile, while in the obese unhealthy there was a more prominent dysregulation in TRG and HDL cholesterol. No differences in the endothelial function were observed between the two groups.

15.3.3 Normal BMI Metabolically Healthy (NMH) Compared to Obese Metabolically Unhealthy (OMU)

As expected, the comparison between the two ends of the spectrum, NMH and OMU, showed the most prominent results. In this comparison, central obesity played a pivotal role with a significant difference between the groups. This probably indicates that central obesity may reflect the most pathogenic form of obesity in a pediatric population and furthermore, that obesity in earlier ages may have a more supportive role towards the process of growing, i.e. there could be a shift of obesity from a benign to a malignant type as the growing child gradually necessitates less fat depots. Our observation regarding central obesity is consistent to what is described in the literature, where WC represents a leading feature of the MS definition in children and is also described as an independent predictor of insulin resistance, increased lipid levels and blood pressure, constituting thus a better biomarker than BMI, for CVD risk (78-80). Specifically, our OMU group of children in comparison to the NMH showed, impaired glucose homeostasis, and lipid profile imbalance with increases in TRG, ApoA, ApoB and ApoB/ApoA ratio, with concomitant decrease in HDL levels. Liver and thyroid function also showed to be weakly influenced with an increase in serum ALT and a decrease in serum fT4 that however remained within the normal range. All serum markers were strongly involved in this imbalance starting with the marker of inflammation CRP that was significantly increased although remaining within the normal range limits. FGF21 and leptin were strikingly higher in the OMU group as would be expected and IGFBP1 was down-regulated accompanied by a trend for downregulation of adiponectin. In the comparison between these groups, there was also a trend of more impaired endothelial function in the OMU group. As we observed from our correlation study, FMD is closely linked to FGF21, leptin and HOMAIR. This leads

us to speculate that the striking effects on FGF21 and leptin metabolism in the OMU group may be closely related to the presence of endothelial insult.

15.3.4 Normal BMI Metabolically Healthy (NMH) Compared to Obese Metabolically Healthy (OMH)

Within the metabolically healthy population the obese group was also defined by higher WC confirming the presence of central obesity. The most sensitive biomarker was leptin and specifically leptin/adiponectin ratio showed a significant increase in the obese state.

15.3.5 Normal BMI Metabolically Unhealthy (NMU) Compared to Obese Metabolically Unhealthy (OMU)

The comparison within the metabolically unhealthy population, between the normal BMI and obese groups, provided helpful insight as it revealed a significantly impaired FMD in the OMU compared to the NMU. Indeed, this difference in FMD [0.06 (0.04-0.09) vs. 0.09 (0.04-0.21), p=0.05] was more prominent than the one observed between the OMU and the NMH group [0.06 (0.04-0.09) vs. 0.07 (0.04-0.12), p=0.09]. This may be related to the larger homogeneity between OMU and NMU groups than OMU and NMH groups, indicating that FMD may be more sensitive in detecting differences between strictly controlled groups. The rest of the results from this comparison indicated that the OMU children had increased central obesity, insulin and TRG levels, while of the biomarkers studied here, CRP, leptin, leptin/adiponectin and IGFBP1 significantly differed between the groups. Consistent with the literature, these findings confirm that leptin may be a sensitive marker of obesity in childhood.

15.3.6 Normal BMI Metabolically Unhealthy (NMU) Compared To Obese Metabolically Healhty (OMH)

Age was a defining difference in the NMU group when compared to the OMH group accompanied by increased serum glucose in the NMU. Regarding our earlier discussion of age as a determinant of benign obesity in children, the finding that metabolically unhealthy normal weight children were found to be older than the metabolically healthy obese children may indicate how early the protective role of age in metabolic health may be worn out. Interestingly, leptin was higher in the obese healthy group indicating that metabolic health may not influence the expression of this molecule as much as obesity does.

15.4 Discussion on the Classification Based on Metabolic Syndrome Results

In our MS group, all of the children were obese; this is also reported by Papoutsakis and associates in a Greek cohort (339). This led us speculate that the children without MS (nonMS group) may need to be further differentiated on the basis of their BMI in order to make a direct comparison between children with MS and the two different BMI categories (normal and high) in the nonMS population. This differentiation helped reveal subtle differences between MS and children who were completely free of any MS feature including obesity that was a strong cofactor in the MS group of our paediatric population.

In the MS group, there was a clear dysregulation of glucose homeostasis with increased serum insulin and presence of insulin resistance as assessed by the HOMAIR index. This was a very strong effect, consistent in all comparisons made within subgroups of our population, clearly indicating that central obesity is a key player in the dysregulation of glucose homeostasis in MS. Similar effects were observed in the lipid profile of MS children with higher circulating serum cholesterol levels in the MS compared to the nonMS group. LDL was higher in the MS group albeit without reaching statistical significance and these results may in part be explained by the fact that high TRG and low HDL levels are principal features in the definition of MS. The modified Friedewald formula indicates that LDL may decrease in the presence of low HDL but concomitant high TRG (340).

Friedewald formula LDL = Total Chol – HDL – \underline{TRG} 4

More accentuated effects were observed in serum lipoproteins shifting to a more atherogenic profile with an increase in ApoB and ApoB/ApoA ratio and a decrease in ApoA and Lp(a).

Liver function was also influenced with an up-regulation of ALT in the MS group versus the nonMS group. It is generally known that liver is insulted in states such as obesity or MS with the development of NASH and NAFLD (74, 167). Further assessment may be provided when necessary, by ultrasonography or MRI, to confirm the deposition of fat in the liver. A panel of biochemical markers of hepatic dysfunction in NASH/NAFLD that may diminish the need for more difficult exams, especially MRI, in small children would be extremely helpful.

Children with MS showed increased levels of FGF21 and leptin when compared to children without MS. The known effects of FGF21 in mice and humans include glucose and lipid regulation (149). Specifically, FGF21 is shown to act on white adipose tissue lipolysis, increase insulin-dependent glucose uptake in adipocytes and improve insulin resistance promoting an overall balance and supporting the metabolic homeostasis by controlling the underlying mechanisms of MS and NAFLD (150). The levels of this molecule are described to be increased in obese adults, in adults with T2DM, with NAFLD and with MS (163, 179, 341). A possible existence of resistance has been described in the obese state that in part explains how serum FGF21 levels may be increased in unfavorable conditions (161). However, in pediatric populations there is limited data on the regulation of FGF21 in the MS. In 2014, Mantzoros et al assessed this regulation in a pediatric population. The study showed no association of FGF21 in the paediatric population studied (198). This was a study on 210 children aged 9 years, thus a very specific window of age was assessed. In addition, the definition criteria for the MS used in this study were the age-modified criteria developed by the National

Cholesterol Education Program's Adult Treatment Panel III. Definition of MS based on different diagnostic criteria may be another confounding factor in studies on MS in paediatric populations. In 2012, Roth et al assessed the relation of FGF21 with obesity, MS and NAFLD in a pediatric population. Similar to the previous study, no relationship was found between FGF21 and features of the MS or NAFLD (196). This later study included 60 obese and 40 normal weight children aged 6 to 14 years and the IDF criteria for MS definition were used. However, the relation of FGF21 with features of the MS were assessed within the obese population and this may further obscure the discrimination between MS and obesity.

Leptin levels have been described to relate to FGF21 levels (196). Leptin's primary action lies in energy homeostasis and satiety perception as a key communicator that conveys signals about energy deposits in the periphery to the hypothalamus (119). The levels of this molecule are increased in obesity and this mainly reflects the role of this molecule as a messenger of energy demands from periphery to central cues of appetite (119). This increase has been previously reported to reflect a state of resistance in obesity (122, 123). There is also evidence that leptin may be involved in the process of atherosclerosis by regulating the production of different pro-inflammatory cytokines, activating immune cells and increasing oxidative stress (342, 343). The exact pathway connecting FGF21 to leptin is uncertain. However, both molecules could constitute strong markers of obesity in the paediatric population. Our study reinforces the role of leptin in MS as increased levels of leptin were found in the group of children with MS. This relationship has been little described previously; only a few studies, consistent with ours, showed that the levels of leptin were increased in children with the MS (344). In 2017, in a study in children aged 5 to 11 years in whom the IDF criteria for the diagnosis of the MS were applied, it was shown that leptin levels were significantly associated with the MS (344). In primary school children, it was also shown that leptin was the most sensitive marker able to predict the accumulation of CV risk factors and the presence of MS (345). In a Greek paediatric cohort of 1,138 healthy periadolescents, in whom the IDF criteria for the MS were used, leptin and adiponectin were found to independently predict the number of MS features. This finding was no longer significant after adjustment for BMI. In the framework of the Identification and

prevention of dietary and life-style-induced health effects in children and infants (IDEFICS) study, consisting of a big European cohort of 16,228 children aged 2 to 9 years, a novel definition of the MS was developed (346). In this project, higher leptin concentrations were shown to be associated with MS, even after adjusting for BMI or body fat mass confirming an early role of leptin in MS, while the association of adiponectin with MS seemed to be mediated by body fat in the specific age range studied (347).

Adiponectin is a molecule with anti-inflammatory and anti-atherosclerotic actions. In comparison to leptin, adiponectin has been described as having a protective role against vascular damage (348). On the basis of this, the leptin/adiponectin circulating levels ratio was created; this ratio expresses the levels of hyperleptinemia to hypoadiponectinemia, and has been proposed as an atherogenic index (319). In our population, adiponectin circulating levels had a trend to be reduced reflecting the overall dysregulation of serum biomarkers to a more atherogenic profile. Furthermore, in our study, both the ratio leptin/adiponectin and FGF21/leptin were found to be significantly increased in the MS compared to the nonMS group, consistent with previously reported. These findings indicate that these ratios may prove to be a useful tool in the evaluation of MS in children.

In our study, serum levels of IGFBP1 were decreased in the MS compared to the nonMS group; this finding is consistent with the known inverse correlation of IGBP1 with insulin sensitivity (141). Children with MS had decreased insulin sensitivity as assessed by HOMAIR.

Regarding arterial endothelial function that was evaluated using brachial FMD in our population, FMD showed a strong trend to decrease in children with MS in comparison to the nonMS group (0.06 (0.03-0.07) vs. 0.07 (0.04-0.1), p=0.06). Importantly, when FMD was compared between MS and nonMS-N group, the difference was more prominent [0.06 (0.03-0.07) vs. 0.09 (0.04-0.09) p=0.03]. This finding indicates the important role of FMD in detecting even subtle changes in endothelial function that become evident when both MS and obesity are taken into account to differentiate the metabolic status of our paediatric population. The evaluation of cIMT showed no

significant difference in any of the between group comparisons, indicating that this vascular index used to assess mainly structural vascular changes, may not be useful in the assessment of early vascular damage.

FMD was able to detect endothelial dysfunction in children with MS and even in some children without MS, i.e. the group free of MS but with increased BMI. These results on the vascular response combined with the results from the metabolic health assessment led us to speculate that in children, a clustering of factors may lead to endothelial damage and these are not necessarily included in the definition of the MS. Interestingly, FMD in our population correlated with the MS Cluster score, encouraging our hypotheses. Importantly, as mentioned earlier in the analysis of the studied biomarkers, only FGF21 correlated with MS independently of BMI, supporting the diagnostic value of this molecule. We showed that FGF21 predicted MS in children; in our population, for every 10ng/L increase in FGF21 serum levels, the odds of the MS increased by 10% Even though in our children, leptin was a strong marker of endothelial dysfunction correlating with MS, this correlation was lost after adjustment for BMI. In 2012, Papoutsakis et al evaluated leptin and adiponectin in a big cohort of 1,138 children, and they reported that by using the IDF criteria for MS, the correlation of these two molecules with MS was mediated by BMI, in accordance with our results for leptin (339).

Chapter 16: Limitations

The evaluation of the Tanner stage of the children who participated in our study is lacking. This information could add valuable insight and could explain better the gender differences identified in our study. In the diagram of BMI based on year of age and gender (**Figure 20**), a consistently higher BMI in the female population was found with the exception of the age of 12 for boys. The Tanner stage may have helped clarify why these boys constitute an exception to the general observation, e.g. whether this finding could be related to the growth spurt and how.

Another limitation of our study is the cohort size. A larger cohort could have provided stronger correlations and better defined differences within the various subgroups groups. Sample calculations could not be performed for the newer metabolic markers as the reference ranges are not known for the paediatric population.

Finally, this study was not designed for the longitudinal follow-up of the subjects enrolled. Indeed, it would be very interesting to follow-up these children into early adulthood and monitor their endothelial function in combination to their biomarker profile. This would allow us to directly evaluate the prognostic value of FGF21 and other metabolic markers for the development of MS and CVD in later life.


Chapter 17. Conclusions

The novelty of our study consists of the investigation of FGF21 correlation with the endothelial dysfunction. This correlation clearly shows the value of this molecule as an early marker of atherosclerosis. We have demonstrated that FGF21 is correlated to endothelial dysfunction, as assessed by normalized FMD, and thus FGF21 can be used as a biomarker of early signs of vascular damage in childhood even in subtle conditions of metabolic dysregulation. To our knowledge, this has not been previously shown in adults or children.

Moreover, we have confirmed that FGF21 is an easily measured serum metabolite with clearly different circulating levels in healthy children versus children with high BMI, chidren with MS or with imbalanced metabolic health. We propose a diagnostic cut-off value for FGF21 as we observed that 130 pg/ml corresponds to the value of serum FGF21 that has the best diagnostic accuracy for predicting the presence of the MS according to ROC curve analysis.

We were able to confirm the described homeostasis between FGF21, leptin, adiponectin and IGFBP1 by showing that FGF21 and leptin were up-regulated in the serum of children with increased BMI, with MS or metabolically unhealthy children when compared to their respective controls. Adiponectin and IGFBP1 showed the expected decrease in children with increased BMI. The FGF21/adiponectin ratio was able to discriminate the NMU group, in whom none of the two serum levels were importantly modified. Similarly, this ratio, along with the other metabolic markers studied, was proven to be helpful in defining metabolic dysregulation in clearly altered conditions such as high BMI and MS. Therefore, we propose FGF21/adiponectin ratio as a new tool that may prove to be useful in discriminating subtle metabolic dysregulation when clear dysregulation of biomarkers is not yet evident.

In conclusion, subtle metabolic dysregulation states may exist in paediatric populations, in apparently healthy subjects, even in the absence of obesity. These states of imbalance may lead to early endothelial dysfunction that can be identified with the use of serum biomarkers in correlation with FMD assessment. In our population, FGF21 was proven

to be a potent biomarker in states of metabolic dysregulation in children and to our knowledge, we are the first to report that FGF21 negatively correlates with FMD in a paediatric population. FGF21/adiponectin ratio is a useful marker in the evaluation of metabolic health in children. Finally, in children, even in absence of MS, the MS cluster score in correlation with the FMD and FGF21, may be useful to identify children at higher cardiovascular risk from their very early life. Further research and larger

prospective studies are needed to show the prognostic value of these indices in childhood and adolescence as well as whether these could be used to monitor the effectiveness of targeted interventions (e.g. improved diet, regular exercise) to improve metabolic and vascular health in these sensitive populations.

ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ ΔΙΑΤΡΙΒΗΣ

Νεότεροι Δείκτες Μεταβολικών και Καρδιαγγειακών Νόσων

Ελένη Μ. Δομουζόγλου

Παιδίατρος

Εισαγωγή. Η επίπτωση μεταβολικών και καρδιαγγειακών νοσημάτων όπως ο σακχαρώδης διαβήτης (ΣΔ) και η αθηροσκλήρυνση είναι ιδιαίτερα αυξημένη στις δυτικές κοινωνίες και αποτελούν σήμερα από τις συχνότερες αιτίες νοσηρότητας και θνητότητας. Η έγκαιρη διάγνωση των νόσων αυτών σε αρχικά στάδια εξέλιξής τους κατά την παιδική ηλικία αποτελεί κρίσιμο ζητούμενο για την πρόληψη αυτών των ασθενειών. Για το σκοπό αυτό αναζητούνται νέοι, μη επεμβατικοί δείκτες πρώιμης ανίχνευσης της αθηροσκλήρυνσης και των μεταβολικών νόσων. Μεταξύ αυτών μελετώνται και βιολογικοί δείκτες οι οποίοι θα μπορούν να μετρηθούν σχετικά εύκολα στον ορό των ασθενών.

Κατά τη διάρκεια της τελευταίας δεκαετίας, προέκυψε ένας νέος παράγοντας, ο *Fibroblast Growth Factor* 21 (FGF21), που φαίνεται ότι έχει πολλαπλές επιδράσεις στον μεταβολισμό. Μελετάται η μεταβολή της συγκέντρωσής του στον ορό σε διάφορες μεταβολικές ασθένειες όπως ο ΣΔ, η διαταραχή ανοχής στην γλυκόζη και το λιπώδες ήπαρ. Έχει βρεθεί ότι τα επίπεδα του FGF21 στην κυκλοφορία του αίματος είναι αυξημένα στην παχυσαρκία και συσχετίζονται με την ινσουλίνη νηστείας, το δείκτη αντίστασης στην ινσουλίνη homeostasis model assessment–insulin resistance (HOMAIR), την περιφέρεια μέσης (ΠΜ) και το δείκτη μάζας σώματος (ΔΜΣ). Πρόσφατες μελέτες έχουν δείξει ακόμη ότι ο FGF21 αυξάνεται σε ασθενείς με στεφανιαία νόσο.

Άλλες πρωτείνες όπως η λεπτίνη, η αδιπονεκτίνη ο Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1 (IGFBP1), έχουν μελετηθεί μερικώς σε ενήλικες ως πιθανοί δείκτες μεταβολικών και καρδιαγγειακών νόσων λόγω της δράσης τους στον μεταβολισμό και

της σημαντικής μεταβολής των επιπέδων τους στο αίμα σε μεταβολικές νόσους. Ο ρόλος τους στα παιδιά παραμένει αδιευκρίνιστος.

Σκοπός της παρούσας διδακτορικής έρευνας ήταν η μελέτη νέων δεικτών όπως ο FGF21, η λεπτίνη, η αδιπονεκτίνη και ο IGFBP1 και η διερεύνηση του πιθανού ρόλου τους στη φυσιολογία και παθοφυσιολογία του μεταβολισμού και του καρδιαγγειακού συστήματος στην παιδική ηλικία. Στο ίδιο πλαίσιο διερευνήθηκε ακόμη η πιθανή συσχέτιση του FGF21 και των υπόλοιπων υποψήφιων βιοδεικτών με αγγειακούς δείκτες που θεωρούνται καθιερωμένοι δείκτες πρώιμης ανίχνευσης της αθηροσκλήρυνσης στους ενήλικες, όπως είναι η ενδοθηλιακή δυσλειτουργία, που μελετάται με την ενδοθηλιοεξαρτώμενη αγγειοδιαστολή στη βραχιόνια αρτηρία [flow mediated dilation (FMD)], και ο δείκτης πρώιμης δομικής αθηροσκλήρυνσης [πάχος έσω-μέσου χιτώνα καρωτίδων [carotid intima-media thickness (IMT)].

Μέθοδος. Μελετήθηκαν 78 υγή παιδιά ηλικίας 7 έως 16 ετών. Καταγράφηκαν τα σωματομετρικά τους στοιχεία (βάρος, ύψος, ΠΜ, ΔΜΣ), η συστολική και διαστολική αρτηριακή τους πίεση ενώ έγινε μέτρηση βιοχημικών δεικτών στον ορό του αίματος έπειτα από ολονύκτια νηστεία. Έγιναν μετρήσεις των αγγειακών δεικτών FMD και cIMT. Καταγράφηκαν τα παιδιά που είχαν φυσιολογικό ΔΜΣ και αυτά που ήταν υπέρβαρα ή παχύσαρκα, καθώς επίσης και τα παιδιά που είχαν μεταβολικό σύνδρομο (ΜΣ) (ΜΣ, με βάση τα κριτήρια ορισμού από την International Federation of Diabetes). Επίσης διερευνήθηκε η ύπαρξη μεταβολικών διαταραχών όπως η αντίσταση στην ινσουλίνη, καθώς και η ηπατική και θυρεοειδική λειτουργία και το λιπιδαιμικό προφίλ. Σε αυτό τον πληθυσμό προσδιορίστηκαν τα επίπεδα του FGF21, της λεπτίνης, της αδιπονεκτίνης και του IGFBP1. Μελετήθηκε η πιθανή συσχέτιση των βιοδεικτών με το ΜΣ, την παχυσαρκία και με μεταβολικές διαταραχές προκειμένου να διερευνηθεί η διαγνωστική αξία των βιοδεικτών.

Αποτελέσματα. Τα επίπεδα του FGF21 βρέθηκαν στατιστικά σημαντικά αυξημένα στον ορό του αίματος των παιδιών που ήταν παχύσαρκα και των παιδιών που είχαν MΣ. Ο FGF21, συσχετίστηκε αρνητικά με το FMD γεγονός που υποδεικνύει ότι μπορεί να χρησιμοποιηθεί ως δείκτης ενδοθηλιακής λειτουργίας σε παιδιατρικό πληθυσμό. Ο FGF21 συσχετίστηκε επίσης με την λεπτίνη, τον IGFBP1 και τον HOMAIR καθώς και με παράγοντες του MΣ όπως η ΠΜ και η HDL. Τα επίπεδα της λεπτίνης βρέθηκαν αυξημένα στον ορό του αίματος των παιδιών που ήταν παχύσαρκα και αυτών που είχαν MΣ. Η λεπτίνη συσχετίστηκε επίσης αρνητικά με το FMD και τον IGFBP1 και θετικά με τον FGF21 και το HOMAIR, ενώ συσχέτιση βρέθηκε και με παράγοντες του MΣ. Τα επίπεδα της αδιπονεκτίνης στον ορό του αίματος δεν ήταν στατιστικά σημαντικά διαφορετικά στα παχύσαρκα παιδιά και αυτά με ΜΣ σε σύγκριση με τα επίπεδα των παιδιών με φυσιολογικό ΔΜΣ και με των παιδιών χωρίς ΜΣ αντίστοιχα. Τα επίπεδα ορού του IGFBP1 βρέθηκαν μειωμένα στον ορό του αίματος των παιδιών που ήταν παχύσαρκα και των παιδιών με MΣ, δεν συσχετίστηκαν με το FMD αλλά συσγετίστηκαν με FGF21, λεπτίνη, HOMAIR και με παράγοντες του MΣ. Από τους δείκτες που μελετήθηκαν, μόνο ο FGF21 και η λεπτίνη συσχετίστηκαν με το FMD, και η σχέση αυτή παρέμεινε σημαντική έπειτα από πολυπαραγοντική μελέτη και διόρθωση για ΔΜΣ, φύλο και ηλικία, μόνο για τον FGF21. Συγκεκριμένα, για κάθε αύξηση του FGF21 κατά 10ng/L, η πιθανότητα MΣ αυξανόταν κατά 10%. Η διαγνωστική αξία των επιπέδων του FGF21 στον ορό του αίματος υπολογίστηκε και βρέθηκε πως τιμές μεγαλύτερες από 121.3ng/L μπορούσαν να προβλέψουν το MΣ. Με βάση τα παραπάνω, φαίνεται ότι ο FGF21 θα μπορούσε να χρησιμοποιηθεί ως δείκτης μεταβολικών και καρδιαγγειακών νόσων σε παιδιατρικό πληθυσμό, ενώ η λεπτίνη και ο IGFBP1 θα μπορούσαν πιθανόν να αποτελέσουν δείκτες μεταβολικών νόσων. Κανένας βιολογικός δείκτης δεν συσχετίστηκε με το cIMT, ενώ το cIMT δεν διέφερε μεταξύ των διαφόρων ομάδων παιδιών που μελετήθηκαν. Αυτό δείχνει ότι μεταξύ των δύο αγγεαικών δεικτών που χρησιμοποιήθηκαν στην παρούσα μελέτη, μόνο η ενδοθηλιακή δυσλειτουργία FMD μπορεί να χρησιμοποιηθεί για τη μελέτη της αγγειακής δυσλειτουργίας καθώς επηρεάζεται πρώιμα με ήπιες διαταραχές του μεταβολισμού σε παιδιά.

Συμπεράσματα. Στον υγιή παιδιατρικό πληθυσμό ηλικίας 7-16 ετών που μελετήσαμε, τα επίπεδά του FGF21 βρέθηκαν αυξημένα στον ορό του αίματος σε παχύσαρκα παιδιά και παιδιά με MΣ σε σχέση τόσο με παιδιά που δεν ήταν παχύσαρκα όσο και με παιδιά που δεν είχαν MΣ. Στον ίδιο πληθυσμό, ο FGF21 συσχετίστηκε αρνητικά με το δείκτη ενδοθηλιακής δυσλειτουργίας FMD και η αύξησή του στο ορό μπορούσε να προβλέψει την παρουσία MΣ στα παιδιά.. Από τους υπόλοιπους δείκτες, η λεπτίνη και ο IGFBP1 παρουσίασαν συσχέτιση με χαρακτηριστικά του MΣ αλλά δεν συσχετίστηκαν ανεξάρτητα με τον αγγειακό δείκτη και θα μπορούσαν πιθανόν να αποτελέσουν δείκτες μεταβολικών νόσων.

Περισσότερη και στοχευμένη, προοπτική έρευνα με μακροχρόνια παρακολούθηση των παιδιών απαιτείται για να δείξει αν ο FGF21 θα μπορούσε στο μέλλον να χρησιμοποιηθεί ως προγνωστικός δείκτης μεταβολικών και καρδιαγγειακών νόσων σε παιδιατρικό πληθυσμό

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Newer Markers of Metabolic and Cardiovascular Diseases

Eleni M. Domouzoglou Paediatrician

Introduction. The prevalence of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases, such as diabetes mellitus (DM) and atherosclerosis is increased especially in western societies and today these diseases, are included among the most frequent causes of morbidity and mortality. Early diagnosis of these disorders in initial stages during childhood, is essential for their prevention. For this purpose, newer noninvasive markers of early atherosclerosis and metabolic disorders are being studied. Potential candidates are biological markers that could be easily measured in the serum of the patients.

During the past decade a new molecule, Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 (FGF21), has been discovered, with multiple effects on metabolic pathways. The regulation of the serum levels of FGF21 in different metabolic disorders such as DM, insulin resistance and fatty liver, has been studied. It has been found that FGF21 serum levels are increased in obesity and that they correlate with fasting insulin, homeostasis model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), waist circumference (WC) and body mass index (BMI). Recent studies have supported that FGF21 serum levels are found to be increased in patients with coronary artery disease.

Other proteins like leptin, adiponectin, insulin-like growth factor binding protein 1 (IGFBP1), have been partially studied in adults as potential markers of metabolic and cardiovascular disorders due to their action on metabolism and the significant regulation of their serum levels in different metabolic conditions. The role of these molecules in the children is not completely understood.

The aim of this study was to discover new markers, like FGF21, leptin adiponectin and IGFBP1 and their potential role in metabolism and cardiovascular disease in pediatric population. We also explored in a pediatric population, the possible correlation of FGF21 and the other molecules mentioned above, with markers of early vascular

dysfunction considered to be established in adults, such as brachial flow mediated dilation (FMD) and carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT).

Method. Seventy eight, healthy children aged 7 to 16 years old were included in our study. Anthropometric parameters (weight, height, WC, BMI), systolic and diastolic arterial pressure were measured and blood samples were analyzed after overnight fasting. Vascular indices FMD and cIMT were assessed. The children with normal BMI, and those who were overweight or obese as well as the children with metabolic syndrome (MS) (MS, based on the International Diabetes Federation criteria), were recorded. The presence of metabolic disorders such as insulin resistance, liver and thyroid function and the lipidemic profile have been also studied. In this population we have measured FGF21, leptin, adiponectin and IGFBP1 serum levels. We studied the potential correlation of the biomarkers with MS, obesity and with the metabolic disorders mentioned to investigate their diagnostic value.

Results. FGF21 serum levels have been found to be significantly increased in overweight/obese children and in children with MS. FGF21 has been negatively correlated with FMD indicating that it can be used as a marker of endothelial dysfunction in pediatric population. FGF21 also correlated with leptin, IGFBP1 and HOMAIR as well as with MS definition factors like WC and HDL. Leptin levels have been found to be increased in the serum of the children who were obese and those with MS. Leptin has been also found to be negatively correlated with FMD and IGFBP1 and positively with FGF21 and HOMAIR, while correlation have also been found with defining parameters of the MS. Adiponectin serum levels have not been found to be significantly different in obese children and in children with MS in comparison to the serum levels of the children with normal BMI and the children without MS, respectively. Serum levels of IGFBP1 have been found to be decreased in the serum of obese children and of children with MS, no correlation with FMD has been found but they have been correlated with FGF21, leptin and HOMAIR as well as with defining parameters of the MS. From the markers studied only FGF21 and leptin have been correlated with FMD and this correlation has remained significant after multivariable analysis and adjustment for BMI, gender and age, only for FGF21. Specifically, for

every 10ng/L increase of FGF21 serum levels, the odds for MS increased by 10%. The diagnostic value of FGF21 serum levels has been calculated and we have found that levels above 121.3ng/L significantly predicted MS. Based on these results, it has been shown that FGF21 could be used as a marker of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases in pediatric population, while leptin and IGFBP1 could constitute a marker of metabolic diseases. None of the biomarkers correlated with cIMT, while cIMT did not differ between the different groups of children studied. This indicates that between the two vascular indices used in the present study, only endothelial dysfunction assessed by FMD can be used for the evaluation of vascular dysregulation as it is influenced even in early stages, by mild metabolic disorders, in children.

Conclusions. In the healthy pediatric population aged 7 to 16 years that we studied, the levels of FGF21 were found to be significantly increased in the serum of obese children and children with MS in comparison to children who were not obese and children who did not have MS. In the same population, FGF21 negatively correlated with the index of endothelial dysfunction FMD and its increase in the serum could predict the presence of MS in children. Regarding the other biomarkers, leptin and IGFBP1 presented a correlation with features of MS but their levels did not independently correlate with the vascular index and thus these biomarkers could potentially constitute markers of metabolic diseases.

More research with larger prospective studies with long-term follow-up of children is needed to show whether FGF21 could, in the future, constitute a prognostic biomarker of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases in pediatric population.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAP	American Academy Of Pediatrics
ALT	Alanine Aminotransferase
AMPK	Adenosine Monophsphate-Activated Protein Kinase
АроА	Apo-Lipoprotein A
AST	Aspartate Aminotransferase
ATPIII	Adult Treatment Panel III
BAT	Brown Adipose Tisse
BMI	Body Mass Index
CAD	Coronary Artery Disease
CCA	Common Carotid Artery
CDC	Centers For Disease Control And Prevention
CHREBP	Carbohydrate Responsive Element Binding Protein
cIMT	Carotid Intima Media Thickness
CMECs	Cardiac Micruvascular Endothelial Cells
CRP	C Reactive Protein
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
DIO	Diet Induced Obese
ERK	Extracellular Signal-Regulated Kinase
FAP	Fibroblast Activation Protein
FFA	Free Fatty Acid
FGF21	Fibroblast Growth Factor 21
FMD	Flow Mediated Dilation
fT4	Free Thyroxin
GFN	Geometric Framework For Nutrition
Glu	Serum Glucose
HbA1c	Glycosylated Hemoglobin
HDL	High Density Lipoprotein
HMGCS2	3-Hydroxy-3-Methylglutaryl-Coa Synthase 2
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment of Insulin Resistance

ICAM-1	Intercellular Adesion Molecule-1
IDF	International Diabetes Federation
IGFBP1	Insulin-Like Growth Factor Binding Protein 1
Ins	Serum Insulin
IQR	Interquartile Range
ISCU	Iron-Sulfur Cluster Scaffold Homolog
KD	Ketogenic Diet
Lp(a)	Lipoprotein alpha
MeSyBePo	Metabolic Syndrome Berlin Potsdam
МНО	Metabolically Healthy Obese
MRGS	Multicentre Growth Reference Study
MS	Metabolic Syndrome
mTOR	Mammalian Target Of Rapamycin
MUO	Metabolically Unhealthy Obese
NAFLD	Non Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease
NCEP	National Cholesterol Education Program
NCHS	National Center For Health Statistics
NEDD	Non-Endothelium-Dependent Dilation
NEFA	Non Esterified Fatty Acid
NHANESIII	National Health And Nutrition Examination Survey
NHLBI	National Heart Lung And Blood Institue
NMH	Normal weight Metabolically Healthy group
NMU	Normal Weight Metabolically Unhealthy Group
nonMS	Non Metabolic Syndrome Group
nonMS-N	Non Metabolic Syndrome Group with normal BMI
nonMS-O	Non Metabolic Syndrome Group with increased BMI
OECD	Organization For Economic Cooperation And Development
OMH	Obese Metabolically Healthy Group
OMU	Obese Metabolically Unhealthy Group
OSA	Obstructive Sleep Apnea
ox-LDL	Oxidized Low Density Lipoprotein

PCOS	Polycystic Ovary Syndrome
PCSK9	Proprotein Convertase Subtlilisin/Kexin Type 9
PDAY	Pathobiological Determinant Of Atherosclerosis In Youth
PPARa	Peroxisome Proliferator Activated Receptor Alpha
SFR	Serum Response Factor
SIRT1	Sirtuin 1
SREBP	Transcription Factor Sterol Regulatory Element-Binding Protein
T Chol	Total Cholesterole
T2DM	Type II Diabetes Mellitus
TIA	Transient Ischaemic Attack
TRG	Triglyceride
TSH	Thyroid Stimulating Hormone
VCAM-1	Vascular Cell Adhesion Molecule-1
VLDL	Very Low-Density Lipoproteins
WC	Waist Circumference
WHO	World Health Organization



REFERENCES

1. WHO. Obesity and overweight. 2019.

2. Farajian P, Panagiotakos DB, Risvas G, Karasouli K, Bountziouka V, Voutzourakis N, et al. Socio-economic and demographic determinants of childhood obesity prevalence in Greece: the GRECO (Greek Childhood Obesity) study. Public health nutrition. 2013;16(2):240-7.

3. Shrewsbury V, Wardle J. Socioeconomic status and adiposity in childhood: a systematic review of cross-sectional studies 1990-2005. Obesity. 2008;16(2):275-84.

4. Lazzeri G, Pammolli A, Pilato V, Giacchi MV. Relationship between 8/9-yr-old school children BMI, parents' BMI and educational level: a cross sectional survey. Nutrition journal. 2011;10:76.

5. Fisher JO, Birch LL. Fat preferences and fat consumption of 3- to 5-year-old children are related to parental adiposity. Journal of the American Dietetic Association. 1995;95(7):759-64.

6. Silventoinen K, Rokholm B, Kaprio J, Sorensen TI. The genetic and environmental influences on childhood obesity: a systematic review of twin and adoption studies. International journal of obesity. 2010;34(1):29-40.

7. Monnereau C, Jansen PW, Tiemeier H, Jaddoe VW, Felix JF. Influence of genetic variants associated with body mass index on eating behavior in childhood. Obesity. 2017;25(4):765-72.

8. Li A, Robiou-du-Pont S, Anand SS, Morrison KM, McDonald SD, Atkinson SA, et al. Parental and child genetic contributions to obesity traits in early life based on 83 loci validated in adults: the FAMILY study. Pediatric obesity. 2018;13(3):133-40.

9. Justice AE, Chittoor G, Blanco E, Graff M, Wang Y, Albala C, et al. Genetic determinants of BMI from early childhood to adolescence: the Santiago Longitudinal Study. Pediatric obesity. 2019;14(3):e12479.

10. Braithwaite I, Stewart AW, Hancox RJ, Beasley R, Murphy R, Mitchell EA, et al. The worldwide association between television viewing and obesity in children and adolescents: cross sectional study. PloS one. 2013;8(9):e74263.

11. Epstein LH, Roemmich JN, Robinson JL, Paluch RA, Winiewicz DD, Fuerch JH, et al. A randomized trial of the effects of reducing television viewing and computer use on body mass index in young children. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine. 2008;162(3):239-45.

12. Van Lippevelde W, Te Velde SJ, Verloigne M, Van Stralen MM, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Manios Y, et al. Associations between family-related factors, breakfast consumption and BMI among 10- to 12-year-old European children: the cross-sectional ENERGY-study. PloS one. 2013;8(11):e79550.

13. Vereecken C, Dupuy M, Rasmussen M, Kelly C, Nansel TR, Al Sabbah H, et al. Breakfast consumption and its socio-demographic and lifestyle correlates in schoolchildren in 41 countries participating in the HBSC study. International journal of public health. 2009;54 Suppl 2:180-90.

14. Group WHOMGRS. WHO Child Growth Standards based on length/height, weight and age. Acta paediatrica. 2006;450:76-85.

15. Kuczmarski RJ, Ogden CL, Grummer-Strawn LM, Flegal KM, Guo SS, Wei R, et al. CDC growth charts: United States. Advance data. 2000(314):1-27.

16. Dibley MJ, Goldsby JB, Staehling NW, Trowbridge FL. Development of normalized curves for the international growth reference: historical and technical considerations. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 1987;46(5):736-48.

17. Ogden CL, Kuczmarski RJ, Flegal KM, Mei Z, Guo S, Wei R, et al. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2000 growth charts for the United States: improvements to the 1977 National Center for Health Statistics version. Pediatrics. 2002;109(1):45-60.

18. Cole TJ, Bellizzi MC, Flegal KM, Dietz WH. Establishing a standard definition for child overweight and obesity worldwide: international survey. Bmj. 2000;320(7244):1240-3.

19. de Onis M, Onyango AW, Borghi E, Siyam A, Nishida C, Siekmann J. Development of a WHO growth reference for school-aged children and adolescents. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2007;85(9):660-7.

20. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults--The Evidence Report. National Institutes of Health. Obesity research. 1998;6 Suppl 2:51S-209S.

21. Freedman DS, Dietz WH, Srinivasan SR, Berenson GS. The relation of overweight to cardiovascular risk factors among children and adolescents: the Bogalusa Heart Study. Pediatrics. 1999;103(6 Pt 1):1175-82.

22. Keys A, Fidanza F, Karvonen MJ, Kimura N, Taylor HL. Indices of relative weight and obesity. Journal of chronic diseases. 1972;25(6):329-43.

23. Pietrobelli A, Faith MS, Allison DB, Gallagher D, Chiumello G, Heymsfield SB. Body mass index as a measure of adiposity among children and adolescents: a validation study. The Journal of pediatrics. 1998;132(2):204-10.

24. Barlow SE, Dietz WH. Obesity evaluation and treatment: Expert Committee recommendations. The Maternal and Child Health Bureau, Health Resources and Services Administration and the Department of Health and Human Services. Pediatrics. 1998;102(3):E29.

25. Cole TJ. The LMS method for constructing normalized growth standards. European journal of clinical nutrition. 1990;44(1):45-60.

26. Styne DM, Arslanian SA, Connor EL, Farooqi IS, Murad MH, Silverstein JH, et al. Pediatric Obesity-Assessment, Treatment, and Prevention: An Endocrine Society Clinical Practice Guideline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2017;102(3):709-57.

27. Chrousos GP. Peadiatric obesity in Greece. Annales Clinicae Paediatricae Universitatis Atheniensis. 2003;50(3).

28. Wang Y, Lobstein T. Worldwide trends in childhood overweight and obesity. International journal of pediatric obesity : IJPO : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2006;1(1):11-25.

29. OECD. Obesity Update 2017. 2017.

30. Europe W. Children Obesity Surveillance Initiative, Highlights 2015-17, Preliminary data. 2018.

31. OECD/EU. Health at a Glance: Europe 2018: State of Health in the EU Cycle, OECD Publishing, Paris. 2019.

32. Morales Camacho WJ, Molina Diaz JM, Plata Ortiz S, Plata Ortiz JE, Morales Camacho MA, Calderon BP. Childhood obesity: Aetiology, comorbidities, and treatment. Diabetes/metabolism research and reviews. 2019:e3203.

33. Group HS, Kaufman FR, Hirst K, Linder B, Baranowski T, Cooper DM, et al. Risk factors for type 2 diabetes in a sixth- grade multiracial cohort: the HEALTHY study. Diabetes care. 2009;32(5):953-5.

34. Group TS. Rapid rise in hypertension and nephropathy in youth with type 2 diabetes: the TODAY clinical trial. Diabetes care. 2013;36(6):1735-41.

35. Copeland KC, Zeitler P, Geffner M, Guandalini C, Higgins J, Hirst K, et al. Characteristics of adolescents and youth with recent-onset type 2 diabetes: the TODAY cohort at baseline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2011;96(1):159-67.

36. Friedemann C, Heneghan C, Mahtani K, Thompson M, Perera R, Ward AM. Cardiovascular disease risk in healthy children and its association with body mass index: systematic review and meta-analysis. Bmj. 2012;345:e4759.

37. Crowley DI, Khoury PR, Urbina EM, Ippisch HM, Kimball TR. Cardiovascular impact of the pediatric obesity epidemic: higher left ventricular mass is related to higher body mass index. The Journal of pediatrics. 2011;158(5):709-14 e1.

38. Zhao K, Ju H, Wang H. Metabolic characteristics of obese children with fatty liver: A STROBE-compliant article. Medicine. 2019;98(16):e14939.

39. Caro-Sabido EA, Larrosa-Haro A. Efficacy of dietary intervention and physical activity in children and adolescents with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease associated with obesity: A scoping review. Revista de gastroenterologia de Mexico. 2019;84(2):185-94.

40. Nobili V, Mantovani A, Cianfarani S, Alisi A, Mosca A, Sartorelli MR, et al. Prevalence of prediabetes and diabetes in children and adolescents with biopsy-proven non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Journal of hepatology. 2019.

41. Chan KC, Au CT, Hui LL, Ng SK, Wing YK, Li AM. How OSA Evolves From Childhood to Young Adulthood: Natural History From a 10-Year Follow-up Study. Chest. 2019;156(1):120-30.

42. Spilsbury JC, Storfer-Isser A, Rosen CL, Redline S. Remission and incidence of obstructive sleep apnea from middle childhood to late adolescence. Sleep. 2015;38(1):23-9.

43. Papoutsakis C, Papadakou E, Chondronikola M, Antonogeorgos G, Matziou V, Drakouli M, et al. An obesity-preventive lifestyle score is negatively associated with pediatric asthma. European journal of nutrition. 2018;57(4):1605-13.

44. Legro RS, Arslanian SA, Ehrmann DA, Hoeger KM, Murad MH, Pasquali R, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2013;98(12):4565-92.

45. Kaplowitz PB, Slora EJ, Wasserman RC, Pedlow SE, Herman-Giddens ME. Earlier onset of puberty in girls: relation to increased body mass index and race. Pediatrics. 2001;108(2):347-53.

46. Dahan MH, Reaven G. Relationship among obesity, insulin resistance, and hyperinsulinemia in the polycystic ovary syndrome. Endocrine. 2019;64(3):685-9.

47. Gilbert SR, MacLennan PA, Backstrom I, Creek A, Sawyer J. Altered lower extremity fracture characteristics in obese pediatric trauma patients. Journal of orthopaedic trauma. 2015;29(1):e12-7.

48. Hidayat K, Zhou HJ, Shi BM. Influence of physical activity at a young age and lifetime physical activity on the risks of 3 obesity-related cancers: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrition reviews. 2019.

49. Kumar S, Kelly AS. Review of Childhood Obesity: From Epidemiology, Etiology, and Comorbidities to Clinical Assessment and Treatment. Mayo Clinic proceedings. 2017;92(2):251-65.

50. Schwimmer JB, Burwinkle TM, Varni JW. Health-related quality of life of severely obese children and adolescents. Jama. 2003;289(14):1813-9.

51. Varni JW, Limbers CA, Burwinkle TM. Impaired health-related quality of life in children and adolescents with chronic conditions: a comparative analysis of 10 disease clusters and 33 disease categories/severities utilizing the PedsQL 4.0 Generic Core Scales. Health and quality of life outcomes. 2007;5:43.

52. Gibson LY, Byrne SM, Blair E, Davis EA, Jacoby P, Zubrick SR. Clustering of psychosocial symptoms in overweight children. The Australian and New Zealand journal of psychiatry. 2008;42(2):118-25.

53. Griffiths LJ, Parsons TJ, Hill AJ. Self-esteem and quality of life in obese children and adolescents: a systematic review. International journal of pediatric obesity : IJPO : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2010;5(4):282-304.

54. Erermis S, Cetin N, Tamar M, Bukusoglu N, Akdeniz F, Goksen D. Is obesity a risk factor for psychopathology among adolescents? Pediatrics international : official journal of the Japan Pediatric Society. 2004;46(3):296-301.

55. Britz B, Siegfried W, Ziegler A, Lamertz C, Herpertz-Dahlmann BM, Remschmidt H, et al. Rates of psychiatric disorders in a clinical study group of adolescents with extreme obesity and in obese adolescents ascertained via a population based study. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2000;24(12):1707-14.

56. Koval JJ, Pederson LL, Zhang X, Mowery P, McKenna M. Can young adult smoking status be predicted from concern about body weight and self-reported BMI among adolescents? Results from a ten-year cohort study. Nicotine & tobacco research : official journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco. 2008;10(9):1449-55.

57. Zeller MH, Reiter-Purtill J, Ramey C. Negative peer perceptions of obese children in the classroom environment. Obesity. 2008;16(4):755-62.

58. Reaven GM. Syndrome X: 6 years later. Journal of internal medicine Supplement. 1994;736:13-22.

59. Reaven GM. Role of insulin resistance in human disease (syndrome X): an expanded definition. Annual review of medicine. 1993;44:121-31.

60. Reaven GM. Syndrome X. Blood pressure Supplement. 1992;4:13-6.

61. Laaksonen DE, Lakka HM, Niskanen LK, Kaplan GA, Salonen JT, Lakka TA. Metabolic syndrome and development of diabetes mellitus: application and validation of recently suggested definitions of the metabolic syndrome in a prospective cohort study. American journal of epidemiology. 2002;156(11):1070-7.

62. Meigs JB. Invited commentary: insulin resistance syndrome? Syndrome X? Multiple metabolic syndrome? A syndrome at all? Factor analysis reveals patterns in the fabric of correlated metabolic risk factors. American journal of epidemiology. 2000;152(10):908-11; discussion 12.

63. Yip J, Facchini FS, Reaven GM. Resistance to insulin-mediated glucose disposal as a predictor of cardiovascular disease. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1998;83(8):2773-6.

64. Lepor NE, Vogel RE, National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment P, III. Summary of the third report of the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III. Reviews in cardiovascular medicine. 2001;2(3):160-5.

65. Grundy SM. United States Cholesterol Guidelines 2001: expanded scope of intensive low-density lipoprotein-lowering therapy. The American journal of cardiology. 2001;88(7B):23J-7J.

66. Expert Panel on Detection E, Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in A. Executive Summary of The Third Report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). Jama. 2001;285(19):2486-97. 67. Malik S, Wong ND, Franklin SS, Kamath TV, L'Italien GJ, Pio JR, et al. Impact of the metabolic syndrome on mortality from coronary heart disease, cardiovascular disease, and all causes in United States adults. Circulation. 2004;110(10):1245-50.

68. Morrison JA, Friedman LA, Wang P, Glueck CJ. Metabolic syndrome in childhood predicts adult metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes mellitus 25 to 30 years later. The Journal of pediatrics. 2008;152(2):201-6.

69. Morrison JA, Friedman LA, Gray-McGuire C. Metabolic syndrome in childhood predicts adult cardiovascular disease 25 years later: the Princeton Lipid Research Clinics Follow-up Study. Pediatrics. 2007;120(2):340-5.

70. Cook S, Weitzman M, Auinger P, Nguyen M, Dietz WH. Prevalence of a metabolic syndrome phenotype in adolescents: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine. 2003;157(8):821-7.

71. de Ferranti SD, Gauvreau K, Ludwig DS, Neufeld EJ, Newburger JW, Rifai N. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in American adolescents: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Circulation. 2004;110(16):2494-7.

72. Zhu S, Wang Z, Heshka S, Heo M, Faith MS, Heymsfield SB. Waist circumference and obesity-associated risk factors among whites in the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey: clinical action thresholds. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2002;76(4):743-9.

73. Update on the 1987 Task Force Report on High Blood Pressure in Children and Adolescents: a working group report from the National High Blood Pressure Education Program. National High Blood Pressure Education Program Working Group on Hypertension Control in Children and Adolescents. Pediatrics. 1996;98(4 Pt 1):649-58.

74. Magge SN, Goodman E, Armstrong SC, Committee On N, Section On E, Section On O. The Metabolic Syndrome in Children and Adolescents: Shifting the Focus to Cardiometabolic Risk Factor Clustering. Pediatrics. 2017;140(2).

75. Bremer AA, Mietus-Snyder M, Lustig RH. Toward a unifying hypothesis of metabolic syndrome. Pediatrics. 2012;129(3):557-70.

76. Brambilla P, Bedogni G, Moreno LA, Goran MI, Gutin B, Fox KR, et al. Crossvalidation of anthropometry against magnetic resonance imaging for the assessment of visceral and subcutaneous adipose tissue in children. International journal of obesity. 2006;30(1):23-30.

77. Taylor RW, Jones IE, Williams SM, Goulding A. Evaluation of waist circumference, waist-to-hip ratio, and the conicity index as screening tools for high trunk fat mass, as measured by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry, in children aged 3-19 y. The American journal of clinical nutrition. 2000;72(2):490-5.

78. Lee S, Bacha F, Gungor N, Arslanian SA. Waist circumference is an independent predictor of insulin resistance in black and white youths. The Journal of pediatrics. 2006;148(2):188-94.

79. Savva SC, Tornaritis M, Savva ME, Kourides Y, Panagi A, Silikiotou N, et al. Waist circumference and waist-to-height ratio are better predictors of cardiovascular disease risk factors in children than body mass index. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2000;24(11):1453-8.

80. Flodmark CE, Sveger T, Nilsson-Ehle P. Waist measurement correlates to a potentially atherogenic lipoprotein profile in obese 12-14-year-old children. Acta Paediatr. 1994;83(9):941-5.

81. Bloch CA, Clemons P, Sperling MA. Puberty decreases insulin sensitivity. The Journal of pediatrics. 1987;110(3):481-7.

82. Zimmet P, Alberti KG, Kaufman F, Tajima N, Silink M, Arslanian S, et al. The metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents - an IDF consensus report. Pediatric diabetes. 2007;8(5):299-306.

83. Expert Panel on Integrated Guidelines for Cardiovascular H, Risk Reduction in C, Adolescents, National Heart L, Blood I. Expert panel on integrated guidelines for cardiovascular health and risk reduction in children and adolescents: summary report. Pediatrics. 2011;128 Suppl 5:S213-56.

84. Barlow SE, Expert C. Expert committee recommendations regarding the prevention, assessment, and treatment of child and adolescent overweight and obesity: summary report. Pediatrics. 2007;120 Suppl 4:S164-92.

85. Goodman E, Daniels SR, Morrison JA, Huang B, Dolan LM. Contrasting prevalence of and demographic disparities in the World Health Organization and National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel III definitions of metabolic syndrome among adolescents. The Journal of pediatrics. 2004;145(4):445-51.

86. Weiss R, Dziura J, Burgert TS, Tamborlane WV, Taksali SE, Yeckel CW, et al. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome in children and adolescents. The New England journal of medicine. 2004;350(23):2362-74.

87. Eckel RH, Grundy SM, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome. Lancet. 2005;365(9468):1415-28.

88. Park YW, Zhu S, Palaniappan L, Heshka S, Carnethon MR, Heymsfield SB. The metabolic syndrome: prevalence and associated risk factor findings in the US population from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988-1994. Archives of internal medicine. 2003;163(4):427-36.

89. Abbasi F, Brown BW, Jr., Lamendola C, McLaughlin T, Reaven GM. Relationship between obesity, insulin resistance, and coronary heart disease risk. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2002;40(5):937-43.

90. Cook S, Auinger P, Li C, Ford ES. Metabolic syndrome rates in United States adolescents, from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1999-2002. The Journal of pediatrics. 2008;152(2):165-70.

91. Cameron AJ, Shaw JE, Zimmet PZ. The metabolic syndrome: prevalence in worldwide populations. Endocrinology and metabolism clinics of North America. 2004;33(2):351-75, table of contents.

92. Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, Niskanen LK, Kumpusalo E, Tuomilehto J, et al. The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. Jama. 2002;288(21):2709-16.

93. Alexander CM, Landsman PB, Teutsch SM, Haffner SM, Third National H, Nutrition Examination S, et al. NCEP-defined metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and prevalence of coronary heart disease among NHANES III participants age 50 years and older. Diabetes. 2003;52(5):1210-4.

94. Ninomiya JK, L'Italien G, Criqui MH, Whyte JL, Gamst A, Chen RS. Association of the metabolic syndrome with history of myocardial infarction and stroke in the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Circulation. 2004;109(1):42-6.

95. Mazloomzadeh S, Karami Zarandi F, Shoghli A, Dinmohammadi H. Metabolic syndrome, its components and mortality: A population-based study. Medical journal of the Islamic Republic of Iran. 2019;33:11.

96. Low S, Khoo KCJ, Wang J, Irwan B, Sum CF, Subramaniam T, et al. Development of a metabolic syndrome severity score and its association with incident diabetes in an Asian population-results from a longitudinal cohort in Singapore. Endocrine. 2019;65(1):73-80.

97. Strong JP, Malcom GT, McMahan CA, Tracy RE, Newman WP, 3rd, Herderick EE, et al. Prevalence and extent of atherosclerosis in adolescents and young adults: implications for prevention from the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth Study. Jama. 1999;281(8):727-35.

98. Berenson GS, Srinivasan SR, Bao W, Newman WP, 3rd, Tracy RE, Wattigney WA. Association between multiple cardiovascular risk factors and atherosclerosis in children and young adults. The Bogalusa Heart Study. The New England journal of medicine. 1998;338(23):1650-6.

99. Carnethon MR, Gulati M, Greenland P. Prevalence and cardiovascular disease correlates of low cardiorespiratory fitness in adolescents and adults. Jama. 2005;294(23):2981-8.

100. Cruz ML, Weigensberg MJ, Huang TT, Ball G, Shaibi GQ, Goran MI. The metabolic syndrome in overweight Hispanic youth and the role of insulin sensitivity. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2004;89(1):108-13.

101. Matsumoto M, Han S, Kitamura T, Accili D. Dual role of transcription factor FoxO1 in controlling hepatic insulin sensitivity and lipid metabolism. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2006;116(9):2464-72.

102. Horton JD, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2002;109(9):1125-31.

103. Hasham SN, Pillarisetti S. Vascular lipases, inflammation and atherosclerosis. Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry. 2006;372(1-2):179-83.

104. Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. Journal of lipid research. 1996;37(4):693-707.

105. WHO. Cardiovascular diseases. 2017.

106. WHO. Noncommunicable diseases. 2018.

107. Roth GA, Huffman MD, Moran AE, Feigin V, Mensah GA, Naghavi M, et al. Global and regional patterns in cardiovascular mortality from 1990 to 2013. Circulation. 2015;132(17):1667-78.

108. UK NHS. Cardiovascular disease. 2018.

109. Global Burden of Disease Study C. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet. 2015;386(9995):743-800.

110. Roth GA, Forouzanfar MH, Moran AE, Barber R, Nguyen G, Feigin VL, et al. Demographic and epidemiologic drivers of global cardiovascular mortality. The New England journal of medicine. 2015;372(14):1333-41.

111. Norheim OF, Jha P, Admasu K, Godal T, Hum RJ, Kruk ME, et al. Avoiding 40% of the premature deaths in each country, 2010-30: review of national mortality trends to help quantify the UN sustainable development goal for health. Lancet. 2015;385(9964):239-52.

112. Joseph P, Leong D, McKee M, Anand SS, Schwalm JD, Teo K, et al. Reducing the Global Burden of Cardiovascular Disease, Part 1: The Epidemiology and Risk Factors. Circulation research. 2017;121(6):677-94.

113. Cummings DE, Overduin J. Gastrointestinal regulation of food intake. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2007;117(1):13-23.

114. Kojima M, Hosoda H, Date Y, Nakazato M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K. Ghrelin is a growthhormone-releasing acylated peptide from stomach. Nature. 1999;402(6762):656-60.

115. Wren AM, Small CJ, Ward HL, Murphy KG, Dakin CL, Taheri S, et al. The novel hypothalamic peptide ghrelin stimulates food intake and growth hormone secretion. Endocrinology. 2000;141(11):4325-8.

116. Nakazato M, Murakami N, Date Y, Kojima M, Matsuo H, Kangawa K, et al. A role for ghrelin in the central regulation of feeding. Nature. 2001;409(6817):194-8.

117. Flier JS, Maratos-Flier E. Obesity and the hypothalamus: novel peptides for new pathways. Cell. 1998;92(4):437-40.

118. Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. Nature. 1994;372(6505):425-32.

119. Friedman JM, Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. Nature. 1998;395(6704):763-70.

120. Farooqi IS, Jebb SA, Langmack G, Lawrence E, Cheetham CH, Prentice AM, et al. Effects of recombinant leptin therapy in a child with congenital leptin deficiency. The New England journal of medicine. 1999;341(12):879-84.

121. El-Haschimi K, Pierroz DD, Hileman SM, Bjorbaek C, Flier JS. Two defects contribute to hypothalamic leptin resistance in mice with diet-induced obesity. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2000;105(12):1827-32.

122. Chan JL, Heist K, DePaoli AM, Veldhuis JD, Mantzoros CS. The role of falling leptin levels in the neuroendocrine and metabolic adaptation to short-term starvation in healthy men. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2003;111(9):1409-21.

123. Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, et al. Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. The New England journal of medicine. 1996;334(5):292-5.

124. Chavez M, Seeley RJ, Woods SC. A comparison between effects of intraventricular insulin and intraperitoneal lithium chloride on three measures sensitive to emetic agents. Behavioral neuroscience. 1995;109(3):547-50.

125. Baskin DG, Wilcox BJ, Figlewicz DP, Dorsa DM. Insulin and insulin-like growth factors in the CNS. Trends in neurosciences. 1988;11(3):107-11.

126. Heilbronn LK, Smith SR, Ravussin E. The insulin-sensitizing role of the fat derived hormone adiponectin. Current pharmaceutical design. 2003;9(17):1411-8.

127. Diez JJ, Iglesias P. The role of the novel adipocyte-derived hormone adiponectin in human disease. European journal of endocrinology. 2003;148(3):293-300.

128. Juonala M, Saarikoski LA, Viikari JS, Oikonen M, Lehtimaki T, Lyytikainen LP, et al. A longitudinal analysis on associations of adiponectin levels with metabolic syndrome and carotid artery intima-media thickness. The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Atherosclerosis. 2011;217(1):234-9.

129. Kelly AS, Metzig AM, Schwarzenberg SJ, Norris AL, Fox CK, Steinberger J. Hyperleptinemia and hypoadiponectinemia in extreme pediatric obesity. Metabolic syndrome and related disorders. 2012;10(2):123-7.

130. Arnaiz P, Acevedo M, Barja S, Aglony M, Guzman B, Cassis B, et al. Adiponectin levels, cardiometabolic risk factors and markers of subclinical atherosclerosis in children. International journal of cardiology. 2010;138(2):138-44.

131. Gale SM, Castracane VD, Mantzoros CS. Energy homeostasis, obesity and eating disorders: recent advances in endocrinology. The Journal of nutrition. 2004;134(2):295-8.

132. Kelley KM, Oh Y, Gargosky SE, Gucev Z, Matsumoto T, Hwa V, et al. Insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins (IGFBPs) and their regulatory dynamics. The international journal of biochemistry & cell biology. 1996;28(6):619-37.

133. Baxter RC. Insulin-like growth factor binding proteins in the human circulation: a review. Hormone research. 1994;42(4-5):140-4.

134. Lee PD, Giudice LC, Conover CA, Powell DR. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1: recent findings and new directions. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1997;216(3):319-57.

135. Brismar K, Gutniak M, Povoa G, Werner S, Hall K. Insulin regulates the 35 kDa IGF binding protein in patients with diabetes mellitus. Journal of endocrinological investigation. 1988;11(8):599-602.

136. Heald AH, Cruickshank JK, Riste LK, Cade JE, Anderson S, Greenhalgh A, et al. Close relation of fasting insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) with glucose tolerance and cardiovascular risk in two populations. Diabetologia. 2001;44(3):333-9.

137. Liew CF, Wise SD, Yeo KP, Lee KO. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 is independently affected by ethnicity, insulin sensitivity, and leptin in healthy, glucose-tolerant young men. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2005;90(3):1483-8.

138. Maddux BA, Chan A, De Filippis EA, Mandarino LJ, Goldfine ID. IGF-binding protein-1 levels are related to insulin-mediated glucose disposal and are a potential serum marker of insulin resistance. Diabetes care. 2006;29(7):1535-7.

139. Travers SH, Labarta JI, Gargosky SE, Rosenfeld RG, Jeffers BW, Eckel RH. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-I levels are strongly associated with insulin sensitivity and obesity in early pubertal children. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 1998;83(6):1935-9.

140. Lewitt MS, Hilding A, Ostenson CG, Efendic S, Brismar K, Hall K. Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-1 in the prediction and development of type 2 diabetes in middle-aged Swedish men. Diabetologia. 2008;51(7):1135-45.

141. Sandhu MS, Heald AH, Gibson JM, Cruickshank JK, Dunger DB, Wareham NJ. Circulating concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I and development of glucose intolerance: a prospective observational study. Lancet. 2002;359(9319):1740-5.

142. Leinonen ES, Salonen JT, Salonen RM, Koistinen RA, Leinonen PJ, Sarna SS, et al. Reduced IGFBP-1 is associated with thickening of the carotid wall in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes care. 2002;25(10):1807-12.

143. Heald AH, Siddals KW, Fraser W, Taylor W, Kaushal K, Morris J, et al. Low circulating levels of insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) are closely associated with the presence of macrovascular disease and hypertension in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes. 2002;51(8):2629-36.

144. Fon Tacer K, Bookout AL, Ding X, Kurosu H, John GB, Wang L, et al. Research resource: Comprehensive expression atlas of the fibroblast growth factor system in adult mouse. Molecular endocrinology. 2010;24(10):2050-64.

145. Nishimura T, Nakatake Y, Konishi M, Itoh N. Identification of a novel FGF, FGF-21, preferentially expressed in the liver. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2000;1492(1):203-6. 146. Markan KR, Naber MC, Ameka MK, Anderegg MD, Mangelsdorf DJ, Kliewer SA, et al. Circulating FGF21 is liver derived and enhances glucose uptake during refeeding and overfeeding. Diabetes. 2014;63(12):4057-63.

147. Andersen B, Beck-Nielsen H, Hojlund K. Plasma FGF21 displays a circadian rhythm during a 72-h fast in healthy female volunteers. Clinical endocrinology. 2011;75(4):514-9.

148. Staiger H, Keuper M, Berti L, Hrabe de Angelis M, Haring HU. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21-Metabolic Role in Mice and Men. Endocrine reviews. 2017;38(5):468-88.

149. Badman MK, Pissios P, Kennedy AR, Koukos G, Flier JS, Maratos-Flier E. Hepatic fibroblast growth factor 21 is regulated by PPARalpha and is a key mediator of hepatic lipid metabolism in ketotic states. Cell metabolism. 2007;5(6):426-37.

150. Inagaki T, Dutchak P, Zhao G, Ding X, Gautron L, Parameswara V, et al. Endocrine regulation of the fasting response by PPARalpha-mediated induction of fibroblast growth factor 21. Cell metabolism. 2007;5(6):415-25.

151. Lundasen T, Hunt MC, Nilsson LM, Sanyal S, Angelin B, Alexson SE, et al. PPARalpha is a key regulator of hepatic FGF21. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2007;360(2):437-40.

152. Lee JH, Giannikopoulos P, Duncan SA, Wang J, Johansen CT, Brown JD, et al. The transcription factor cyclic AMP-responsive element-binding protein H regulates triglyceride metabolism. Nature medicine. 2011;17(7):812-5.

153. Matikainen N, Taskinen MR, Stennabb S, Lundbom N, Hakkarainen A, Vaaralahti K, et al. Decrease in circulating fibroblast growth factor 21 after an oral fat load is related to postprandial triglyceride-rich lipoproteins and liver fat. European journal of endocrinology. 2012;166(3):487-92.

154. Schmid A, Leszczak S, Ober I, Karrasch T, Schaffler A. Short-term and divergent regulation of FGF-19 and FGF-21 during oral lipid tolerance test but not oral glucose tolerance test. Experimental and clinical endocrinology & diabetes : official journal, German Society of Endocrinology [and] German Diabetes Association. 2015;123(2):88-94.

155. Galman C, Lundasen T, Kharitonenkov A, Bina HA, Eriksson M, Hafstrom I, et al. The circulating metabolic regulator FGF21 is induced by prolonged fasting and PPARalpha activation in man. Cell metabolism. 2008;8(2):169-74.

156. Fazeli PK, Lun M, Kim SM, Bredella MA, Wright S, Zhang Y, et al. FGF21 and the late adaptive response to starvation in humans. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2015;125(12):4601-11.

157. Singhal G, Fisher FM, Chee MJ, Tan TG, El Ouaamari A, Adams AC, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 (FGF21) Protects against High Fat Diet Induced Inflammation and Islet Hyperplasia in Pancreas. PloS one. 2016;11(2):e0148252.

158. Coate KC, Hernandez G, Thorne CA, Sun S, Le TDV, Vale K, et al. FGF21 Is an Exocrine Pancreas Secretagogue. Cell metabolism. 2017;25(2):472-80.

159. Muise ES, Azzolina B, Kuo DW, El-Sherbeini M, Tan Y, Yuan X, et al. Adipose fibroblast growth factor 21 is up-regulated by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma and altered metabolic states. Molecular pharmacology. 2008;74(2):403-12.

160. Izumiya Y, Bina HA, Ouchi N, Akasaki Y, Kharitonenkov A, Walsh K. FGF21 is an Akt-regulated myokine. FEBS letters. 2008;582(27):3805-10.

161. Fisher FM, Chui PC, Antonellis PJ, Bina HA, Kharitonenkov A, Flier JS, et al. Obesity is a fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21)-resistant state. Diabetes. 2010;59(11):2781-9.

162. Mraz M, Bartlova M, Lacinova Z, Michalsky D, Kasalicky M, Haluzikova D, et al. Serum concentrations and tissue expression of a novel endocrine regulator fibroblast growth factor-21 in patients with type 2 diabetes and obesity. Clinical endocrinology. 2009;71(3):369-75.

163. Zhang X, Yeung DC, Karpisek M, Stejskal D, Zhou ZG, Liu F, et al. Serum FGF21 levels are increased in obesity and are independently associated with the metabolic syndrome in humans. Diabetes. 2008;57(5):1246-53.

164. Hondares E, Rosell M, Gonzalez FJ, Giralt M, Iglesias R, Villarroya F. Hepatic FGF21 expression is induced at birth via PPARalpha in response to milk intake and contributes to thermogenic activation of neonatal brown fat. Cell metabolism. 2010;11(3):206-12.

165. De Sousa-Coelho AL, Relat J, Hondares E, Perez-Marti A, Ribas F, Villarroya F, et al. FGF21 mediates the lipid metabolism response to amino acid starvation. Journal of lipid research. 2013;54(7):1786-97.

166. Badman MK, Koester A, Flier JS, Kharitonenkov A, Maratos-Flier E. Fibroblast growth factor 21-deficient mice demonstrate impaired adaptation to ketosis. Endocrinology. 2009;150(11):4931-40.

167. Dushay J, Chui PC, Gopalakrishnan GS, Varela-Rey M, Crawley M, Fisher FM, et al. Increased fibroblast growth factor 21 in obesity and nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology. 2010;139(2):456-63.

168. Christodoulides C, Dyson P, Sprecher D, Tsintzas K, Karpe F. Circulating fibroblast growth factor 21 is induced by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor agonists but not ketosis in man. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2009;94(9):3594-601.
169. Dushay JR, Toschi E, Mitten EK, Fisher FM, Herman MA, Maratos-Flier E. Fructose ingestion acutely stimulates circulating FGF21 levels in humans. Molecular metabolism.

2015;4(1):51-7.

170. Fisher FM, Kim M, Doridot L, Cunniff JC, Parker TS, Levine DM, et al. A critical role for ChREBP-mediated FGF21 secretion in hepatic fructose metabolism. Molecular metabolism. 2017;6(1):14-21.

171. Lundsgaard AM, Fritzen AM, Sjoberg KA, Myrmel LS, Madsen L, Wojtaszewski JFP, et al. Circulating FGF21 in humans is potently induced by short term overfeeding of carbohydrates. Molecular metabolism. 2017;6(1):22-9.

172. Heilbronn LK, Campbell LV, Xu A, Samocha-Bonet D. Metabolically protective cytokines adiponectin and fibroblast growth factor-21 are increased by acute overfeeding in healthy humans. PloS one. 2013;8(10):e78864.

173. Iggman D, Rosqvist F, Larsson A, Arnlov J, Beckman L, Rudling M, et al. Role of dietary fats in modulating cardiometabolic risk during moderate weight gain: a randomized doubleblind overfeeding trial (LIPOGAIN study). Journal of the American Heart Association. 2014;3(5):e001095.

174. Simpson SJ, Le Couteur DG, James DE, George J, Gunton JE, Solon-Biet SM, et al. The Geometric Framework for Nutrition as a tool in precision medicine. Nutrition and healthy aging. 2017;4(3):217-26.

175. Solon-Biet SM, Cogger VC, Pulpitel T, Heblinski M, Wahl D, McMahon AC, et al. Defining the Nutritional and Metabolic Context of FGF21 Using the Geometric Framework. Cell metabolism. 2016;24(4):555-65.

176. von Holstein-Rathlou S, BonDurant LD, Peltekian L, Naber MC, Yin TC, Claflin KE, et al. FGF21 Mediates Endocrine Control of Simple Sugar Intake and Sweet Taste Preference by the Liver. Cell metabolism. 2016;23(2):335-43.

177. Chau MD, Gao J, Yang Q, Wu Z, Gromada J. Fibroblast growth factor 21 regulates energy metabolism by activating the AMPK-SIRT1-PGC-1alpha pathway. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010;107(28):12553-8.

178. Lee Y, Lim S, Hong ES, Kim JH, Moon MK, Chun EJ, et al. Serum FGF21 concentration is associated with hypertriglyceridaemia, hyperinsulinaemia and pericardial fat accumulation, independently of obesity, but not with current coronary artery status. Clinical endocrinology. 2014;80(1):57-64.

179. Bobbert T, Schwarz F, Fischer-Rosinsky A, Pfeiffer AF, Mohlig M, Mai K, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 predicts the metabolic syndrome and type 2 diabetes in Caucasians. Diabetes care. 2013;36(1):145-9.

180. Stefan N, Kantartzis K, Machann J, Schick F, Thamer C, Rittig K, et al. Identification and characterization of metabolically benign obesity in humans. Archives of internal medicine. 2008;168(15):1609-16.

181. Berti L, Irmler M, Zdichavsky M, Meile T, Bohm A, Stefan N, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 is elevated in metabolically unhealthy obesity and affects lipid deposition, adipogenesis, and adipokine secretion of human abdominal subcutaneous adipocytes. Molecular metabolism. 2015;4(7):519-27.

182. Eto K, Tumenbayar B, Nagashima S, Tazoe F, Miyamoto M, Takahashi M, et al. Distinct association of serum FGF21 or adiponectin levels with clinical parameters in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 2010;89(1):52-7.

183. Cheng X, Zhu B, Jiang F, Fan H. Serum FGF-21 levels in type 2 diabetic patients. Endocrine research. 2011;36(4):142-8.

184. Semba RD, Sun K, Egan JM, Crasto C, Carlson OD, Ferrucci L. Relationship of serum fibroblast growth factor 21 with abnormal glucose metabolism and insulin resistance: the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2012;97(4):1375-82.

185. Kim KH, Kim SH, Min YK, Yang HM, Lee JB, Lee MS. Acute exercise induces FGF21 expression in mice and in healthy humans. PloS one. 2013;8(5):e63517.

186. Hansen JS, Clemmesen JO, Secher NH, Hoene M, Drescher A, Weigert C, et al. Glucagon-to-insulin ratio is pivotal for splanchnic regulation of FGF-21 in humans. Molecular metabolism. 2015;4(8):551-60.

187. Wasserman DH, Spalding JA, Lacy DB, Colburn CA, Goldstein RE, Cherrington AD. Glucagon is a primary controller of hepatic glycogenolysis and gluconeogenesis during muscular work. The American journal of physiology. 1989;257(1 Pt 1):E108-17.

188. Fisher FM, Kleiner S, Douris N, Fox EC, Mepani RJ, Verdeguer F, et al. FGF21 regulates PGC-1alpha and browning of white adipose tissues in adaptive thermogenesis. Genes & development. 2012;26(3):271-81.

189. Hondares E, Iglesias R, Giralt A, Gonzalez FJ, Giralt M, Mampel T, et al. Thermogenic activation induces FGF21 expression and release in brown adipose tissue. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2011;286(15):12983-90.

190. Tyynismaa H, Carroll CJ, Raimundo N, Ahola-Erkkila S, Wenz T, Ruhanen H, et al. Mitochondrial myopathy induces a starvation-like response. Human molecular genetics. 2010;19(20):3948-58.

191. Brahma MK, Adam RC, Pollak NM, Jaeger D, Zierler KA, Pocher N, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 is induced upon cardiac stress and alters cardiac lipid homeostasis. Journal of lipid research. 2014;55(11):2229-41.

192. Crooks DR, Natarajan TG, Jeong SY, Chen C, Park SY, Huang H, et al. Elevated FGF21 secretion, PGC-1alpha and ketogenic enzyme expression are hallmarks of iron-sulfur cluster depletion in human skeletal muscle. Human molecular genetics. 2014;23(1):24-39.

193. Ji K, Zheng J, Lv J, Xu J, Ji X, Luo YB, et al. Skeletal muscle increases FGF21 expression in mitochondrial disorders to compensate for energy metabolic insufficiency by activating the mTOR-YY1-PGC1alpha pathway. Free radical biology & medicine. 2015;84:161-70.

194. Suomalainen A, Elo JM, Pietilainen KH, Hakonen AH, Sevastianova K, Korpela M, et al. FGF-21 as a biomarker for muscle-manifesting mitochondrial respiratory chain deficiencies: a diagnostic study. The Lancet Neurology. 2011;10(9):806-18.

195. Davis RL, Liang C, Edema-Hildebrand F, Riley C, Needham M, Sue CM. Fibroblast growth factor 21 is a sensitive biomarker of mitochondrial disease. Neurology. 2013;81(21):1819-26.

196. Reinehr T, Woelfle J, Wunsch R, Roth CL. Fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF-21) and its relation to obesity, metabolic syndrome, and nonalcoholic fatty liver in children: a longitudinal analysis. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2012;97(6):2143-50.

197. Li G, Yin J, Fu J, Li L, Grant SFA, Li C, et al. FGF21 deficiency is associated with childhood obesity, insulin resistance and hypoadiponectinaemia: The BCAMS Study. Diabetes & metabolism. 2017;43(3):253-60.

198. Ko BJ, Kim SM, Park KH, Park HS, Mantzoros CS. Levels of circulating selenoprotein P, fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 21 and FGF23 in relation to the metabolic syndrome in young children. International journal of obesity. 2014;38(12):1497-502.

199. Reinehr T, Karges B, Meissner T, Wiegand S, Stoffel-Wagner B, Holl RW, et al. Inflammatory Markers in Obese Adolescents with Type 2 Diabetes and Their Relationship to Hepatokines and Adipokines. The Journal of pediatrics. 2016;173:131-5.

200. Reinehr T, Karges B, Meissner T, Wiegand S, Fritsch M, Holl RW, et al. Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 and Fetuin-A in Obese Adolescents With and Without Type 2 Diabetes. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2015;100(8):3004-10.

201. Reinehr T, Woelfle J, Wiegand S, Karges B, Meissner T, Nagl K, et al. Leptin but not adiponectin is related to type 2 diabetes mellitus in obese adolescents. Pediatric diabetes. 2016;17(4):281-8.

202. Bisgaard A, Sorensen K, Johannsen TH, Helge JW, Andersson AM, Juul A. Significant gender difference in serum levels of fibroblast growth factor 21 in Danish children and adolescents. International journal of pediatric endocrinology. 2014;2014(1):7.

203. Giannini C, Feldstein AE, Santoro N, Kim G, Kursawe R, Pierpont B, et al. Circulating levels of FGF-21 in obese youth: associations with liver fat content and markers of liver damage. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2013;98(7):2993-3000.

204. Fu J, Li Y, Esangbedo IC, Li G, Feng D, Li L, et al. Circulating Osteonectin and Adipokine Profiles in Relation to Metabolically Healthy Obesity in Chinese Children: Findings From BCAMS. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2018;7(23):e009169.

205. Iglesias P, Selgas R, Romero S, Diez JJ. Biological role, clinical significance, and therapeutic possibilities of the recently discovered metabolic hormone fibroblastic growth factor 21. European journal of endocrinology. 2012;167(3):301-9.

206. Kharitonenkov A, Shiyanova TL, Koester A, Ford AM, Micanovic R, Galbreath EJ, et al. FGF-21 as a novel metabolic regulator. The Journal of clinical investigation. 2005;115(6):1627-35.

207. Zhang Y, Lei T, Huang JF, Wang SB, Zhou LL, Yang ZQ, et al. The link between fibroblast growth factor 21 and sterol regulatory element binding protein 1c during lipogenesis in hepatocytes. Molecular and cellular endocrinology. 2011;342(1-2):41-7.

208. Xu J, Stanislaus S, Chinookoswong N, Lau YY, Hager T, Patel J, et al. Acute glucoselowering and insulin-sensitizing action of FGF21 in insulin-resistant mouse models--association with liver and adipose tissue effects. American journal of physiology Endocrinology and metabolism. 2009;297(5):E1105-14.

209. Ge X, Chen C, Hui X, Wang Y, Lam KS, Xu A. Fibroblast growth factor 21 induces glucose transporter-1 expression through activation of the serum response factor/Ets-like protein-1 in adipocytes. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2011;286(40):34533-41.

210. Camporez JP, Jornayvaz FR, Petersen MC, Pesta D, Guigni BA, Serr J, et al. Cellular mechanisms by which FGF21 improves insulin sensitivity in male mice. Endocrinology. 2013;154(9):3099-109.

211. Lin Z, Pan X, Wu F, Ye D, Zhang Y, Wang Y, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 prevents atherosclerosis by suppression of hepatic sterol regulatory element-binding protein-2 and induction of adiponectin in mice. Circulation. 2015;131(21):1861-71.

212. Kurosu H, Choi M, Ogawa Y, Dickson AS, Goetz R, Eliseenkova AV, et al. Tissue-specific expression of betaKlotho and fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptor isoforms determines metabolic activity of FGF19 and FGF21. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2007;282(37):26687-95.

213. Veniant MM, Hale C, Helmering J, Chen MM, Stanislaus S, Busby J, et al. FGF21 promotes metabolic homeostasis via white adipose and leptin in mice. PloS one. 2012;7(7):e40164.

214. Li X, Ge H, Weiszmann J, Hecht R, Li YS, Veniant MM, et al. Inhibition of lipolysis may contribute to the acute regulation of plasma FFA and glucose by FGF21 in ob/ob mice. FEBS letters. 2009;583(19):3230-4.

215. Arner P, Pettersson A, Mitchell PJ, Dunbar JD, Kharitonenkov A, Ryden M. FGF21 attenuates lipolysis in human adipocytes - a possible link to improved insulin sensitivity. FEBS letters. 2008;582(12):1725-30.

216. Coskun T, Bina HA, Schneider MA, Dunbar JD, Hu CC, Chen Y, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 corrects obesity in mice. Endocrinology. 2008;149(12):6018-27.

217. Xu J, Lloyd DJ, Hale C, Stanislaus S, Chen M, Sivits G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 reverses hepatic steatosis, increases energy expenditure, and improves insulin sensitivity in diet-induced obese mice. Diabetes. 2009;58(1):250-9.

218. Gaich G, Chien JY, Fu H, Glass LC, Deeg MA, Holland WL, et al. The effects of LY2405319, an FGF21 analog, in obese human subjects with type 2 diabetes. Cell metabolism. 2013;18(3):333-40.

219. Talukdar S, Zhou Y, Li D, Rossulek M, Dong J, Somayaji V, et al. A Long-Acting FGF21 Molecule, PF-05231023, Decreases Body Weight and Improves Lipid Profile in Non-human Primates and Type 2 Diabetic Subjects. Cell metabolism. 2016;23(3):427-40.

220. Kim AM, Somayaji VR, Dong JQ, Rolph TP, Weng Y, Chabot JR, et al. Once-weekly administration of a long-acting fibroblast growth factor 21 analogue modulates lipids, bone turnover markers, blood pressure and body weight differently in obese people with hypertriglyceridaemia and in non-human primates. Diabetes, obesity & metabolism. 2017;19(12):1762-72.

221. Shen Y, Ma X, Zhou J, Pan X, Hao Y, Zhou M, et al. Additive relationship between serum fibroblast growth factor 21 level and coronary artery disease. Cardiovascular diabetology. 2013;12:124.

222. Lin Z, Wu Z, Yin X, Liu Y, Yan X, Lin S, et al. Serum levels of FGF-21 are increased in coronary heart disease patients and are independently associated with adverse lipid profile. PloS one. 2010;5(12):e15534.

223. Chow WS, Xu A, Woo YC, Tso AW, Cheung SC, Fong CH, et al. Serum fibroblast growth factor-21 levels are associated with carotid atherosclerosis independent of established cardiovascular risk factors. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 2013;33(10):2454-9.

224. Lu Y, Liu JH, Zhang LK, Du J, Zeng XJ, Hao G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 as a possible endogenous factor inhibits apoptosis in cardiac endothelial cells. Chinese medical journal. 2010;123(23):3417-21.

225. Zhang C, Huang Z, Gu J, Yan X, Lu X, Zhou S, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 protects the heart from apoptosis in a diabetic mouse model via extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2-dependent signalling pathway. Diabetologia. 2015;58(8):1937-48.

226. Yan X, Chen J, Zhang C, Zhou S, Zhang Z, Chen J, et al. FGF21 deletion exacerbates diabetic cardiomyopathy by aggravating cardiac lipid accumulation. Journal of cellular and molecular medicine. 2015;19(7):1557-68.

227. Patel V, Adya R, Chen J, Ramanjaneya M, Bari MF, Bhudia SK, et al. Novel insights into the cardio-protective effects of FGF21 in lean and obese rat hearts. PloS one. 2014;9(2):e87102.

228. Hsuchou H, Pan W, Kastin AJ. The fasting polypeptide FGF21 can enter brain from blood. Peptides. 2007;28(12):2382-6.

229. Tan BK, Hallschmid M, Adya R, Kern W, Lehnert H, Randeva HS. Fibroblast growth factor 21 (FGF21) in human cerebrospinal fluid: relationship with plasma FGF21 and body adiposity. Diabetes. 2011;60(11):2758-62.

230. Makela J, Tselykh TV, Maiorana F, Eriksson O, Do HT, Mudo G, et al. Fibroblast growth factor-21 enhances mitochondrial functions and increases the activity of PGC-1alpha in human dopaminergic neurons via Sirtuin-1. SpringerPlus. 2014;3:2.

231. Huang X, Hu J, Li Y, Zhuyun Yang Z, Zhu H, Zhou L, et al. The cell adhesion molecule L1 regulates the expression of FGF21 and enhances neurite outgrowth. Brain research. 2013;1530:13-21.

232. Bookout AL, de Groot MH, Owen BM, Lee S, Gautron L, Lawrence HL, et al. FGF21 regulates metabolism and circadian behavior by acting on the nervous system. Nature medicine. 2013;19(9):1147-52.

233. Liang Q, Zhong L, Zhang J, Wang Y, Bornstein SR, Triggle CR, et al. FGF21 maintains glucose homeostasis by mediating the cross talk between liver and brain during prolonged fasting. Diabetes. 2014;63(12):4064-75.

234. Wei W, Dutchak PA, Wang X, Ding X, Wang X, Bookout AL, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 promotes bone loss by potentiating the effects of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2012;109(8):3143-8.

235. Wang X, Wei W, Krzeszinski JY, Wang Y, Wan Y. A Liver-Bone Endocrine Relay by IGFBP1 Promotes Osteoclastogenesis and Mediates FGF21-Induced Bone Resorption. Cell metabolism. 2015;22(5):811-24.

236. Su X, Kong Y, Peng D. Fibroblast growth factor 21 in lipid metabolism and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Clinica chimica acta; international journal of clinical chemistry. 2019;498:30-7.

237. Sonoda J, Chen MZ, Baruch A. FGF21-receptor agonists: an emerging therapeutic class for obesity-related diseases. Hormone molecular biology and clinical investigation. 2017;30(2).
238. Dunshee DR, Bainbridge TW, Kljavin NM, Zavala-Solorio J, Schroeder AC, Chan R, et al. Fibroblast Activation Protein Cleaves and Inactivates Fibroblast Growth Factor 21. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2016;291(11):5986-96.

239. Ong KL, Rye KA, O'Connell R, Jenkins AJ, Brown C, Xu A, et al. Long-term fenofibrate therapy increases fibroblast growth factor 21 and retinol-binding protein 4 in subjects with type 2 diabetes. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2012;97(12):4701-8.
240. Deanfield J, Donald A, Ferri C, Giannattasio C, Halcox J, Halligan S, et al. Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part I: Methodological issues for assessment in the different vascular beds: a statement by the Working Group on Endothelin and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. Journal of hypertension. 2005;23(1):7-17.

241. Celermajer DS, Sorensen KE, Gooch VM, Spiegelhalter DJ, Miller OI, Sullivan ID, et al. Non-invasive detection of endothelial dysfunction in children and adults at risk of atherosclerosis. Lancet. 1992;340(8828):1111-5.

242. Urbina EM, Williams RV, Alpert BS, Collins RT, Daniels SR, Hayman L, et al. Noninvasive assessment of subclinical atherosclerosis in children and adolescents: recommendations for standard assessment for clinical research: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Hypertension. 2009;54(5):919-50.

243. Thijssen DHJ, Bruno RM, van Mil A, Holder SM, Faita F, Greyling A, et al. Expert consensus and evidence-based recommendations for the assessment of flow-mediated dilation in humans. European heart journal. 2019;40(30):2534-47.

244. Halcox JP, Donald AE, Ellins E, Witte DR, Shipley MJ, Brunner EJ, et al. Endothelial function predicts progression of carotid intima-media thickness. Circulation. 2009;119(7):1005-12.

245. Inaba Y, Chen JA, Bergmann SR. Prediction of future cardiovascular outcomes by flowmediated vasodilatation of brachial artery: a meta-analysis. The international journal of cardiovascular imaging. 2010;26(6):631-40.

246. Ras RT, Streppel MT, Draijer R, Zock PL. Flow-mediated dilation and cardiovascular risk prediction: a systematic review with meta-analysis. International journal of cardiology. 2013;168(1):344-51.

247. Xu Y, Arora RC, Hiebert BM, Lerner B, Szwajcer A, McDonald K, et al. Non-invasive endothelial function testing and the risk of adverse outcomes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. European heart journal cardiovascular Imaging. 2014;15(7):736-46.

248. Matsuzawa Y, Kwon TG, Lennon RJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A. Prognostic Value of Flow-Mediated Vasodilation in Brachial Artery and Fingertip Artery for Cardiovascular Events: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Journal of the American Heart Association. 2015;4(11).

249. Chan SY, Mancini GB, Kuramoto L, Schulzer M, Frohlich J, Ignaszewski A. The prognostic importance of endothelial dysfunction and carotid atheroma burden in patients with coronary artery disease. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2003;42(6):1037-43.

250. Felmeden DC, Spencer CG, Blann AD, Beevers DG, Lip GY. Low-density lipoprotein subfractions and cardiovascular risk in hypertension: relationship to endothelial dysfunction and effects of treatment. Hypertension. 2003;41(3):528-33.

251. Li XP, Zhao SP, Zhang XY, Liu L, Gao M, Zhou QC. Protective effect of high density lipoprotein on endothelium-dependent vasodilatation. International journal of cardiology. 2000;73(3):231-6.

252. Rakobowchuk M, McGowan CL, de Groot PC, Hartman JW, Phillips SM, MacDonald MJ. Endothelial function of young healthy males following whole body resistance training. Journal of applied physiology. 2005;98(6):2185-90.

253. Lee SJ, Lee DW, Kim KS, Lee IK. Effect of estrogen on endothelial dysfunction in postmenopausal women with diabetes. Diabetes research and clinical practice. 2001;54 Suppl 2:S81-92.

254. Fuchsjager-Mayrl G, Pleiner J, Wiesinger GF, Sieder AE, Quittan M, Nuhr MJ, et al. Exercise training improves vascular endothelial function in patients with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes care. 2002;25(10):1795-801.

255. Hamdy O, Ledbury S, Mullooly C, Jarema C, Porter S, Ovalle K, et al. Lifestyle modification improves endothelial function in obese subjects with the insulin resistance syndrome. Diabetes care. 2003;26(7):2119-25.

256. Ryan M, McInerney D, Owens D, Collins P, Johnson A, Tomkin GH. Diabetes and the Mediterranean diet: a beneficial effect of oleic acid on insulin sensitivity, adipocyte glucose transport and endothelium-dependent vasoreactivity. QJM : monthly journal of the Association of Physicians. 2000;93(2):85-91.

257. Sondergaard E, Moller JE, Egstrup K. Effect of dietary intervention and lipid-lowering treatment on brachial vasoreactivity in patients with ischemic heart disease and hypercholesterolemia. American heart journal. 2003;145(5):E19.

258. Woo KS, Chook P, Yu CW, Sung RY, Qiao M, Leung SS, et al. Overweight in children is associated with arterial endothelial dysfunction and intima-media thickening. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2004;28(7):852-7.

259. Tounian A, Aggoun Y, Lacorte JM, Dubern B, Clement K, Bonnet D, et al. Influence of polymorphisms in candidate genes on early vascular alterations in obese children. Archives of cardiovascular diseases. 2010;103(1):10-8.

260. Tounian P, Aggoun Y, Dubern B, Varille V, Guy-Grand B, Sidi D, et al. Presence of increased stiffness of the common carotid artery and endothelial dysfunction in severely obese children: a prospective study. Lancet. 2001;358(9291):1400-4.

261. Bonafini S, Giontella A, Tagetti A, Marcon D, Montagnana M, Benati M, et al. Author Correction: Markers of subclinical vascular damages associate with indices of adiposity and blood pressure in obese children. Hypertension research : official journal of the Japanese Society of Hypertension. 2019;42(7):1097.

262. Lo MH, Lin IC, Lu PC, Huang CF, Chien SJ, Hsieh KS, et al. Evaluation of endothelial dysfunction, endothelial plasma markers, and traditional metabolic parameters in children with adiposity. Journal of the Formosan Medical Association = Taiwan yi zhi. 2019;118(1 Pt 1):83-91.

263. Ciccone MM, Faienza MF, Altomare M, Nacci C, Montagnani M, Valente F, et al. Endothelial and Metabolic Function Interactions in Overweight/Obese Children. Journal of atherosclerosis and thrombosis. 2016;23(8):950-9.

264. Ryder JR, Dengel DR, Jacobs DR, Jr., Sinaiko AR, Kelly AS, Steinberger J. Relations among Adiposity and Insulin Resistance with Flow-Mediated Dilation, Carotid Intima-Media Thickness, and Arterial Stiffness in Children. The Journal of pediatrics. 2016;168:205-11.
265. Alpsoy S, Akyuz A, Akkoyun DC, Nalbantoglu B, Topcu B, Tulubas F, et al. Is Overweight

a Risk of Early Atherosclerosis in Childhood? Angiology. 2013.

266. Cote AT, Harris KC, Panagiotopoulos C, Sandor GG, Devlin AM. Childhood obesity and cardiovascular dysfunction. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2013;62(15):1309-19.

267. Jarvisalo MJ, Raitakari M, Toikka JO, Putto-Laurila A, Rontu R, Laine S, et al. Endothelial dysfunction and increased arterial intima-media thickness in children with type 1 diabetes. Circulation. 2004;109(14):1750-5.

268. de Jongh S, Lilien MR, Bakker HD, Hutten BA, Kastelein JJ, Stroes ES. Family history of cardiovascular events and endothelial dysfunction in children with familial hypercholesterolemia. Atherosclerosis. 2002;163(1):193-7.

269. Vlahos AP, Naka KK, Bechlioulis A, Theoharis P, Vakalis K, Moutzouri E, et al. Endothelial dysfunction, but not structural atherosclerosis, is evident early in children with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia. Pediatric cardiology. 2014;35(1):63-70.

270. Mietus-Snyder M, Malloy MJ. Endothelial dysfunction occurs in children with two genetic hyperlipidemias: improvement with antioxidant vitamin therapy. The Journal of pediatrics. 1998;133(1):35-40.

271. Bonnet D, Aggoun Y, Szezepanski I, Bellal N, Blanche S. Arterial stiffness and endothelial dysfunction in HIV-infected children. Aids. 2004;18(7):1037-41.

272. Deng YB, Li TL, Xiang HJ, Chang Q, Li CL. Impaired endothelial function in the brachial artery after Kawasaki disease and the effects of intravenous administration of vitamin C. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2003;22(1):34-9.

273. Jarvisalo MJ, Harmoinen A, Hakanen M, Paakkunainen U, Viikari J, Hartiala J, et al. Elevated serum C-reactive protein levels and early arterial changes in healthy children. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 2002;22(8):1323-8.

274. Vlahos AP, Theocharis P, Bechlioulis A, Naka KK, Vakalis K, Papamichael ND, et al. Changes in vascular function and structure in juvenile idiopathic arthritis. Arthritis care & research. 2011;63(12):1736-44.

275. Kari JA, Donald AE, Vallance DT, Bruckdorfer KR, Leone A, Mullen MJ, et al. Physiology and biochemistry of endothelial function in children with chronic renal failure. Kidney international. 1997;52(2):468-72.

276. Lilien MR, Stroes ES, Op't Roodt J, de Jongh S, Schroder CH, Koomans HA. Vascular function in children after renal transplantation. American journal of kidney diseases : the official journal of the National Kidney Foundation. 2003;41(3):684-91.

277. Kallio K, Jokinen E, Raitakari OT, Hamalainen M, Siltala M, Volanen I, et al. Tobacco smoke exposure is associated with attenuated endothelial function in 11-year-old healthy children. Circulation. 2007;115(25):3205-12.

278. Salonen R, Haapanen A, Salonen JT. Measurement of intima-media thickness of common carotid arteries with high-resolution B-mode ultrasonography: inter- and intra-observer variability. Ultrasound in medicine & biology. 1991;17(3):225-30.

279. Wendelhag I, Gustavsson T, Suurkula M, Berglund G, Wikstrand J. Ultrasound measurement of wall thickness in the carotid artery: fundamental principles and description of a computerized analysing system. Clinical physiology. 1991;11(6):565-77.

280. Selvin E, Coresh J, Golden SH, Boland LL, Brancati FL, Steffes MW, et al. Glycemic control, atherosclerosis, and risk factors for cardiovascular disease in individuals with diabetes: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. Diabetes care. 2005;28(8):1965-73.

281. Urbina EM, Srinivasan SR, Tang R, Bond MG, Kieltyka L, Berenson GS, et al. Impact of multiple coronary risk factors on the intima-media thickness of different segments of carotid artery in healthy young adults (The Bogalusa Heart Study). The American journal of cardiology. 2002;90(9):953-8.

282. Chambless LE, Heiss G, Folsom AR, Rosamond W, Szklo M, Sharrett AR, et al. Association of coronary heart disease incidence with carotid arterial wall thickness and major risk factors: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study, 1987-1993. American journal of epidemiology. 1997;146(6):483-94.

283. Hodis HN, Mack WJ, LaBree L, Selzer RH, Liu CR, Liu CH, et al. The role of carotid arterial intima-media thickness in predicting clinical coronary events. Annals of internal medicine. 1998;128(4):262-9.

284. Dijk JM, van der Graaf Y, Bots ML, Grobbee DE, Algra A. Carotid intima-media thickness and the risk of new vascular events in patients with manifest atherosclerotic disease: the SMART study. European heart journal. 2006;27(16):1971-8.

285. Bots ML, Evans GW, Riley WA, Grobbee DE. Carotid intima-media thickness measurements in intervention studies: design options, progression rates, and sample size considerations: a point of view. Stroke. 2003;34(12):2985-94.

286. Jarvisalo MJ, Jartti L, Nanto-Salonen K, Irjala K, Ronnemaa T, Hartiala JJ, et al. Increased aortic intima-media thickness: a marker of preclinical atherosclerosis in high-risk children. Circulation. 2001;104(24):2943-7.

287. Lande MB, Carson NL, Roy J, Meagher CC. Effects of childhood primary hypertension on carotid intima media thickness: a matched controlled study. Hypertension. 2006;48(1):40-4.
288. Koeijvoets KC, Rodenburg J, Hutten BA, Wiegman A, Kastelein JJ, Sijbrands EJ. Lowdensity lipoprotein receptor genotype and response to pravastatin in children with familial hypercholesterolemia: substudy of an intima-media thickness trial. Circulation.
2005;112(20):3168-73.

289. Meyer AA, Kundt G, Steiner M, Schuff-Werner P, Kienast W. Impaired flow-mediated vasodilation, carotid artery intima-media thickening, and elevated endothelial plasma markers in obese children: the impact of cardiovascular risk factors. Pediatrics. 2006;117(5):1560-7.

290. Dietz SM, Tacke CE, Gort J, Kuipers IM, de Groot E, Wiegman A, et al. Carotid Intima-Media Thickness in Patients With a History of Kawasaki Disease. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society. 2015;79(12):2682-7.

291. Tawadrous H, Kamran H, Salciccioli L, Schoeneman MJ, Lazar J. Evaluation of arterial structure and function in pediatric patients with end-stage renal disease on dialysis and after renal transplantation. Pediatric transplantation. 2012;16(5):480-5.

292. Mitsnefes MM, Kimball TR, Witt SA, Glascock BJ, Khoury PR, Daniels SR. Abnormal carotid artery structure and function in children and adolescents with successful renal transplantation. Circulation. 2004;110(1):97-101.

293. Mulvihill E, Ardoin S, Thompson SD, Zhou B, Yu GR, King E, et al. Elevated serum complement levels and higher gene copy number of complement C4B are associated with hypertension and effective response to statin therapy in childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Lupus science & medicine. 2019;6(1):e000333.

294. Koklu E, Kurtoglu S, Akcakus M, Yikilmaz A, Coskun A, Gunes T. Intima-media thickness of the abdominal aorta of neonate with different gestational ages. Journal of clinical ultrasound : JCU. 2007;35(9):491-7.

295. Akazawa Y, Hachiya A, Yamazaki S, Kawasaki Y, Nakamura C, Takeuchi Y, et al. Cardiovascular Remodeling and Dysfunction Across a Range of Growth Restriction Severity in Small for Gestational Age Infants- Implications for Fetal Programming. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society. 2016;80(10):2212-20.

296. Gunes T, Koklu E, Yikilmaz A, Ozturk MA, Akcakus M, Kurtoglu S, et al. Influence of maternal smoking on neonatal aortic intima-media thickness, serum IGF-I and IGFBP-3 levels. European journal of pediatrics. 2007;166(10):1039-44.

297. Bramwell JC HA. The velocity of the pulse wave in man. Proc R Soc Lond B. 1922(93

):298-306.

298. London GM, Guerin AP. Influence of arterial pulse and reflected waves on blood pressure and cardiac function. American heart journal. 1999;138(3 Pt 2):220-4.

299. van Popele NM, Grobbee DE, Bots ML, Asmar R, Topouchian J, Reneman RS, et al. Association between arterial stiffness and atherosclerosis: the Rotterdam Study. Stroke. 2001;32(2):454-60.

300. Blacher J, Asmar R, Djane S, London GM, Safar ME. Aortic pulse wave velocity as a marker of cardiovascular risk in hypertensive patients. Hypertension. 1999;33(5):1111-7.

301. Lehmann ED, Gosling RG, Sonksen PH. Arterial wall compliance in diabetes. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 1992;9(2):114-9.

302. London GM, Marchais SJ, Safar ME, Genest AF, Guerin AP, Metivier F, et al. Aortic and large artery compliance in end-stage renal failure. Kidney international. 1990;37(1):137-42.

303. Lehmann ED, Watts GF, Gosling RG. Aortic distensibility and hypercholesterolaemia. Lancet. 1992;340(8828):1171-2.

304. Vaitkevicius PV, Fleg JL, Engel JH, O'Connor FC, Wright JG, Lakatta LE, et al. Effects of age and aerobic capacity on arterial stiffness in healthy adults. Circulation. 1993;88(4 Pt 1):1456-62.

305. Stella A, Gessaroli M, Cifiello BI, Salardi S, Reggiani A, Cacciari E, et al. Elastic modulus in young diabetic patients (ultrasound measurements of pulse wave velocity). Angiology. 1984;35(11):729-34.

306. Woolam GL, Schnur PL, Vallbona C, Hoff HE. The pulse wave velocity as an early indicator of atherosclerosis in diabetic subjects. Circulation. 1962;25:533-9.

307. Cheung YF, Yung TC, Tam SC, Ho MH, Chau AK. Novel and traditional cardiovascular risk factors in children after Kawasaki disease: implications for premature atherosclerosis. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2004;43(1):120-4.

308. Haller MJ, Samyn M, Nichols WW, Brusko T, Wasserfall C, Schwartz RF, et al. Radial artery tonometry demonstrates arterial stiffness in children with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes care. 2004;27(12):2911-7.

309. Alberti KG, Zimmet P, Shaw J. Metabolic syndrome--a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. Diabetic medicine : a journal of the British Diabetic Association. 2006;23(5):469-80.

310. Onishi Y, Hayashi T, Sato KK, Ogihara T, Kuzuya N, Anai M, et al. Fasting tests of insulin secretion and sensitivity predict future prediabetes in Japanese with normal glucose tolerance. Journal of diabetes investigation. 2010;1(5):191-5.

311. Matthews DR, Hosker JP, Rudenski AS, Naylor BA, Treacher DF, Turner RC. Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man. Diabetologia. 1985;28(7):412-9.

312. Corretti MC, Anderson TJ, Benjamin EJ, Celermajer D, Charbonneau F, Creager MA, et al. Guidelines for the ultrasound assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. Journal of the American College of Cardiology. 2002;39(2):257-65.

313. Mitchell GF, Parise H, Vita JA, Larson MG, Warner E, Keaney JF, Jr., et al. Local shear stress and brachial artery flow-mediated dilation: the Framingham Heart Study. Hypertension. 2004;44(2):134-9.

314. Pyke KE, Dwyer EM, Tschakovsky ME. Impact of controlling shear rate on flowmediated dilation responses in the brachial artery of humans. Journal of applied physiology. 2004;97(2):499-508.

315. Pyke KE, Tschakovsky ME. Peak vs. total reactive hyperemia: which determines the magnitude of flow-mediated dilation? Journal of applied physiology. 2007;102(4):1510-9.
316. Clinic M.

317. Koot BG, van der Baan-Slootweg OH, Bohte AE, Nederveen AJ, van Werven JR, Tamminga-Smeulders CL, et al. Accuracy of prediction scores and novel biomarkers for predicting nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in obese children. Obesity. 2013;21(3):583-90.

318. Norata GD, Raselli S, Grigore L, Garlaschelli K, Dozio E, Magni P, et al. Leptin:adiponectin ratio is an independent predictor of intima media thickness of the common carotid artery. Stroke. 2007;38(10):2844-6.

319. Satoh N, Naruse M, Usui T, Tagami T, Suganami T, Yamada K, et al. Leptin-toadiponectin ratio as a potential atherogenic index in obese type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes care. 2004;27(10):2488-90. 320. Leyva F, Godsland IF, Ghatei M, Proudler AJ, Aldis S, Walton C, et al. Hyperleptinemia as a component of a metabolic syndrome of cardiovascular risk. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 1998;18(6):928-33.

321. Szmitko PE, Teoh H, Stewart DJ, Verma S. Adiponectin and cardiovascular disease: state of the art? American journal of physiology Heart and circulatory physiology. 2007;292(4):H1655-63.

322. Guzik TJ, Mangalat D, Korbut R. Adipocytokines - novel link between inflammation and vascular function? Journal of physiology and pharmacology : an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society. 2006;57(4):505-28.

323. Ouchi N, Kihara S, Arita Y, Maeda K, Kuriyama H, Okamoto Y, et al. Novel modulator for endothelial adhesion molecules: adipocyte-derived plasma protein adiponectin. Circulation. 1999;100(25):2473-6.

324. Ruderman N, Chisholm D, Pi-Sunyer X, Schneider S. The metabolically obese, normal-weight individual revisited. Diabetes. 1998;47(5):699-713.

325. Ruderman NB, Berchtold P, Schneider S. Obesity-associated disorders in normalweight individuals: some speculations. Int J Obes. 1982;6 Suppl 1:151-7.

326. Ferrannini E, Haffner SM, Mitchell BD, Stern MP. Hyperinsulinaemia: the key feature of a cardiovascular and metabolic syndrome. Diabetologia. 1991;34(6):416-22.

327. Ferrannini E, Natali A, Bell P, Cavallo-Perin P, Lalic N, Mingrone G. Insulin resistance and hypersecretion in obesity. European Group for the Study of Insulin Resistance (EGIR). The Journal of clinical investigation. 1997;100(5):1166-73.

328. Karelis AD, St-Pierre DH, Conus F, Rabasa-Lhoret R, Poehlman ET. Metabolic and body composition factors in subgroups of obesity: what do we know? The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism. 2004;89(6):2569-75.

329. Jimenez-Pavon D, Konstabel K, Bergman P, Ahrens W, Pohlabeln H, Hadjigeorgiou C, et al. Physical activity and clustered cardiovascular disease risk factors in young children: a cross-sectional study (the IDEFICS study). BMC medicine. 2013;11:172.

330. Andersen LB, Harro M, Sardinha LB, Froberg K, Ekelund U, Brage S, et al. Physical activity and clustered cardiovascular risk in children: a cross-sectional study (The European Youth Heart Study). Lancet. 2006;368(9532):299-304.

331. Bao W, Srinivasan SR, Wattigney WA, Berenson GS. Persistence of multiple cardiovascular risk clustering related to syndrome X from childhood to young adulthood. The Bogalusa Heart Study. Archives of internal medicine. 1994;154(16):1842-7.

332. Eisenmann JC, Laurson KR, DuBose KD, Smith BK, Donnelly JE. Construct validity of a continuous metabolic syndrome score in children. Diabetology & metabolic syndrome. 2010;2:8.

333. Kelly AS, Steinberger J, Jacobs DR, Hong CP, Moran A, Sinaiko AR. Predicting cardiovascular risk in young adulthood from the metabolic syndrome, its component risk factors, and a cluster score in childhood. International journal of pediatric obesity : IJPO : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity. 2011;6(2-2):e283-9.

334. McLaughlin T, Allison G, Abbasi F, Lamendola C, Reaven G. Prevalence of insulin resistance and associated cardiovascular disease risk factors among normal weight, and obeco individuals. Metabolism: clinical and experimental, 2004;E2(4):495.

overweight, and obese individuals. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2004;53(4):495-9. 335. Poulimeneas D, Grammatikopoulou MG, Dimitrakopoulos L, Kotsias E, Gerothanasi D, Kiranas ER, et al. Regional differences in the prevalence of underweight, overweight and obesity among 13-year-old adolescents in Greece. International journal of pediatrics & adolescent medicine. 2016;3(4):153-61. 336. McQueen MJ, Hawken S, Wang X, Ounpuu S, Sniderman A, Probstfield J, et al. Lipids, lipoproteins, and apolipoproteins as risk markers of myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): a case-control study. Lancet. 2008;372(9634):224-33.

337. Thompson A, Danesh J. Associations between apolipoprotein B, apolipoprotein AI, the apolipoprotein B/AI ratio and coronary heart disease: a literature-based meta-analysis of prospective studies. Journal of internal medicine. 2006;259(5):481-92.

338. Domouzoglou EM, Fisher FM, Astapova I, Fox EC, Kharitonenkov A, Flier JS, et al. Fibroblast growth factor 21 and thyroid hormone show mutual regulatory dependency but have independent actions in vivo. Endocrinology. 2014;155(5):2031-40.

339. Papoutsakis C, Yannakoulia M, Ntalla I, Dedoussis GV. Metabolic syndrome in a Mediterranean pediatric cohort: prevalence using International Diabetes Federation-derived criteria and associations with adiponectin and leptin. Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2012;61(2):140-5.

340. Ghasemi A, Asgari S, Hadaegh F, Kheirandish M, Azimzadeh I, Azizi F, et al. New modified Friedewald formulae for estimating low-density lipoprotein cholesterol according to triglyceride levels: extraction and validation. Endocrine. 2018;62(2):404-11.

Ong KL, Hui N, Januszewski AS, Kaakoush NO, Xu A, Fayyad R, et al. High plasma FGF21 levels predicts major cardiovascular events in patients treated with atorvastatin (from the Treating to New Targets [TNT] Study). Metabolism: clinical and experimental. 2019;93:93-9.
Dubey L, Hesong Z. Role of leptin in atherogenesis. Experimental and clinical cardiology. 2006;11(4):269-75.

343. Lago R, Gomez R, Lago F, Gomez-Reino J, Gualillo O. Leptin beyond body weight regulation--current concepts concerning its role in immune function and inflammation. Cellular immunology. 2008;252(1-2):139-45.

344. Madeira I, Bordallo MA, Rodrigues NC, Carvalho C, Gazolla F, Collett-Solberg P, et al. Leptin as a predictor of metabolic syndrome in prepubertal children. Archives of endocrinology and metabolism. 2017;61(1):7-13.

345. Yoshinaga M, Sameshima K, Tanaka Y, Wada A, Hashiguchi J, Tahara H, et al. Adipokines and the prediction of the accumulation of cardiovascular risk factors or the presence of metabolic syndrome in elementary school children. Circulation journal : official journal of the Japanese Circulation Society. 2008;72(11):1874-8.

346. Ahrens W, Bammann K, Siani A, Buchecker K, De Henauw S, Iacoviello L, et al. The IDEFICS cohort: design, characteristics and participation in the baseline survey. International journal of obesity. 2011;35 Suppl 1:S3-15.

347. Nappo A, Gonzalez-Gil EM, Ahrens W, Bammann K, Michels N, Moreno LA, et al. Analysis of the association of leptin and adiponectin concentrations with metabolic syndrome in children: Results from the IDEFICS study. Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD. 2017;27(6):543-51.

348. Fantuzzi G, Mazzone T. Adipose tissue and atherosclerosis: exploring the connection. Arteriosclerosis, thrombosis, and vascular biology. 2007;27(5):996-1003.


